
 
 

 

Phone: (386)232-8060  
Craig@TownOfMarineland.org 

176 Marina Dr 
Marineland, FL 32080 

THERE WILL BE A REGULAR MEETING OF THE MARINELAND TOWN COMMISSION ON 
THURSDAY, APRIL 15, 2021 AT 6:00PM IN THE COASTAL POLICY CENTER IN THE MAIN 

CONFERENCE ROOM. 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GUIDELINES FROM THE CENTER FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND 
PREVENTION REGARDING THE ONGOING COVID-19 PANDEMIC, PLEASE WEAR A MASK 

AND PRACTICE PHYSICAL DISTANCING AT ALL TIMES WHILE INSIDE THE BUILDING. 
 
Agenda 
1. Call to order: Pledge of Allegiance 
2. Additions, Deletions and Modifications to the Agenda 
3. Announcements by the Mayor 
4. Recognitions, Proclamations and Presentations 

i. None 
5. Community Outreach: This thirty-minute time period has been allocated for public 
comment on any consent agenda item or topic not on the agenda. Each speaker will be 
allowed up to three (3) minutes to address the Commission. Speakers should approach the 
podium, identify themselves and direct comments to the Chair. 
6. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes 
i. March 18, 2021 Minutes 
ii. March 24, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 

b. Recurring FPL Bills 
i. Invoice 2459 
ii. Invoice 6138 
iii. Invoice 6527 

c. Town Staff Invoices 
i. Fleet Inv # 2387 
ii. Fleet Inv # 2388 
iii. Storehouse Treasures Inv # 7021 
iv. Suzanne Dixon Invoice #1 
v. Suzanne Dixon Invoice #2 
vi. Suzanne Dixon Invoice # 3 

d. Intercoastal Bank Loan#40000792 
e. CRA Invoice # 454 

  



 

 

2 
 
 

7. General Business 
a. Town Financial Director 

i. Town Financial Reports 
ii. Marina Financial Reports 

8. Consideration of a Resolution of the Town of Marineland Commission: Adopting 
the Local Mitigation Strategy Plan 

a. Staff Report 
b. FL DEM Letter 1 
c. FL DEM Letter 2 
d. LMS Plan Review 
e. Flagler County LMS 2016 

9. Consideration of FPL Street Light Shut Off 
a. Requested by Town Financial Planner due to upcoming Turtle Nesting Season 

10.  Special Event – Bike MS 
a. Staff Report 
b. Application 
c. Site Plan 
d. Safety Plan 

11. Additional Reports & Comments 
a. Town Manager Report/Comments 

i. Weddings 
b. Town Planner Report/Comments 

i. Selection of possible Comp Plan Special Meeting Date 
c. Town Attorney Report/Comment 
d. Town Clerk Report/Comment 
e. Town Marina Manager Report/Comments 

12. Public Comment: This time has been allocated for public comment on any item or topic 
not on the agenda. Each speaker will be allowed up to three (3) minutes to address the 
Commission. Speakers should approach the podium, identify themselves and direct 
comments to the Chair. 

13. Commissioners Reports & Comments 
14. Next Town Meeting May 20, 2021 6:00 pm 
15. Adjournment 

 
Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes states that if a person decides to appeal any decision made by a board 
agency, or commission with respect to any matter considered at a meeting or hearing, he or she will need 
a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he may need to ensure that a verbatim record of 
the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to 

be based. 
 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in this 
meeting should contact the (386) 232 - 8060 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 



 
 

 

Phone: (386)232-8060  
Craig@TownOfMarineland.org 

176 Marina Dr 
Marineland, FL 32080 

Call to order: 06:03 pm 
Ajornment: 08:26 pm 
Attendance: C. Lenniger, G. Inks, A. TenBroeck, L. Montgomery, S. Dixon, J. Fleet, T. 
Webley (Mobius marine), Members of the public 
 
1. Call to order: Pledge of Allegiance- Meeting called to order at 6:03 pm. 
2. Additions, Deletions and Modifications to the Agenda 

a. Addition of proclamation (4ii) to the agenda. 
b. Motion to move agenda items 7c and 7e to follow agenda item 5  

(G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck), Approved unanimously 
3. Announcements by the Mayor- None heard. 
4. Recognitions, Proclamations and Presentations 

i. Water Conservation Month 
Read into record on 3/18/2021 at 06:07 pm by G. Inks. 
Motion to Approve 
(A. TenBroeck, 2nd G. Inks) Approved unanimously 

ii. Suzanne Dixon Day 
Read into record 3/18/2021 at 06:09 pm by C. Lenniger. 
Motion to Approve 
(A. TenBroeck, G. Inks) Approved unanimously 

 
5. Community Outreach: None Heard. 

7. General Business 
a. River to Sea trail race 

Motion to amend the motion to table the permit hearing for the River to Sea 
trail race until April and allow the hearing to be conducted at the March regular 
commission meeting 

(A. TenBroeck, 2nd G. Inks) Approved unanimously 
Dawn Lisenby, race coordinator, presented about the race and fielded 
questions about the permit application and race details. 



 

 

2 
 
 

*Mayor Lenniger reminded Mrs. Lisenby that she needs to rent the pavilion 
through the Flagler county website. 

Motion to approve the River to Sea trail race special event permit 
(G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

 
e. Turtle Fest- Beth Libert, Flagler turtle patrol, presented on the Turtle Fest event 
and permit application details. 

Motion to approve the Turtle Fest special event permit 
 (G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

6. Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Minutes 

i. February 18, 2021 Minutes 
b. Recurring FPL Bills 
c. Town Staff Invoices 
d. Center for Sustainable Agriculture Excellence and Conservation 

Motion to approve consent agenda 
 (A. TenBroeck, 2nd G. Inks) 

7. General Business 
a. Town Financial Director 

i. Town Financial Reports- Nothing out of the ordinary. The Town is in 
good financial standings. 

ii. Marina Financial Reports- Nothing out of the ordinary. The marina is in 
good financial standings. 

iii. FPL follow-up- The monthly metered rate will not increase by canceling 
service and the reactivation fee has increased from $12 to $14.80. 

Motion to approve the financial director’s report 
 (G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

b. Town Comprehensive Plan Discussion (requested by J. Fleet)- Janice Fleet, 
Town planner, presented to the Town on the current status of the 
comprehensive plan update. She asked the commission to be thinking 
about how they want to handle the Town’s flood zones and coastal high 

hazard zones. A workshop date will be set at the regular commission 
meeting in April. 

8. Additional Reports & Comments 
b. Town Planner Report/Comments 

i. Marineland attraction expansion- Mrs. Fleet is working with the 
attraction to ensure the meet all requirements of their permit approval. 



 

 

3 
 
 

ii. Food truck- Mrs. Fleet does not have all of the information needed for 
the food truck’s conditional use permit. She will have a report for the 

commission at the next meeting. 
*Per the Town of Marineland code, all uses that are not expressly 
permitted require a conditional use permit. 
All vendors are required to obtain an LBTR. 

 
c. River to Sea Trail Race- Moved to after agenda item 5. 
d. 4th Annual King of Clubs Contest- Susanne will contact the contest 

coordinators about getting LBTR’s from their vendors 
Motion to approve the 4th annual King of Clubs special event permit 
 (G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

e. Turtle Fest- Moved to after agenda item 5. 
8. Additional Reports & Comments 

a. Town Manager Report/Comments 
i. Sun & Sea Weddings- the company will pay its fees online. 
ii. Huddleston/Brignoni Wedding (July 4th)- Fee was received. 
iii. Foutz/Sellars Wedding (May 15th)- Mrs. Dixon will remind them that they 

must reserve the pavilion through the Flagler county website to ensure 
it is available for their use. 

iv. Heffelfinger/ Griffin- Fee was received. 
Motion to approve the above wedding permits 
 (G. inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

v. Bike MS- The Bike MS coordinators need a W-9 from the Town. Mrs. 
Montgomery has already sent it to them. 

b. Town Planner Report/Comments- Moved up to be in conjunction with 
Agenda item 7 b. 

c. Town Attorney Report/Comment- Nothing to report. 
d. Town Clerk Report/Comment- The clerk, with the help of the Mayor, will begin 

cataloguing the Town records at the Flagler county records archives. 
e. Town Marina Manager Report/Comments- None heard. 

9. Public Comment:  
a. Felicia Cook, GM Marineland Dolphin Adventure (MDA), she reiterated that MDA 

supports the Town’s water conservation month proclamation. She also wanted to 

advise the commission that the attraction is reestablishing their parking facilities and 
invites anyone who wants a century or aloe plant to come get them, as they are 
being removed from MDA premises. 

10. Commissioners Reports & Comments 



 

 

4 
 
 

a. A. TenBroeck- Commissioner TenBroeck asked the Mayor to look into what, if any, 
stimulus funds for which the Town may be eligible. 
* The Mayor will look into potential stimulus money. He is also looking into 
waste water grants and funds.  
Commissioner TenBroeck is worried about potential poaching of parakeets 
and deer in the Town. 
* All present are asked to call the sheriff immediately if any poaching (or 
other illegal activity) is suspected. 

b. G. Inks- Commissioner Inks congratulated Mrs. Dixon and thanked her for her years in 
service of the Town. 

c. C. Lenniger- Mayor Lenniger informed the Town that Scenic A1A just received 
national byway recognition. He will be working with them to bring some of their 
celebratory events to Marineland. They are also starting a carry-in, carry-out pilot 
program for trash and Marineland was selected as the test site. Starting May 1st, the 
Town will no longer have trash cans and patrons will be asked to take their trash with 
them. Flagler county will monitor the effectiveness of the program. 

11. Special Meeting March 24, 2021 5:30 pm 
12. Next Town Meeting April 15, 2021 6:00 pm 
13. Adjournment- 8:26 pm 

Motion to adjourn 
 (G. Inks, 2nd A. TenBroeck) Approved unanimously 

 
Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes states that if a person decides to appeal any decision 
made by a board agency, or commission with respect to any matter considered at a 
meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such 
purpose, he may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 
which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be 
based. 
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to 
participate in this meeting should contact the (386) 232 - 8060 at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 



 
 

 

Phone: (386)232-8060  
Craig@TownOfMarineland.org 

176 Marina Dr 
Marineland, FL 32080 

Call to order: 05:30 pm 
Adjournment: 05:57 pm 
 
Attendance: C. Lenniger, G. Inks, A. TenBroeck, G. Hanson, B. Bosch, S. Dixon, C. Kelley, L. 
Montegomery, J. Fleet, B. Mellin, members of the public 

 
Minutes 

1. Call to order: Pledge of Allegiance 
2. General Business 

a. Review of Conditional Use Permit Application 
i. Ragga Surf Café: (J. Fleet)- Mrs. Fleet gave her staff report on the 

conditional use permit application from Ragga Surf Café. All fees have 
been received, the property owner approves, and Mrs. Dixon will send 
the applicants LBTR information. 

Mrs. Fleets recommends approval of the permit with the following 
conditions: 
The approval is for the application submitted, which include:  
1. 1 Food truck, 1 sales vehicle, and 7 picnic tables.  
2. A revised site plan needs to be submitted indicating the location of 
the shade sails near the picnic tables and the location of the sale 
vehicle. 
 3. Any expansion of the project site, including the number of food 
trucks, sales vehicles or picnic tables would require review and approval 
by the Commission.  
4. The applicant shall be responsible for removal of trash on the site at 
the end of each day.  
5. Any signs on the property shall be removed from the site at the end of 
each day. 
6. No loud noises or music shall be played at the site.  



 

 

2 
 
 

7. The applicant shall assure the parking is limited to the parking area 
identified on the site plan and does not obstruct traffic on Oceanshore 
Boulevard (A1A).  
8. No construction of temporary or permanent structures is allowed on 
the site.  
9. The applicant shall obtain a business license for Ragga Surf Cafe and 
for Raggamuffin Shop.  
10. The applicant shall obtain and comply with all applicable State of 
Florida and Flagler County permits related the Raga Surf Cafe and 
Raggamuffin Shop.  
11. If any of the approved conditions are not complied with, the Town 
Commission can revoke the approval and require any operation on the 
site to cease immediately. 
Mrs. Fleet answered questions on her recommendations. The applicants 
answered questions on generator noise mitigation. 

 *Commissioner TenBroeck disclosed that the Center for Sustainable Agricultural 
Excellence and Conservation, for which she is the president, does the property 
maintenance.  

   Motion to Approve with the following conditions: 
1. 1 Food truck, 1 sales vehicle, and 7 picnic tables.  
2. A revised site plan needs to be submitted indicating the location of the shade sails 

near the picnic tables and the location of the sale vehicle. 
 3. Any expansion of the project site, including the number of food trucks, sales vehicles 

or picnic tables would require review and approval by the Commission.  
4. The applicant shall be responsible for removal of trash on the site at the end of each 

day.  
5. Any signs on the property shall be removed from the site at the end of each day. 
6. No loud noises or music shall be played at the site.  
7. The applicant shall assure the parking is limited to the parking area identified on the 

site plan and does not obstruct traffic on Oceanshore Boulevard (A1A).  
8. No construction of temporary or permanent structures is allowed on the site.  
9. The applicant shall obtain a business license for Ragga Surf Cafe and for 

Raggamuffin Shop.  
10. The applicant shall obtain and comply with all applicable State of Florida and 

Flagler County permits related the Raga Surf Cafe and Raggamuffin Shop.  



 

 

3 
 
 

11. If any of the approved conditions are not complied with, the Town Commission can 
revoke the approval and require any operation on the site to cease immediately. 

Approved (G. Inks, 2nd C. Lenniger) approved unanimously 
 
3. Next Town Meeting April 15, 2021 6:00 pm 
4. Adjournment 

 
Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes states that if a person decides to appeal any decision 
made by a board agency, or commission with respect to any matter considered at a 
meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such 
purpose, he may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 
which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be 
based. 
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to 
participate in this meeting should contact the (386) 232 - 8060 at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 



CURRENT BILL

$709.75
TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE

Apr 20, 2021
NEW CHARGES DUE BY

BILL SUMMARY
Amount of your last bill 709.75
Payments received -709.75

Balance before new charges 0.00

Total new charges 709.75

Total amount you owe $709.75

(See page 2 for bill details.)

FPL has asked the Florida Public Service Commission for a rate adjustment to 
fuel charges. Learn more: FPL.com/Rates.

FPL.com Page 1

Electric Bill Statement
For: Feb 26, 2021 to Mar 30, 2021 (32 days)
Statement Date: Mar 30, 2021
Account Number: 19454-02459
Service Address:

9507 OCEANSHORE BLVD # SL
SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32084

Customer Service:
Outside Florida:

1-800-375-2434
1-800-226-3545

Report Power Outages:
Hearing/Speech Impaired:

1-800-4OUTAGE (468-8243)
711 (Relay Service)

TOWN OF MARINELAND,
Here's what you owe for this billing period.

E001

19454-02459 $709.75 Apr 20, 2021 $
ACCOUNT NUMBER TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE NEW CHARGES DUE BY AMOUNT ENCLOSED

Make check payable to FPL
in U.S. funds and mail along with
this coupon to:

FPL
GENERAL MAIL FACILITY
MIAMI FL 33188-0001

/   27            1320194540245945790700000

The amount enclosed includes the 
following donation:
FPL Care To Share:   ______            

TOWN OF MARINELAND
9507 N OCEAN SHORE BLVD
ST AUGUSTINE FL 32080-8610

Visit FPL.com/PayBill
for ways to pay.

ENERGY USAGE HISTORY 
3,350 kWh

2,680 kWh

2,010 kWh

1,340 kWh

670 kWh

0 kWh             

 M A M J J A S O N D J F M
2020 2021

KEEP IN MIND
· Payment received after June 17, 2021 is considered LATE; a late payment 

charge of 1% will apply.
· Charges and energy usage are based on the facilities contracted. Facility, 

energy and fuel costs are available upon request.

https://www.fpl.com/Rates
https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://FPL.com/PayBill


E001Customer Name: Account Number: FPL.com Page 2
TOWN OF MARINELAND 19454-02459

We’re here to help 
If you’re experiencing hardship as a result of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and need help with your bill, there are resources available. 

Learn more  › 

Help your neighbors 
Contribute to Care to Share and help a neighbor in need during this 
challenging time. 

Donate today  › 

When you pay by check, you authorize FPL to process your payment electronically or as a draft. If your payment is processed electronically, 
your checking account may be debited on the same day we receive the check and your check will not be returned with your checking account 
statement. FPL does not agree to any restrictions, conditions or endorsements placed on any bill statement or payments such as check, money 
order or other forms of payment. We will process the payment as if these restrictions or conditions do not exist.

BILL DETAILS

Amount of your last bill 709.75
Payment received - Thank you −709.75
Balance before new charges $0.00

New Charges
Rate: SL-1 STREET LIGHTING SERVICE 

Electric service amount ** 666.01

Gross receipts tax 4.30
Franchise charge 39.44
Taxes and charges 43.74

Total new charges $709.75

Total amount you owe $709.75

** Your electric service amount includes the following charges:

Non-fuel energy charge:
$0.031940 per kWh

Fuel charge: $0.023570 per kWh

METER SUMMARY
Next bill date Apr 28, 2021.
Usage Type Usage
Total kWh used 3024

ENERGY USAGE COMPARISON
This Month Last Month Last Year

Service to Mar 30, 2021 Feb 26, 2021 Mar 27, 2020
kWh Used 3024 3024 3024
Service days 32 29 29
kWh/day 95 104 104
Amount $709.75 $709.75 $697.67

https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050


Component Code Watts Lumens Owner/ 
Maint * Quantity Rate/Unit kWh Used Amount

HPS0400 400 50000 F 18 3,024
Energy 5.140000 92.52
Non-energy

Fixtures 6.640000 119.52
Maintenance 2.580000 46.44

PMC0001 18
Non-energy

Fixtures 7.160000 128.88

UCNP 4,194
Non-energy

Maintenance 0.040510 169.90

UCUP 338
Non-energy

Maintenance 0.098970 33.45

For: 02-26-2021 to 03-30-2021 (32 days)
kWh/Day: 95
Service Address:

9507 OCEANSHORE BLVD # SL
SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32084

FPL.com Page 1Customer Name:
TOWN OF MARINELAND 

Detail of Rate Schedule Charges for Street Lights

            
TOWN OF MARINELAND
9507 N OCEAN SHORE BLVD
ST AUGUSTINE FL 32080-8610

Account Number:
19454-02459

* F - FPL OWNS & MAINTAINS   E - CUSTOMER OWNS & MAINTAINS   R - CUSTOMER OWNS, FPL RELAMPS
     H - FPL OWNS & MAINTAINS FIXTURE, CUST OWNS OTHER

ESLA

https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc


Customer Name:
TOWN OF MARINELAND 

Component Code Watts Lumens Owner/ 
Maint * Quantity Rate/Unit kWh Used Amount

Energy sub total 92.52
Non-energy sub total 498.19

Sub total 3,024 590.71

   Energy conservation cost recovery 1.27
Capacity payment recovery charge 0.48

Environmental cost recovery charge 0.82

Storm protection recovery charge 1.45
Fuel charge 71.28

Electric service amount 666.01
Gross receipts tax incr 4.30

Franchise charge 39.44

Total 3,024 709.75

Account Number:
19454-02459

For: 02-26-2021 to 03-30-2021 (32 days)
kWh/Day: 95
Service Address:

9507 OCEANSHORE BLVD # SL
SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32084

FPL.com Page 2

* F - FPL OWNS & MAINTAINS   E - CUSTOMER OWNS & MAINTAINS   R - CUSTOMER OWNS, FPL RELAMPS
     H - FPL OWNS & MAINTAINS FIXTURE, CUST OWNS OTHER

ESLA

https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc


CURRENT BILL

$396.98
TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE

Apr 20, 2021
NEW CHARGES DUE BY

BILL SUMMARY
Amount of your last bill 378.46
Payments received -378.46

Balance before new charges 0.00

Total new charges 396.98

Total amount you owe $396.98

(See page 2 for bill details.)

FPL has asked the Florida Public Service Commission for a rate adjustment to 
fuel charges. Learn more: FPL.com/Rates.

FPL.com Page 1

Electric Bill Statement
For: Feb 26, 2021 to Mar 30, 2021 (32 days)
Statement Date: Mar 30, 2021
Account Number: 69626-26138
Service Address:

101 TOLSTOY LN # MRNLD DOCK
SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32080

Customer Service:
Outside Florida:

1-800-375-2434
1-800-226-3545

Report Power Outages:
Hearing/Speech Impaired:

1-800-4OUTAGE (468-8243)
711 (Relay Service)

TOWN OF MARINELAND,
Here's what you owe for this billing period.

E001

69626-26138 $396.98 Apr 20, 2021 $
ACCOUNT NUMBER TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE NEW CHARGES DUE BY AMOUNT ENCLOSED

Make check payable to FPL
in U.S. funds and mail along with
this coupon to:

FPL
GENERAL MAIL FACILITY
MIAMI FL 33188-0001

/   27            1320696262613848969300000

The amount enclosed includes the 
following donation:
FPL Care To Share:   ______            

TOWN OF MARINELAND
ATTN TOWN OF MARINELAND
9507 N OCEAN SHORE BLVD
ST AUGUSTINE FL 32080-8610

Visit FPL.com/PayBill
for ways to pay.

ENERGY USAGE HISTORY 
7,150 kWh

5,720 kWh

4,290 kWh

2,860 kWh

1,430 kWh

0 kWh             

 M A M J J A S O N D J F M
2020 2021

KEEP IN MIND
· Payment received after June 17, 2021 is considered LATE; a late payment 

charge of 1% will apply.

https://www.fpl.com/Rates
https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://FPL.com/PayBill


E001Customer Name: Account Number: FPL.com Page 2
TOWN OF MARINELAND 69626-26138

We’re here to help 
If you’re experiencing hardship as a result of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and need help with your bill, there are resources available. 

Learn more  › 

Help your neighbors 
Contribute to Care to Share and help a neighbor in need during this 
challenging time. 

Donate today  › 

When you pay by check, you authorize FPL to process your payment electronically or as a draft. If your payment is processed electronically, 
your checking account may be debited on the same day we receive the check and your check will not be returned with your checking account 
statement. FPL does not agree to any restrictions, conditions or endorsements placed on any bill statement or payments such as check, money 
order or other forms of payment. We will process the payment as if these restrictions or conditions do not exist.

BILL DETAILS

Amount of your last bill 378.46
Payment received - Thank you −378.46
Balance before new charges $0.00

New Charges
Rate: GSD-1 GENERAL SERVICE DEMAND 
Customer charge: $26.48
Non-fuel: ($0.023540 per kWh) $72.03
Fuel: ($0.024490 per kWh) $74.94
Demand: ($11.30 per KW) $192.10

Electric service amount 365.55

Gross receipts tax 9.37
Franchise charge 22.06
Taxes and charges 31.43

Total new charges $396.98

Total amount you owe $396.98

METER SUMMARY
Meter reading - Meter KU32298. Next meter reading Apr 28, 2021.
Usage Type Current - Previous x Const = Usage
kWh used 06154 06103 60 3060
Demand KW .29 60.00 17

ENERGY USAGE COMPARISON
This Month Last Month Last Year

Service to Mar 30, 2021 Feb 26, 2021 Mar 27, 2020
kWh Used 3060 2940 3660
Service days 32 29 29
kWh/day 95 101 126
Amount $396.98 $378.46 $440.03

https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050


CURRENT BILL

$780.20
TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE

Apr 20, 2021
NEW CHARGES DUE BY

BILL SUMMARY
Amount of your last bill 760.92
Payments received -760.92

Balance before new charges 0.00

Total new charges 780.20

Total amount you owe $780.20

(See page 2 for bill details.)

FPL has asked the Florida Public Service Commission for a rate adjustment to 
fuel charges. Learn more: FPL.com/Rates.

FPL.com Page 1

Electric Bill Statement
For: Feb 26, 2021 to Mar 30, 2021 (32 days)
Statement Date: Mar 30, 2021
Account Number: 41225-56527
Service Address:

101 TOLSTOY LN
SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32080

Customer Service:
Outside Florida:

1-800-375-2434
1-800-226-3545

Report Power Outages:
Hearing/Speech Impaired:

1-800-4OUTAGE (468-8243)
711 (Relay Service)

TOWN OF MARINELAND,
Here's what you owe for this billing period.

E001

41225-56527 $780.20 Apr 20, 2021 $
ACCOUNT NUMBER TOTAL AMOUNT YOU OWE NEW CHARGES DUE BY AMOUNT ENCLOSED

Make check payable to FPL
in U.S. funds and mail along with
this coupon to:

FPL
GENERAL MAIL FACILITY
MIAMI FL 33188-0001

/   27            1320412255652710208700000

The amount enclosed includes the 
following donation:
FPL Care To Share:   ______            

TOWN OF MARINELAND
ATTN TOWN OF MARINELAND
9507 N OCEAN SHORE BLVD
ST AUGUSTINE FL 32080-8610

Visit FPL.com/PayBill
for ways to pay.

ENERGY USAGE HISTORY 
15,350 kWh

12,280 kWh

9,210 kWh

6,140 kWh

3,070 kWh

0 kWh             

 M A M J J A S O N D J F M
2020 2021

KEEP IN MIND
· Payment received after June 17, 2021 is considered LATE; a late payment 

charge of 1% will apply.

https://www.fpl.com/Rates
https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://FPL.com/PayBill


E001Customer Name: Account Number: FPL.com Page 2
TOWN OF MARINELAND 41225-56527

We’re here to help 
If you’re experiencing hardship as a result of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and need help with your bill, there are resources available. 

Learn more  › 

Help your neighbors 
Contribute to Care to Share and help a neighbor in need during this 
challenging time. 

Donate today  › 

When you pay by check, you authorize FPL to process your payment electronically or as a draft. If your payment is processed electronically, 
your checking account may be debited on the same day we receive the check and your check will not be returned with your checking account 
statement. FPL does not agree to any restrictions, conditions or endorsements placed on any bill statement or payments such as check, money 
order or other forms of payment. We will process the payment as if these restrictions or conditions do not exist.

BILL DETAILS

Amount of your last bill 760.92
Payment received - Thank you −760.92
Balance before new charges $0.00

New Charges
Rate: GSD-1 GENERAL SERVICE DEMAND 
Customer charge: $26.48
Non-fuel: ($0.023540 per kWh) $206.21
Fuel: ($0.024490 per kWh) $214.53
Demand: ($11.30 per KW) $271.20

Electric service amount 718.42

Gross receipts tax 18.42
Franchise charge 43.36
Taxes and charges 61.78

Total new charges $780.20

Total amount you owe $780.20

METER SUMMARY
Meter reading - Meter KU55682. Next meter reading Apr 28, 2021.
Usage Type Current - Previous x Const = Usage
kWh used 03276 03203 120 8760
Demand KW .20 120.00 24

ENERGY USAGE COMPARISON
This Month Last Month Last Year

Service to Mar 30, 2021 Feb 26, 2021 Mar 27, 2020
kWh Used 8760 7920 6120
Service days 32 29 29
kWh/day 273 273 211
Amount $780.20 $760.92 $634.75

https://www.FPL.com?cid=ecc
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/Help?cid=CS20EN024
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050
https://www.fpl.com/help/donate.html?cid=CS20EN050


 

 
 
 
 
Mayor Craig Lenniger 
Town of Marineland 
176 Marina Drive 
Marineland, FL 32080 
 
 
Re: Town Planner Consultant Services  
 
 

INVOICE  
 
 
PROJECT NO. 20220                                                                         INVOICE NO. 2387 

DATE: April 9, 2021 
 
 

Professional Services for March 12, 2021 – April 9, 2021 
 

LMS Review and Resolution       1.2.0 hrs. x $125 $     250.00 

CRA Reporting 1.0 hrs. x $125 $    125.00 

Ragu Surf Café Conditional Use Application    3.0 hrs. x $125 $    375.00 

Commission Meeting – 3/18/2021 2.5 hrs. x $125 $    312.50 

Special Commission Meeting – 3/24/2021 0.5 hrs. x $125 $      62.50 

CRA Meeting – 3/24/2021 1.0 hrs. x $125 $    125.00 

                    Total Due                                              $    1,250.00 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
Mayor Craig Lenniger 
Town of Marineland 
176 Marina Drive 
Marineland, FL 32080 
 
Re: Town Planner Consultant Services - Comprehensive Plan Update 
 (Approved upset of $12,000 at the August 2020 Commission Meeting)  
 
 

INVOICE  
 
 
PROJECT NO. 20190                                                                        INVOICE NO. 2383 

DATE: April 9, 2021 
 
 

Professional Services for March 12, 2021 – April 9, 2021 
 

Comprehensive Plan Update     6.5 hrs. x $125  $ 812.50 
Goals, Objectives, and Policies 
      Conservation/Coastal Management Element 
      Recreation and Open Space Element 

     

                    Total Due                                              $ 812.50 
 
 
 



Thank you for your business!

Storehouse Treasures, LLC
250 Palm Coast Pkwy NE   STE 
607-104
Palm Coast, FL  32137 US

(386) 283-0987
jbradshaw@storeht.com
www.storeht.com

Invoice  7021

BILL TO SHIP TO

Town of Marineland
176 Marina Drive
St Augustine, FL  32080-8619

Town of Marineland
176 Marina Drive
St Augustine, FL  32080-8619

DATE
04/01/2021

PLEASE PAY
USD 375.00

DUE DATE
05/01/2021

DATE ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

Accounting & 
QuickBooks Service

Accounting and QuickBooks 
Monthly Service per agreement, 
Month of April 2021

1 375.00 375.00

TOTAL DUE USD 375.00

Thank you for your business.

THANK YOU.



Suzanne Dixon

5455 Windantide Rd

St. Augustine FL 32080

DATE

4/12/2021

TERMS

Town of Marineland Due Upon Receipt

176 Marina Dr

Marineland, FL 32080

DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

25.00$                  -$                                    

3 25.00$                  75.00$                                

50.00$                  -$                                    

100.00$                -$                                    

-$                       -$                                    

75.00$                   

(Foutz/Sellars) (Heffelfinger/Griffin)

Suzanne Dixon, 904-471-1870, Suzanne@TownOfMarineland.org

INVOICE #

1

BILL TO

Thank you for your business! TOTAL

If you have any questions about this invoice, please contact

WEDDING PERMIT 

INVOICE

Simple Wedding 1-25 People (List Wedding Name Here)

26-99 Person Wedding (Huddleston/Brignoni)

100-999 Person Wedding (List Wedding Name Here)

1000+ Person Wedding (List Wedding Name Here)







Bill

Vendor

Intracoastal Bank
1290 NW Palm Coast Parkway
Palm Coast, FL  32137

Bill Due 05/31/2021

Terms

Memo Loan #40000792, May 2021, Qtrly Pmt

Town of Marineland
176 Marina Drive
Saint Augustine, FL 32080-8619

Date

05/01/2021

Ref. No.

05012021

Expenses

Account Memo Amount Customer:Job

Debt Service Loan #40000792, May 2021,
Qtrly Pmt

5,093.19

Loan Interest Loan #40000792, May 2021,
Qtrly Pmt

1,825.96

Bill

Vendor

Intracoastal Bank
1290 NW Palm Coast Parkway
Palm Coast, FL  32137

Bill Due 05/31/2021

Terms

Memo Loan #40000792, May 2021, Qtrly Pmt

Town of Marineland
176 Marina Drive
Saint Augustine, FL 32080-8619

Date

05/01/2021

Ref. No.

05012021

Expenses

Expense Total : 6,919.15 

Bill Total : $6,919.15

Account Memo Amount Customer:Job



 9:32 AM
 03/12/21
 Accrual Basis

 Town of Marineland

 Due From CRA Fund  Activity
As of 2/28/2021

Type Date Num Name Memo Debit Credit Balance

1350 · Due From CRA Fund

General Journal 09/30/2018 -MULTIPLE- 350.00 350.00

General Journal 09/30/2018 2-to record the amount due to the CRA Fund 525.00 -175.00

Bill 08/31/2020 6165 Storehouse Treasures CRA budget work, 2 hrs @ $35 per hour 70.00

Bill 08/14/2020 2351 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc CRA Status research & analysis, 3.5 hrs @ $125, Meet with Mayor on CRA, 7/16/20, .5 hrs @ $125 500.00

Bill 09/16/2020 2356 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc CRA Status Research and Analysis, 1 hr 125.00 -50.00

Bill 09/30/2020 2359 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc CRA Budget/Review/Update, .5 hrs 62.50 12.50

Bill 10/15/2020 679 FL Dept of Econcomic Activity Annual State Fee 175.00

Bill 10/30/2020 6383 Storehouse Treasures CRA budget work, 1.25 hrs @ $35 per hour 43.75

Bill 11/13/2020 2363 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc Comprehensive Plan Update, 11.5 hrs @ $125, Updating data analysis for 10 hours and mtg with Council on Perils of Flood for 1.5 hrs1,437.50

Bill 12/11/2020 2368 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc Nov 14 - Dec 11, 2020Comprehensive Plan Update, 10 hrs @ $125, Updating data analysis 1,250.00

Bill 01/15/2021 2373 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc Dec 12 - Jan 15, Comprehensive Plan Update, 4 hrs @ $125, Goals, Obejectives:  Future Land Use, ... 500.00 1,257.50

Bill 01/31/2021 6752 Storehouse Treasures Jan CRA Work, 1/19 .75 hrs email to auditor, 1/21 .25 hrs qtrly mtg prep, 1/29 .25 hrs drive to St Aug to deposit ck 43.75 3,988.75

Bill 02/12/2021 2380 Fleet & Associates ArchitectsPlanners Inc Jan 16 - Feb 11, 2021, Comprehensive Plan Update, 5 hrs @ $125, GIS Maps 625.00 4,657.50

Total 1350 · Due From CRA Fund 5,182.50 525.00 4,657.50

TOTAL 5,182.50 525.00 4,657.50

 Page 1 of 1



Type Num Date Name Account Amount

Deposit 03/01/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 3,875.00

Sales Receipt 15320 02/25/2021 Allstate Property & Casualty Ins Co 1499 · Undeposited Funds -2,500.00
Payment 1905 02/25/2021 Marineland Leisure, Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -1,375.00

TOTAL -3,875.00

Deposit 03/12/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 115.00

Sales Receipt 15319 03/12/2021 Barnett, Fawn 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15318 03/12/2021 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -100.00

TOTAL -115.00

Deposit 03/17/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 103.94

Payment 03/17/2021 Shearer, Cameron 1499 · Undeposited Funds -103.94

TOTAL -103.94

Deposit 03/18/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 45.00

Sales Receipt 15323 03/17/2021 Markert, Bill 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15324 03/17/2021 Clement, Glen 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15325 03/17/2021 Block, Mattie 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00

TOTAL -45.00

Deposit 03/19/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 2,086.53

Sales Receipt 15326 03/19/2021 Volusia Turtle Patrol, Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -250.00
Sales Receipt 15327 03/19/2021 Kona Ice of Flagler County LLC 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15328 03/19/2021 Friends of the Marine Science Center 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Payment 1569 03/19/2021 Ripple Effect Ecotours 1499 · Undeposited Funds -479.65
Payment 1016 03/19/2021 Mobius Marine, Inc. 1499 · Undeposited Funds -1,139.38
Payment 1951 03/19/2021 Marineland Leisure, Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -187.50

TOTAL -2,086.53

Deposit 03/21/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 311.19

Payment REC... 03/19/2021 Powell, Kate 1499 · Undeposited Funds -311.19

TOTAL -311.19

Deposit 03/25/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 469.92

Sales Receipt 15329 03/25/2021 Cat's Creations 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15330 03/25/2021 A Touch of Glass 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15331 03/25/2021 Hornkohl, Frederick 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Payment 3237 03/25/2021 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -100.00
Sales Receipt 15332 03/25/2021 State of Florida 1499 · Undeposited Funds -198.66
Sales Receipt 15333 03/25/2021 State of Florida 1499 · Undeposited Funds -126.26

TOTAL -469.92

Sales Receipt 15343 03/26/2021 Florida Power & Light 1001A · Invest Acct - CenterState 3736 1,275.93

33 · Franchise Fee - FPL -1,275.93

TOTAL -1,275.93

2:26 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 Deposit Detail
March 2021

Page 1



Type Num Date Name Account Amount

Deposit 03/29/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 311.82

Payment REC... 03/25/2021 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -207.88
Payment REC... 03/25/2021 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -103.94

TOTAL -311.82

Deposit 03/30/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 15.85

Payment 03/26/2021 Shearer, Cameron 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.85

TOTAL -15.85

Deposit 03/31/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 47.25

Payment Visa 03/29/2021 Powell, Kate 1499 · Undeposited Funds -47.25

TOTAL -47.25

Deposit 03/31/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 160.00

Sales Receipt 15334 03/30/2021 Gallery of Local Art 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15335 03/30/2021 Rock & Roll Kettle Corn 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15336 03/30/2021 Flagler Surf Art & Stuff 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Sales Receipt 15337 03/30/2021 Mimi's Original Art 1499 · Undeposited Funds -15.00
Payment 3296 03/30/2021 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 1499 · Undeposited Funds -100.00

TOTAL -160.00

Deposit 03/31/2021 CenterState Bank 1001A · Invest Acct - CenterState 3736 7.63

41 · Interest Income -7.63

TOTAL -7.63

Deposit 03/31/2021 1002A · Cap Improve-CenterState 3745 0.22

41 · Interest Income -0.22

TOTAL -0.22

Deposit 03/31/2021 1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 9.07

41 · Interest Income -9.07

TOTAL -9.07

2:26 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 Deposit Detail
March 2021

Page 2



Type Date Num Name Open Balance

Current
Bill 03/31/2021 6962... FP&L 396.98
Bill 03/30/2021 4122... FP&L 780.20
Bill 03/31/2021 1945... FP&L 709.75

Total Current 1,886.93

1 - 30
Total 1 - 30

31 - 60
Total 31 - 60

61 - 90
Total 61 - 90

> 90
Total > 90

TOTAL 1,886.93

2:19 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 A/P Aging Detail
As of March 31, 2021

Page 1



Type Date Num Name Open Balance

Current
Invoice 03/31/2021 467 Mobius Marine, Inc. 1,177.18
Invoice 03/18/2021 455 Marineland Leisure, Inc 62.50

Total Current 1,239.68

1 - 30
Invoice 03/19/2021 459 CRA Account, Town of Marineland 2,272.50
Invoice 03/25/2021 462 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc 52.12

Total 1 - 30 2,324.62

31 - 60
Invoice 02/28/2021 454 CRA Account, Town of Marineland 4,657.50

Total 31 - 60 4,657.50

61 - 90
Total 61 - 90

> 90
Invoice 11/09/2020 82076 Ripple Effect Ecotours 325.78

Total > 90 325.78

TOTAL 8,547.58

2:17 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 A/R Aging Detail
As of March 31, 2021

Page 1



Mar 31, 21 Mar 31, 20

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
1000B · Cash - Operating - CSB #0321 40,028.08 38,840.08
1001A · Invest Acct - CenterState 3736 79,659.61 100,948.68
1002A · Cap Improve-CenterState 3745 1,017.18 1,014.61
1014 · Intracoastal Capital Chkg -4017 46,148.48 5,719.98

Total Checking/Savings 166,853.35 146,523.35

Accounts Receivable
1200 · Accounts Receivable 8,547.58 4,795.59

Total Accounts Receivable 8,547.58 4,795.59

Other Current Assets
1300 · Prepaid Expenses 2,387.52 0.00
1350 · Due From CRA Fund 0.00 -175.00
1499 · Undeposited Funds 518.45 41,514.02

Total Other Current Assets 2,905.97 41,339.02

Total Current Assets 178,306.90 192,657.96

TOTAL ASSETS 178,306.90 192,657.96

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

2000 · Accounts Payable 1,886.93 4,226.78

Total Accounts Payable 1,886.93 4,226.78

Other Current Liabilities
2201 · Sales Tax Payable 0.00 3.54

Total Other Current Liabilities 0.00 3.54

Total Current Liabilities 1,886.93 4,230.32

Total Liabilities 1,886.93 4,230.32

Equity
1110 · Retained Earnings 61,961.78 0.00
1111 · Fund Balance Assigned 46,148.48 5,719.97
1112 · Fund Balance Unassigned 124,220.74 164,649.25
Net Income -55,911.03 18,058.42

Total Equity 176,419.97 188,427.64

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 178,306.90 192,657.96

2:15 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 Statement of Financial Position
Accrual Basis As of March 31, 2021

Page 1



Oct '20 - Mar 21 Budget $ Over Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

30 · Ad Valorem Taxes 4,531.35 5,900.00 -1,368.65
31 · Interest on Ad Valorem Taxes 17.78 0.00 17.78
33 · Franchise Fee - FPL 8,478.78 8,499.00 -20.22
34 · FL Communications Services Tax 1,743.03 555.00 1,188.03
35 · Local Business Receipts Tax 1,215.00 1,320.00 -105.00
36 · Other Permits & Fees 3,600.00 1,026.00 2,574.00
37 · Rental Income 2,400.00 2,400.00 0.00
39 · Miscellaneous Income 0.66 0.00 0.66

41 · Interest Income 177.94 90.00 87.94

Total Income 22,164.54 19,790.00 2,374.54

Gross Profit 22,164.54 19,790.00 2,374.54

Expense
01 · PERSONNEL SERVICE

001 · Town Manager 1,000.00 750.00 250.00
002 · Town Clerk 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00
003 · Director of Finance 2,880.00 2,520.00 360.00
004 · Legal 3,982.50 9,999.00 -6,016.50
005 · Town Planner

005.3 · Town Planner 5,500.00 5,001.00 499.00
005.5 · Town Planner, Reimbursed -2,625.00 0.00 -2,625.00

Total 005 · Town Planner 2,875.00 5,001.00 -2,126.00

006 · Annual Audit 6,746.50 6,747.00 -0.50
007 · Commissioner Stipends 2,625.00 3,000.00 -375.00
008 · Payroll Taxes 18.14 22.00 -3.86

Total 01 · PERSONNEL SERVICE 21,327.14 29,239.00 -7,911.86

02 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES
050 · Office/ Miscellanous Expense 17.98 170.00 -152.02
051 · Donation & Dues 520.00 500.00 20.00
052 · Postage & Printing 13.60 0.00 13.60
053 · Legal Advertisement 0.00 300.00 -300.00
056 · Bank Service Charges 40.00 0.00 40.00
056.5 · Merchant Services Fees -2.72 0.00 -2.72
057 · Insurance 2,387.48 2,930.00 -542.52
058 · Licenses and Permits 0.00 900.00 -900.00
060 · Technology Expense 1,648.91 2,499.00 -850.09
070 · Building Rental 400.00 0.00 400.00

Total 02 · OPERATING EXPENDITUR... 5,025.25 7,299.00 -2,273.75

03 · Physical Environment
054 · Street Lights, Utility Service 4,211.15 4,150.00 61.15
59.1 · Marina Electricity Expense 6,897.37 0.00 6,897.37
59.2 · Marina Electricity Reimbursed -6,897.37 0.00 -6,897.37

Total 03 · Physical Environment 4,211.15 4,150.00 61.15

Total Expense 30,563.54 40,688.00 -10,124.46

Net Ordinary Income -8,399.00 -20,898.00 12,499.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

Marina Income 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00
Planning Revenue 1,770.00 0.00 1,770.00
Possessory Interest Tax Revenue 597.28 622.00 -24.72

Total Other Income 4,867.28 622.00 4,245.28

2:13 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 Statement of Revenue & Expenses, Budget vs. Actual
Accrual Basis October 2020 through March 2021

Page 1



Oct '20 - Mar 21 Budget $ Over Budget

Other Expense
Community Redevelopmnt Area Exp 37,943.73 0.00 37,943.73
Possessory Interest Tax Exp 597.28 622.00 -24.72
200 · Loan Interest 3,711.07 3,635.00 76.07
201 · Debt Service 10,127.23 10,203.00 -75.77

Total Other Expense 52,379.31 14,460.00 37,919.31

Net Other Income -47,512.03 -13,838.00 -33,674.03

Net Income -55,911.03 -34,736.00 -21,175.03

2:13 PM Town of Marineland

04/09/21 Statement of Revenue & Expenses, Budget vs. Actual
Accrual Basis October 2020 through March 2021

Page 2



Oct 20 Nov 20 Dec 20 Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 TOTAL

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

30 · Ad Valorem Taxes 0.00 0.00 2,587.99 1,943.36 0.00 0.00 4,531.35
31 · Interest on Ad Valorem Taxes 0.00 0.00 0.00 17.78 0.00 0.00 17.78
33 · Franchise Fee - FPL 1,515.95 1,595.13 1,293.18 1,338.73 1,459.86 1,275.93 8,478.78
34 · FL Communications Services Tax 266.54 273.40 276.09 46.65 341.40 538.95 1,743.03
35 · Local Business Receipts Tax 840.00 75.00 45.00 0.00 0.00 255.00 1,215.00
36 · Other Permits & Fees 400.00 200.00 300.00 0.00 800.00 1,900.00 3,600.00
37 · Rental Income 400.00 400.00 400.00 400.00 400.00 400.00 2,400.00
39 · Miscellaneous Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 -0.34 0.66

41 · Interest Income 28.53 36.14 36.96 36.74 22.65 16.92 177.94

Total Income 3,451.02 2,579.67 4,939.22 3,783.26 3,024.91 4,386.46 22,164.54

Gross Profit 3,451.02 2,579.67 4,939.22 3,783.26 3,024.91 4,386.46 22,164.54

Expense
01 · PERSONNEL SERVICE

001 · Town Manager 125.00 125.00 125.00 125.00 125.00 375.00 1,000.00
002 · Town Clerk 200.00 200.00 200.00 200.00 200.00 200.00 1,200.00
003 · Director of Finance 620.00 410.00 375.00 725.00 375.00 375.00 2,880.00
004 · Legal 0.00 1,406.25 1,170.00 1,406.25 0.00 0.00 3,982.50
005 · Town Planner

005.3 · Town Planner 687.50 1,437.50 1,937.50 1,000.00 -187.50 625.00 5,500.00
005.5 · Town Planner, Reimbursed 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -4,332.50 1,707.50 -2,625.00

Total 005 · Town Planner 687.50 1,437.50 1,937.50 1,000.00 -4,520.00 2,332.50 2,875.00

006 · Annual Audit 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,746.50 0.00 0.00 6,746.50
007 · Commissioner Stipends 375.00 375.00 375.00 500.00 500.00 500.00 2,625.00
008 · Payroll Taxes 9.07 0.00 0.00 9.07 0.00 0.00 18.14

Total 01 · PERSONNEL SERVICE 2,016.57 3,953.75 4,182.50 10,711.82 -3,320.00 3,782.50 21,327.14

02 · OPERATING EXPENDITURES
050 · Office/ Miscellanous Expense 0.00 17.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 17.98
051 · Donation & Dues 0.00 0.00 520.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 520.00
052 · Postage & Printing 0.00 0.00 0.00 13.60 0.00 0.00 13.60
056 · Bank Service Charges 0.00 47.00 -12.00 0.00 0.00 5.00 40.00
056.5 · Merchant Services Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.34 -3.06 -2.72
057 · Insurance 397.91 397.91 397.91 397.91 397.92 397.92 2,387.48
060 · Technology Expense 0.00 1,648.91 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,648.91
070 · Building Rental 100.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 0.00 400.00

Total 02 · OPERATING EXPENDITUR... 497.91 2,211.80 905.91 411.51 598.26 399.86 5,025.25

03 · Physical Environment
054 · Street Lights, Utility Service 678.28 701.81 701.81 709.75 709.75 709.75 4,211.15
59.1 · Marina Electricity Expense 1,107.51 1,060.26 1,135.28 1,277.76 1,139.38 1,177.18 6,897.37
59.2 · Marina Electricity Reimbursed -1,107.51 -1,060.26 -1,135.28 -1,277.76 -1,139.38 -1,177.18 -6,897.37

Total 03 · Physical Environment 678.28 701.81 701.81 709.75 709.75 709.75 4,211.15

574030 · Special Events 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Expense 3,192.76 6,867.36 5,790.22 11,833.08 -2,011.99 4,892.11 30,563.54

Net Ordinary Income 258.26 -4,287.69 -851.00 -8,049.82 5,036.90 -505.65 -8,399.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

Marina Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00
Planning Revenue 0.00 2,770.00 0.00 1,375.00 -4,145.00 1,770.00 1,770.00
Possessory Interest Tax Revenue 0.00 597.28 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 597.28
Sales Tax Collection Allowance 0.60 -0.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Other Income 0.60 3,366.68 0.00 1,375.00 -1,645.00 1,770.00 4,867.28

Other Expense
Community Redevelopmnt Area Exp 218.75 0.00 0.00 -218.75 0.00 37,943.73 37,943.73
Possessory Interest Tax Exp 0.00 597.28 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 597.28
200 · Loan Interest 0.00 1,885.11 0.00 0.00 1,825.96 0.00 3,711.07
201 · Debt Service 0.00 5,034.04 0.00 0.00 5,093.19 0.00 10,127.23

Total Other Expense 218.75 7,516.43 0.00 -218.75 6,919.15 37,943.73 52,379.31

Net Other Income -218.15 -4,149.75 0.00 1,593.75 -8,564.15 -36,173.73 -47,512.03

Net Income 40.11 -8,437.44 -851.00 -6,456.07 -3,527.25 -36,679.38 -55,911.03

2:08 PM Town of Marineland
04/09/21 Statement of Revenues and Expenses By Month
Accrual Basis October 2020 through March 2021

Page 1



Type Date Num Name Memo Credit Balance

35 · Local Business Receipts Tax
Sales Receipt 03/12/2021 15319 Barnett, Fawn Local Business Tax for the Turtle Fest on April 10, 2021 15.00 15.00
Sales Receipt 03/17/2021 15323 Markert, Bill Local Business Tax for Turtle Fest, 4/10/2021 15.00 30.00
Sales Receipt 03/17/2021 15324 Clement, Glen Local Business Tax for Turtle Fest, 4/10/2021 15.00 45.00
Sales Receipt 03/17/2021 15325 Block, Mattie Local Business Tax for Turtle Fest, 4/10/2021 15.00 60.00
Sales Receipt 03/19/2021 15327 Kona Ice of Flagl... Local Business Tax 15.00 75.00
Sales Receipt 03/19/2021 15328 Friends of the Ma... Local Business Tax 15.00 90.00
Sales Receipt 03/25/2021 15329 Cat's Creations Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 2021 15.00 105.00
Sales Receipt 03/25/2021 15330 A Touch of Glass Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 2021 15.00 120.00
Sales Receipt 03/25/2021 15331 Hornkohl, Frederick Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 2021 15.00 135.00
Invoice 03/25/2021 464 Shearer, Cameron King of Clubs Surf Event 4.10.2021, Local Business Tax Rec... 15.00 150.00
Invoice 03/25/2021 465 Powell, Kate -MULTIPLE- 45.00 195.00
Sales Receipt 03/30/2021 15334 Gallery of Local Art Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 210.00
Sales Receipt 03/30/2021 15335 Rock & Roll Kettl... Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 225.00
Sales Receipt 03/30/2021 15336 Flagler Surf Art & ... Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 240.00
Sales Receipt 03/30/2021 15337 Mimi's Original Art Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 255.00
Sales Receipt 04/08/2021 15338 Origami Owl Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 270.00
Sales Receipt 04/08/2021 15339 Jeffe, Kareen Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 285.00
Sales Receipt 04/08/2021 15340 Clear Purpose Cr... Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 300.00
Sales Receipt 04/08/2021 15341 Nancy's Palm Fro... Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 315.00
Sales Receipt 04/08/2021 15342 Livin' Alive Local Business Tax, Turtle Fest 15.00 330.00

Total 35 · Local Business Receipts Tax 330.00 330.00

TOTAL 330.00 330.00

11:53 AM Town of Marineland
04/08/21 Transaction Detail By Account
Accrual Basis March through April 2021

Page 1



Type Date Num Name Memo Credit Balance

36 · Other Permits & Fees
Sales Receipt 03/01/2021 15312 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc Edwards/Randolph 5/01/21 Wedding 100.00 100.00
Invoice 03/11/2021 453 Shearer, Cameron King of Clubs Surf Event 4.10.2021, Special Event Permit 100.00 200.00
Sales Receipt 03/12/2021 15318 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc Huddleston - Brignoni Wedding 100.00 300.00
Invoice 03/18/2021 456 National MS Society Special event permit application fee, greater than 1,000 participa... 500.00 800.00
Sales Receipt 03/19/2021 15326 Volusia Turtle Patrol, Inc Turtle Fest Permit Fee, April 10, 2021 250.00 1,050.00
Invoice 03/19/2021 458 Powell, Kate Application Fee for Conditional Use Permit 300.00 1,350.00
Invoice 03/23/2021 460 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc -MULTIPLE- 200.00 1,550.00
Invoice 03/23/2021 461 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc Perret/Lund Wedding 7/14/2021 100.00 1,650.00
Invoice 03/25/2021 462 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc Edwards/Randolph Wedding 5/01/2021 150.00 1,800.00
Invoice 03/25/2021 463 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc Vernotz/Denney Wedding 7/17/2021 100.00 1,900.00
Invoice 04/06/2021 468 Sun and Sea Beach Weddings Inc -MULTIPLE- 150.00 2,050.00

Total 36 · Other Permits & Fees 2,050.00 2,050.00

TOTAL 2,050.00 2,050.00

11:54 AM Town of Marineland
04/08/21 Transaction Detail By Account
Accrual Basis March through April 2021

Page 1



RESOLUTION 2021-____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MARINELAND COMMISSION; 

ADOPTING THE LOCAL MITIGATION STRATEGY PLAN AS 

UPDATED; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

 

WHEREAS, Section 322 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 

Assistance Act, 42 U.S.C. 5165, as amended provides for States, Tribes, and local governments to 

undertake a risk-based approach to reducing risks to natural hazards through mitigation planning; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, as amended, reinforced the need 

and requirement for mitigation plans, linking flood mitigation assistance programs to State, Tribal 

and Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has implemented 

various hazard mitigation planning provisions through regulation at 44 CFR § 201.6, requiring 

local governments to have a FEMA approved LMS in order to apply for and/or receive project 

grants; and 

 

WHEREAS, the LMS supports and integrates with the Comprehensive Emergency; and 

 

WHEREAS, 44 CFR 201.6(d)(3) requires each local jurisdiction to review and revise its 

LMS to reflect changes in development, progress in local mitigation efforts, and changes in 

priorities, and then resubmit it for approval within five (5) years in order to continue to be eligible 

for mitigation grant funding; and 

 

WHEREAS, the LMS was transmitted to the Florida Division of Emergency Management 

and found in compliance with State and Federal requirements. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Town Commission of the Town of Marineland 

that: 

 

1. The Flagler County Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) is adopted and is declared a workable 

program for planning, identifying, and implementing hazard mitigation programs, policies, 

and projects. 

 

2. Adoption of the LMS shall not obligate the Town to spend local funds for mitigation 

initiatives.  The Town also shall not be obligated to apply for future hazard mitigation grant 

funds if such actions are not in the best interest of the Town.   

 

3. The Town Commission of the Town of Marineland hereby adopts the Flagler County LMS 

Multi-Jurisdictional Plan to identify and implement hazard mitigation initiatives to reduce 

the Town's susceptibility to numerous hazards. 



 

4. This resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 

 

 

TOWN COMMISSION OF THE 

TOWN OF MARINELAND 

ATTEST: 

            

      ________________________________ 

      Craig Lenniger, Mayor 

_____________________________ 

Brandon Mellin, Town Clerk 

      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

  

 ________________________________  

      William Bosch, Town Attorney 

 

 



• 

• 

•

The FEMA Mitigation Planner must reference this Local Mitigation Plan Review Guide when completing the Local 
Mitigation Plan Review Tool.

LOCAL MITIGATION PLAN REVIEW TOOL

The Multi-jurisdiction Summary Sheet is an optional work sheet that can be used to document how 
each jurisdiction met the requirements of the each Element of the Plan (Planning Process; Hazard 
Identification and Risk Assessment; Mitigation Strategy; Plan Review, Evaluation, and 
Implementation; and Plan Adoption).

Local Point of Contact: Address:
Lea Tardanico 1769 E. Moody Blvd., Bldg. 3
Title: Bunnell, FL 32110

Jurisdiction: Title of Plan: Date of Plan:
Flagler County Flagler County LMS 2/2/2021

Phone Number: E-Mail:
386-313-4244 ltardanico@flaglercounty.org

State Reviewer: Title: Date:

Emergency Management Planner
Agency:
Flagler County Emergency Management

Plan Approvable Pending Adoption 3/3/2021
Plan Approved

FEMA Reviewer: Title: Date:

Kristin Buckingham, Dan Curcio Mitigation Planner
Date Received by FDEM 2/4/2021, 2/19/2021; 2/24/2021
Plan Not Approved 2/12/2021, 2/23/2021

Plan Approvable Pending Adoption
Plan Approved

Date Received in FEMA Region IV
Plan Not Approved

The Local Mitigation Plan Review Tool demonstrates how the Local Mitigation Plan meets the regulation in 44 
CFR §201.6 and offers States and FEMA Mitigation Planners an opportunity to provide feedback to the 
community.

The Regulation Check list provides a summary of FEMA’s evaluation of whether the Plan has 
addressed all requirements.
The Plan Assessment identifies the plan’s strengths as well as documents areas for future 
improvement.



X

X

X

X

X

X

INSTRUCTIONS: The Regulation Checklist must be completed by FEMA.  The purpose of the Checklist is to identify 
the location of relevant or applicable content in the Plan by Element/sub-element and to determine if each 
requirement has been ‘Met’ or ‘Not Met.’ The ‘Required Revisions’ summary at the bottom of each Element must 
be completed by FEMA to provide a clear explanation of the revisions that are required for plan approval. 
Required revisions must be explained for each plan sub-element that is ‘Not Met.’  Sub-elements should be 
referenced in each summary by using the appropriate numbers (A1, B3, etc.), where applicable.  Requirements 
for each Element and sub-element are described in detail in this Plan Review Guide in Section 4, Regulation 
Checklist.

Location in Plan 
(section and/or page 

number)

SECTION 1:
REGULATION CHECKLIST

A4. Does the Plan describe the review and incorporation of existing 
plans, studies, reports, and technical information? (Requirement 
§201.6(b)(3))

Section 5.4, pg. 5.15 

A5. Is there discussion of how the community(ies) will continue 
public participation in the plan maintenance process? 
(Requirement §201.6(c)(4)(iii))

Section 5, pg. 5-18

A6. Is there a description of the method and schedule for keeping 
the plan current (monitoring, evaluating and updating the 
mitigation plan within a 5-year cycle)? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(4)(i))

Section 5, pgs. 5-17 
to 5-19

ELEMENT A. PLANNING PROCESS
A1. Does the Plan document the planning process, including how it 
was prepared and who was involved in the process for each 
jurisdiction? (Requirement  §201.6(c)(1))

Section 2, pgs. 2-1 to 
2-4; Appendix A and B 

A2. Does the Plan document an opportunity for neighboring 
communities, local and regional agencies involved in hazard 
mitigation activities, agencies that have the authority to regulate 
development as well as other interests to be involved in the 
planning process? (Requirement §201.6(b)(2))

Section 2, pgs. 2-2 
and 2-3

A3. Does the Plan document how the public was involved in the 
planning process during the drafting stage? (Requirement 
§201.6(b)(1))

Section 2, pg. 2-3; 
Appendix B

ELEMENT A: REQUIRED REVISIONS

Met Not Met
Regulation (44CFR 201.6 Local Mitigation Plans)

1. REGULATION CHECKLIST



X

X

X

X

ELEMENT B. HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND RISK ASSESSMENT 
B1. Does the Plan include a description of the type, location, and 
extent of all natural hazards that can affect each jurisdiction(s)? 
(Requirement §201.6(c)(2)(i))

Section 4; Appendix C 

B2. Does the Plan include information on previous occurrences of 
hazard events and on the probability of future hazard events for 
each jurisdiction? (Requirement §201.6(c)(2)(i))

Section 4; Appendix C 

B3. Is there a description of each identified hazard’s impact on the 
community as well as an overall summary of the community’s 
vulnerability for each jurisdiction? (Requirement §201.6(c)(2)(ii))

Section 4; Appendix C 

B4. Does the Plan address NFIP insured structures within the 
jurisdiction that have been repetitively damaged by floods? 
(Requirement §201.6(c)(2)(ii))

Section 4; pgs. 4-36 
and 4-37

ELEMENT B: REQUIRED REVISIONS

Regulation (44CFR 201.6 Local Mitigation Plans)

1. REGULATION CHECKLIST Location in Plan 
(section and/or page 

number)
Met Not Met



X

X

X

X

X

X

ELEMENT C. MITIGATION STRATEGY 
C1. Does the plan document each jurisdiction’s existing authorities, 
policies, programs and resources and its ability to expand on and 
improve these existing policies and programs? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(3))

Section 5, pgs. 5-15 
to 5-16; Appendix G 

1. REGULATION CHECKLIST Location in Plan 
(section and/or page 

number)

C5. Does the Plan contain an action plan that describes how the 
actions identified will be prioritized (including cost benefit review), 
implemented, and administered by each jurisdiction? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(3)(iv)); (Requirement §201.6(c)(3)(iii))

Section 5, pgs. 5-3 to 
5-10; Appendix D, 

Appendix E; Appendix 
F

C6. Does the Plan describe a process by which local governments 
will integrate the requirements of the mitigation plan into other 
planning mechanisms, such as comprehensive or capital 
improvement plans, when appropriate? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(4)(ii))

Section 5, pgs. 5-15- 
to 5-16

ELEMENT C: REQUIRED REVISIONS

C2. Does the Plan address each jurisdiction’s participation in the 
NFIP and continued compliance with NFIP requirements, as 
appropriate? (Requirement §201.6(c)(3)(ii))

Section 4, pgs. 4-33

C3. Does the Plan include goals to reduce/avoid long-term 
vulnerabilities to the identified hazards? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(3)(i))

Section 5, pgs. 5-1 to 
5-3

C4. Does the Plan identify and analyze a comprehensive range of 
specific mitigation actions and projects for each jurisdiction being 
considered to reduce the effects of hazards, with emphasis on new 
and existing buildings and infrastructure? (Requirement 
§201.6(c)(3)(ii))

Appendix E and F

Met Not Met
Regulation (44CFR 201.6 Local Mitigation Plans)



Met

X

X

X

X

X

D1. Was the plan revised to reflect changes in development? 
(Requirement §201.6(d)(3))

Sections 3, 3-11 to 3-
15

D2. Was the plan revised to reflect progress in local mitigation 
efforts? (Requirement §201.6(d)(3))

Appendix E

D3. Was the plan revised to reflect changes in priorities? 
(Requirement §201.6(d)(3))

Section 5, 5-1

1. REGULATION CHECKLIST Location in Plan
Not MetRegulation (44CFR 201.6 Local Mitigation Plans) (section and/or page 

ELEMENT D. PLAN REVIEW, EVALUATION, AND IMPLEMENTATION (applicable to plan updates only)

ELEMENT F: REQUIRED REVISIONS

ELEMENT E: REQUIRED REVISIONS
The plan must include documentation of plan adoption, usually a resolution by the governing body or other 
authority. If adopted after FEMA review, adoption must take place within one calendar year of receipt of FEMA’s 
“Approvable Pending Adoption.” Every jurisdiction that is included in the plan must have its governing body 
adopt the plan, even when a regional agency has the authority to prepare such plans. (For additional information, 
please see the “Local Mitigation Plan Review Guide”, Element E: Plan Adoption dated October 1, 2011, Pages 28-
29).

ELEMENT F. ADDITIONAL STATE REQUIREMENTS 
F1.
F2.

ELEMENT D: REQUIRED REVISIONS

ELEMENT E. PLAN ADOPTION
E1. Does the Plan include documentation that the plan has been 
formally adopted by the governing body of the jurisdiction 
requesting approval? (Requirement §201.6(c)(5))
E2. For multi-jurisdictional plans, has each jurisdiction requesting 
approval of the plan documented formal plan adoption? 
(Requirement §201.6(c)(5))



Element A: Planning Process

Element B: Hazard Identification & Risk Assessment

Element C: Mitigation Strategy

A. Plan Strengths and Opportunities for Improvement
This section provides a discussion of the strengths of the plan document and identifies areas where these could 

SECTION 2:
PLAN ASSESSMENT
INSTRUCTIONS: The purpose of the Plan Assessment is to offer the local community more comprehensive 
feedback to the community on the quality and utility of the plan in a narrative format.  The audience for the Plan 
Assessment is not only the plan developer/local community planner, but also elected officials, local departments 
and agencies, and others involved in implementing the Local Mitigation Plan. The Plan Assessment must be 
completed by FEMA.   The Assessment is an opportunity for FEMA to provide feedback and information to the 
community on: 1) suggested improvements to the Plan; 2) specific sections in the Plan where the community has 
gone above and beyond minimum requirements; 3) recommendations for plan implementation; and 4) ongoing 
partnership(s) and information on other FEMA programs, specifically RiskMAP and Hazard Mitigation Assistance 
programs.  The Plan Assessment is divided into two sections:

   1.  Plan Strengths and Opportunities for Improvement

Opportunities for Improvement:

Strengths:
It was interesting and forward thinking to include the addition of FEMA Lifelines as a consideration of the 
prioritization process. The plan includes a good description of the process of integration of the LMS into local 
planning mechanisms. 

Opportunities for Improvement:

Strengths:
The plan includes a good discussion of how the LMSWG will continue public participation throughout the 
maintenance phase.

Opportunities for Improvement:

Strengths:

The Risk Assessment did a good job of looking at jurisdictional risk and the use of charts and figures did a good 
job of supplimenting the information to provide for a better narrative. 

   2. Resources for Implementing Your Approved Plan

Plan Strengths and Opportunities for Improvement  is organized according to the plan  Elements listed in the 
The Plan Assessment must not reiterate the required revisions from the Regulation Checklist   or be regulatory in 
Resources for Implementing Your Approved Plan  provides a place for FEMA to offer information, data sources 



Element D: Plan Update, Evaluation, and Implementation (Plan Updates Only)

B. Resources for Implementing Your Approved Plan 

Strengths:
The information does a good job of laying out how the plan will be maintained and updated, annually and every 
five years.

Opportunities for Improvement:
The informaiton about plan maintenance and update would be more easily understood if broken up into sub-
sections between the different phases of maintenance.

The project list and scope of mitigation actions could be improved by including outreach and planning projects.



1 Flagler County Y Y Y Y N
2 Beverly Beach Town Y Y Y Y N
3 Bunnell City Y Y Y Y N
4 Flagler Beach City Y Y Y Y N
5 Palm Coast City Y Y Y Y N
6 Marineland Town Y Y Y Y N

7
Flagler County 
School Board

Special District Y Y Y Y N

8
Grand Haven 
Community 

Development
Special District Y Y Y Y N

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

MULTI-JURISDICTION SUMMARY SHEET 

INSTRUCTIONS:  For multi-jurisdictional plans, a Multi-jurisdiction Summary Spreadsheet may be completed by 
listing each participating jurisdiction, which required Elements for each jurisdiction were ‘Met’ or ‘Not Met,’ and 
when the adoption resolutions were received.  This Summary Sheet does not imply that a mini-plan be 
developed for each jurisdiction; instead simply fill in the names and type of each jurisdiction (columns C and D) 
participating in the Plan.

MULTI-JURISDICTIONAL SUMMARY SHEET

#

Requirements Met (Y/N)
Type of Jurisdiction 
(school board, non-

profit, special district, 
city, town, etc.)

Jurisdiction Name A.              
Planning 
Process

B.                                  
Hazard 

Identification & 
Risk Assessment

C.        
Mitigation 
Strategy

D.                                
Plan Review, 
Evaluation & 

Implementation

E.                       
Plan 

Adoption



   

 

  

 

TO:  Town Commission 

 

FROM: Janis K. Fleet, AICP 

 

DATE: April 9, 2021 

 

SUBJECT:  Approval of the Flagler County Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) Update 

 

The LMS outlines Flagler County’s strategy towards identifying community disaster risks and 

hazards, providing the processes to prioritize funding for projects that will reduce those risks.  

The LMS must be updated every 5 years and the updated LMS submitted to FEMA and the 

State of Florida for approval. The Flagler County LMS applies to the entirety of Flagler 

County, including its municipalities. The LMS is key to ensuring that a coordinated system is 

in place to mitigate critical assets from the impacts of future disasters. 

 

Chapter 27P-22, F.A.C. and Section 322 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and 

Emergency Assistance Act 42 U.S.C. 5165, as amended, outline the processes for 

application, project selection, and distribution of funds under the Hazard Mitigation Grant 

Program (HMGP), to include the minimum components of an LMS. In order to qualify to 

apply for HMGP funds, each county must have a FEMA approved LMS and a formal LMS 

Working Group. The State of Florida has delegated authority, from FEMA, to review and 

approve a county’s LMS. 

 

The updated LMS is attached for review.  The attached resolution needs to be adopted by 

the Town Commission in order for the Town to receive FEMA funds after a disaster.  

  

  

9507       N.       Oceanshore       Blvd.,       
St.       Augustine,       FL       32080       

Phone:       (386)232   -   8060       
mayor.marineland@gmail.com       



S T AT E  O F  F L O R I D A

D I V I S I O N  O F  E M E R G E N C Y  M A N A G E M E N T
Ron DeSantis
Governor

Jared Moskowitz
Director

D I V I S I O N  H E A D Q U A R T E R S Telephone: 850-815-4000 STATE LOGISTICS RESPONSE CENTER

2 5 5 5  S h u m a r d  O a k  B o u l e v a r d www.FloridaDisaster.org 2 70 2  D i r ec t o rs  R ow
T a l l a h a s s e e ,  F L  3 2 3 9 9 - 2 1 0 0 O r l a n d o ,  F L  3 2 80 9 - 56 3 1

March 3, 2021

Jonathan Lord, Director
Flagler County Emergency Management
1769 East Moody Boulevard #3,
Bunnell, Florida 32110

Re: Flagler County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan Approved Pending Adoption 

Dear Director Lord,

This is to confirm that we have completed a State review of the Flagler County Local 
Mitigation Strategy (LMS) update for compliance with the federal hazard mitigation planning 
standards contained in 44 CFR 201.6(b)-(d). Based on our review and comments, Flagler
County developed and submitted all the necessary plan revisions and our staff has 
reviewed and approved these revisions. We have determined that the Flagler County LMS
plan is compliant with federal standards, subject to formal community adoption, for the 
jurisdictions below: 

Flagler County, Unincorporated
City of Beverly Beach
City of Bunnell
City of Flagler Beach
City of Palm Coast
Town of Marineland
Flagler County School Board
Grand Haven Community Development District

Upon submittal of a copy of all participating jurisdictions’ documentation of their adoption 
resolutions to our office, we will send all necessary documentation to the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) who will issue formal approval of the Flagler
County LMS.

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact your LMS Liaison Kristin 
Buckingham at Kristin.Buckingham@em.myflorida.com or 850-815-4519.

Respectfully,

Miles E. Anderson, 
Bureau Chief, Mitigation



State Hazard Mitigation Officer
MEA/kb

Attachments: MEMORADUM: State approval of LMS plans under Program Administration 
by States (PAS)

cc: FEMA Region IV, Mitigation Division – Risk Analysis Branch 







Table	of	Contents	
 
Section 1 – Introduction 

Section 2 – Planning Process 

Section 3 – County Profile 

Section 4 – Risk Assessment 

Section 5 – Mitigation Strategy 

Appendix A – Working Group Contact List 

Appendix B – Meeting Documentation  

Appendix C – Additional Wildfire Risk Assessment Information 

Appendix D – Hazard Summary Table 

Appendix E – Project Prioritization Process 

Appendix F – Prioritized Project List 

Appendix G – Project Information Sheets 

Appendix H – Policy Evaluation 

Appendix I – CRS Documentation 

Appendix J – Approval Letter and Resolutions   



1-1 
 

1.0	–	Introduction	
Under Section 322 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act 
(Stafford Act) enacted under the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (DMA2K), states and local 
governments are required to have a Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)-approved 
hazard mitigation plan in order to be eligible for federal hazard mitigation funding. DMA2K 
requires communities to develop a plan that follows a planning process to identify risks and 
prioritize projects. Local plans must be updated and adopted by all participating jurisdictions 
every five years in order to remain eligible for funding. Developing a Local Mitigation Strategy 
(LMS) gives Flagler County and its municipalities the opportunity to determine what all-hazards 
mitigation actions need to be taken to minimize damage before the next disaster strikes.  
 
Communities face a variety of hazards. A hazard is any event or condition with the potential to 
cause fatalities, injuries, property damage, infrastructure damage, agricultural loss, 
environmental damage, business interruption, or other structural and financial loss. Three types 
of hazards profiled within this plan include:  

 Natural hazards- result from acts of nature, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, 
wildfires, animal disease outbreak, pandemics, or epidemics.  

 Technological hazards- result from accidents or the failures of systems and structures, 
such as hazardous materials spills or dam failures. 

 Human-caused incidents- result from the intentional actions of an adversary, such as a 
threatened or actual chemical attack, biological attack, or cyber incident. 

 
The Flagler County LMS focuses on the major hazards that could potentially affect Flagler 
County and all of the participating jurisdictions in this plan. By evaluating hazards, identifying 
vulnerabilities and proposing solutions to them, Flagler County will be able to more efficiently 
meet the needs of its constituents. Hazards fully profiled in this plan include: 
 

 Erosion 
 Drought 
 Extreme heat 
 Flooding 
 Tornadoes 

 

 Tropical cyclones 
 Severe storms  
 Coastal flooding 
 Storm surge 
 Wildfire  

Additionally, there are several natural hazards, as well as technological and human-caused 
incidents, that while not profiled to the same extent as those above, have been evaluated, and 
identified to be researched and monitored further. 
 
The concept and practice of hazard mitigation is defined by FEMA as “Any action taken to 
reduce or eliminate the long term risk to human life and property from hazards”. While the threat 
from hazardous events may never be fully eliminated, by minimizing the impact of hazards upon 
our built environment, we can prevent such events from escalating into major disasters.  
 



1-2 
 

The purpose of the LMS is to establish an ongoing process that will make hazard mitigation part 
of the daily routine for the entire community. The LMS identifies hazards based on the history of 
their occurrences and lists goals, objectives, strategies, and actions that will reduce or eliminate 
long-term risk to life and property from these hazards. Hazard mitigation is most effective when 
based on an inclusive, comprehensive, long-term plan that is developed before a disaster occurs. 
It is widely accepted that the most effective mitigation measures are implemented at the local 
government level, where decisions on the regulation and control of development are ultimately 
made. Implementation of planned, pre-identified, and cost-effective mitigation measures not only 
helps reduce loss of life, destruction of property, and damage to the environment, but also aides 
in the decision making process during the recovery and reconstruction following a disaster.  
 
The 2016 LMS has undergone major revisions from the previous version. In spring of 2014 
Flagler County Emergency Management hired a full-time mitigation planner. This newly created 
position was the impetus that inspired a renewed and energetic approach by the county toward 
mitigation initiatives. Future updates to the plan will be conducted in conjunction with the LMS 
Working Group and will continue to be a foundation for mitigation projects and prioritization 
throughout county government, municipalities, and other organizations within the county.  
 



2-1 
 

2.0	–	Planning	Process	
The Flagler County LMS was originally developed in 1999 by a multi-jurisdictional Working 
Group including officials from Flagler County, the Town of Beverly Beach, City of Bunnell, 
City of Flagler Beach, City of Palm Coast, Town of Marineland, representatives from local 
businesses, and civic groups. Since 1999, the LMS plan has been updated every 5 years and 
adopted by each of the municipalities in Flagler County. The Flagler County School Board, 
although they have participated in previous years, will formally adopt the 2016 LMS for the first 
time.  
 
When Flagler County Emergency Management (FCEM) came under new leadership in 2014, the 
decision was made to hire a full-time mitigation planner to enhance the county’s capabilities. 
The newly created mitigation planner position’s main task was to build a comprehensive county-
wide mitigation program that brought all stakeholders together and maximized funding 
opportunities.  
 
With the help of a dedicated mitigation planner, the nearly defunct LMS Working Group was 
given new life. Today, the Working Group email distribution list contains more than 150 
individuals representing all municipalities and many public and private entities throughout the 
county and region. The distribution list specifically contains contact information for people from 
all six Flagler municipalities, elected officials, state level partners, non-governmental 
stakeholders, such as the Red Cross and local businesses, neighboring counties, and many other 
interested parties and individuals. The full contact list can be found in Appendix A.  
 
The LMS Working Group acts as a local coordination committee to support and recommend 
projects for various grant programs; recommends to other regulating agencies or organizations 
ideas on how to better mitigate the community against natural disasters; and provides educational 
outreach to the general public about ways to prepare for disaster and mitigation opportunities for 
their homes and businesses. The Working Group identifies local and regional government 
agencies that perform mitigation related functions and continually reviews existing plans, 
policies, and ordinances for mitigation elements. The Working Group also continually develops 
and updates the list of hazard mitigation initiatives, which is sent to the Florida Division of 
Emergency Management (FDEM) every January to satisfy Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.) 
27P-22.   
 
The 2016 plan was completely rewritten and reorganized. Updates include comments received 
by FDEM via the previous plan crosswalk and the inclusion of information relating to new 
guidance material from the state, FEMA and other organizations and incorporation of 
components from FEMA’s Community Rating System (CRS) program’s floodplain management 
plan (Section 510) requirements.  Each section of the updated LMS details how the material was 
reviewed, how it was determined changes needed to occur, and a brief description of the 
revisions that were made.  
 
The LMS update process was overseen by the county’s mitigation planner. In the summer of 
2015, the mitigation planner was able to recruit two graduate students majoring in planning for 



2-2 
 

the fourteen week summer semester. Together these three formed the Planning Sub-group and 
took responsibility for scheduling meetings, proposing various subgroups, presenting concepts to 
the Working Group, collecting information from stakeholders, and revising the plan. 
 
It was determined that the most efficient way to gather information and input would be through 
the use of sub-groups, a proposal that was supported by the Working Group. Sub-groups could 
harness the knowledge of subject matter experts while not overburdening others. In addition to 
the Planning Sub-group, a Floodplain Management/CRS Sub-group was created to ensure the 
updated LMS is able to capitalize on the potential points available under Section 510. A 
Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) Sub-group was formed to put emphasis on one of 
Flagler County’s most threatening hazards. A Strategy Sub-group was formed with people who 
had an interest in providing input into the prioritization process, project list, maintenance, and 
the strategic direction of the LMS. 
 
Incorporating requirements of the CRS section 510 floodplain management planning process for 
both the LMS and CRS required a group that met at various times to discuss the drafting of the 
plan. The CRS Sub-group that was established was required to include both stakeholders and 
participants from the public in order to meet the needs of CRS 512 1(b). The CRS floodplain 
management planning components are incorporated extensively throughout this LMS. The CRS 
Sub-group met three times during the update process for the LMS. These meetings were 
coordinated with the LMS Working Group so that any members who wanted to participate could. 
All meetings were posted at least two weeks in advance on the Flagler County website with 
accompanying emails sent out for reminders. 
 
During the 2016 update process, a number of meetings were held. Each meeting was publicly 
advertised on the county website calendar and all LMS Working Group members were notified 
via e-mail and were encouraged to spread the word. Attendance records (sign in sheets) for each 
of the meetings have been included in Appendix B. A snapshot of the meetings held during the 
update process can be found below and more details are available in Appendix B. Before 2014 
only a few formal mitigation meetings were held and documentation of previous meetings was 
not retained. 
 
It should be noted that the Town of Beverly Beach and the Town of Marineland, though 
represented in the Plan on the Working Group with mitigation initiatives on the list, do not have 
the resources to attend all LMS meetings. Beverly Beach is a small community of less than 340 
people and the Town of Marineland has less than 10 people residing within their respective 
jurisdictions; neither municipality has any full-time employees. Flagler County and Flagler 
County Emergency Management represent the interests of these groups when they are not 
available to attend meetings. Information sharing is accomplished by communicating in person, 
over the phone, and through email status updates.  
 





3-1 
 

3.0 	–	County	Profile	
Flagler County lies in the north central part of Florida, roughly sixty miles south of its closest 
major metropolitan area, the City of Jacksonville. The county’s widest east-west length is about 
23 miles, and its longest north-south length is about 29 miles. It is bounded on the north by St 
Johns County, on the east by the Atlantic Ocean- with about 18 miles of beach front- on the 
south by Volusia County, and on the west by Crescent Lake, which it shares with its western 
neighbor, Putnam County. 
 

 
Figure 3.1: Flagler County's Municipal Boundaries 









3-5 
 

 Law enforcement stations 
 Schools 
 Evacuation shelters 
 Transportation facilities 
 Utilities such as power substations, pump stations and waste management centers 

 
According to GIS data, there are 114 critical facilities in Flagler County. An official assessment 
to determine both mission critical and standard critical facilities is still underway and the number 
of critical structures may change depending upon the completion of the assessment. Currently, 
the database determines assisted living facilities, some of which are in private residences, to be 
critical facilities. 
 



3-6 
 

 
Figure 3.3: Flagler County Critical Facilities 

3.3.2 Persons	with	Special	Needs	(PSN)	
There are currently 349 people registered with Flagler County’s Persons with Special Needs 
Program. An extensive assessment has been launched to verify and update the information of 
everyone on the list. This population is especially vulnerable not only because of their 
disabilities, but because they may also need to transportation and supplies very quickly before, 
during, and after a disaster event. This places a heavy responsibility on emergency services, and 
plans are currently in place to use as many transportation options as possible to transfer special 
needs patients to the appropriate shelters and care for them in the short term. 
 







3-9 
 

 
Figure 3.4: Major Employers in Flagler County 

 

3.1 Growth	and	Development	
Flagler County has seen tremendous growth since Palm Coast was incorporated in 1999. From 
2000 to 2010, Palm Coast was ranked as the fastest growing city in the nation, and that echoed a 
high growth rate across the county. In the year 2000, Flagler County had 49,832 residents; by 
2010 that number nearly doubled to 95,696 (92% increase).  
 







3-12 
 

using “innovative zoning techniques” where applicable.  The plan places large restrictions on 
building near or on conservation lands and water bodies, designating 8 creeks and 9 lakes as 
protected; this is a recurring theme in the future land use element, and rapid expansion westward 
will be restrained by these regulations.  
 
New communities that arise in unincorporated Flagler County will be subject to a Development 
of Regional Impact review, and must have certain public facilities such as schools and central 
water utility services. In contrast to incorporated Palm Coast, new and old rural communities are 
required to have a compact “grid” style to save on street maintenance costs and allow for ease of 
access. The communities must also transition spatially from a higher density in the center, 
stepwise to agricultural density on the outskirts; this is called the “village center” concept which 
provides “an attractive and functional mix of living, working, shopping and recreational 
activities.” 
 
The largest unincorporated community in Flagler County is Daytona North, a mobile home estate 
subdivision close to Crescent Lake to the west that hosts around 2.000 residents. The area is 
chiefly rural, with unpaved roads and some small businesses that also serve a nearby 
campground. Flagler Estates is another large community, with an estimated population of 1,000 
to 1,500 residents on 10,000 acres of land. Homes in this community are on large, one acre+ lots, 
with some growth projected in the future as considerations are being made to extend local roads. 
Both Daytona North and Flagler Estates are expected to expand as the County grows.  
 
Remaining communities such as Cody’s Corner, Bimini, Dupont, Favoretta (formerly Favorita), 
Espanola, Hammock, Korona, Painter’s Hill, and the subdivisions south of Marineland 
(Marineland Acres included), are either remnants of trading posts and crossroads from very early 
in the County’s history, or are young, small communities that are not expected to become 
incorporated or grow much further in the future. Most unincorporated communities in Flagler 
County were family owned and run farms and trading posts or were the vision of small 
developers.  

4.1.1b City	of	Palm	Coast	
The City of Palm Coast, recently incorporated in 1999, has steadily crafted a very in-depth land 
use code. The city limits the development of several activities and structures such as livestock 
operations, dog farms, incinerator plants, junkyards and salvage yards, race tracks, and paper 
mills. The city uses a master planned development standard that will aid largely in the 
construction of single-family homes and smaller retail spaces with limited high-rise offices 
limited to less than three stories and big-box stores less than 50,000 feet. As a pre-planned 
community of 45,000 single-family lots, Palm Coast’s housing supply is composed mainly of 
single-family homes on ¼ acre lots. The supply of multi-family housing is limited, however, the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan and land development code includes policies and regulations to 
promote master planned development(s). Such master planned development(s) allows and 
permits greater flexibility in the development of alternative housing supply (multi-family, 
duplexes, etc.) as well as the development of mixed use buildings in the city. Such flexibility is 
intended to promote a greater diversity and better balance in the City’s housing variety and to 
promote walkable, pedestrian-friendly developments such as the Palm Coast Town Center. 



3-13 
 

4.1.1c City	of	Flagler	Beach	
Flagler Beach was incorporated in 1925.  It has a standard land use code, with some exceptions.  
Building height is restricted to 35 feet above existing grade. The City’s most recently adopted 
floodplain ordinance requires two feet of freeboard above base flood elevation for all new 
construction. The Florida Department of Environmental Protection enforces its Coastal 
Construction Control Line through the building permitting process, which limits building 
seaward of the line to non-permanent structures, like dune stairways. Many of the wetland 
parcels bordering the ICW have been zoned for preservation. On individual privately owned 
parcels bordering the wetlands, a 25-foot buffer exists from the wetland boundary to the 
allowable building footprint. The City’s Comprehensive Plan, which has been incorporated into 
its land development regulations, has goals, objectives, and policies that provide safeguards for 
future development within these sensitive areas and design guidelines for its historic downtown 
area.  

4.1.1d City	of	Bunnell	
Bunnell is the third most populated city in Flagler County, but the largest in terms of land area. 
Its future land use plan takes into account the myriad of conservation areas and natural resources 
that it encompasses. Because of the flood zones in the city’s area, Bunnell’s first policy is to 
ensure that future developers take steps to mitigate this hazard by building above the standard 
base flood elevation by at least one foot and clustering as many structures away from floodplains 
as possible. 
 
Bunnell takes it majority rural status seriously, and the future land use plan allows for incentives 
in order to keep as much green space as possible. Like Flagler County, Bunnell adopted a 
“clustering” technique that keeps development into one central area with appropriate transitions 
to agricultural zones.  

4.1.1e Town	of	Beverly	Beach	
The Town of Beverly Beach has an area of less than one-half square mile. Despite the town's 
small size, it has various components within its boundaries. One part is a campground 
overlooking the ocean with up to 155 spaces, and a small oceanfront motel. Residential 
developments include Surfside Estates, a 55-and-older mobile home community, Shelter Cove, 
Osprey Point, and Oceanside Condominiums. Currently on the upswing in population, permanent 
residents number approximately 350, with another 150 seasonal residents. Although the 
population has declined in recent years, it is thought that the population should rebound above 
350 in 2015 due to an increase in development, according to the town clerk. Sunset Inlet, a new 
31 unit single-family home development, with each home having two or three stories and private 
boat slips, is nearing completion, with about half of the homes occupied. Several single-family 
homes are also in the planning and construction phase in Osprey Point and Shelter Cove, as well 
as on the oceanfront. These all are contributing to the increasing population of the town. In 
addition, there two commercial properties in the planning stage for additional development. 

4.1.1f Town	of	Marineland	
The Town of Marineland has a population that includes both part time and full time residents, 
fluctuating between six and sixteen throughout the year. Its residents are generally comprised of 
students and teachers from the University of Florida who research marine life at the college-
owned Whitney Laboratory. The 0.35 square mile town’s jurisdiction extends out 3 miles to 



3-14 
 

international waters and is comprised of land in northeastern most portion of Flagler County and 
southeastern most portion of Saint John’s County. Marineland’s most significant economic 
drivers primarily consists of the Whitney Laboratory and dormitories, dock and marina facilities, 
and the Marineland Dolphin Adventure--an entertainment and swim-with-the-dolphins marine 
mammal park that is also listed on the National Register of Historic Places as Marine Studios.  
Future development within the next 10 years will most likely include phase 2 of the marina 
expansion, a new seafood restaurant, and other commercial additions near the town center.  

4.1.2 Land	Use	
The following maps provide an overview of the land use and future land use throughout the 
county. 
 







3-17 
 

 
Figure 3.7: Future Land Use in Flagler County 

Source: Flagler County Planning and Zoning 
 



4-1 
 

4.0 	–	Risk	Assessment	
Flagler County has a long history of dealing with hazards, specifically several types of natural 
hazards. Due to its subtropical location and long coastline, the county is particularly susceptible 
to severe tropical weather and the heavy wind and rains it brings. As such, this plan will focus 
heavily on tropical events and the mitigation of wind, floods, and storm surge hazards. In 
addition, Flagler has a marked history of extreme wildfire events that occur frequently during 
drought conditions. Tornadoes and severe thunderstorms also present a frequent threat to the 
community and efforts are in place to educate the community about what to do during a storm 
event.   
 
In order to better understand mitigation, it is important to thoroughly understand every hazard 
that commonly affects Flagler County- natural, technological, and human-induced. This hazard 
assessment also helps to supply information to the county’s Comprehensive Emergency 
Management Plan (CEMP). To fully comprehend the hazards that could affect Flagler County, 
research on their characteristics and historical impacts was conducted and must be periodically 
reviewed and revised as conditions change. For the 2016 plan update, the LMS Planning Sub-
group first considered the general types of hazards that exist, researched Flagler’s history, and 
then determined which ones commonly occurred in the county. The list of hazards was presented 
to the LMS Working Group for their concurrence and input. In addition, minor historical 
occurrence updates were added to all of the existing hazard profiles. Drought was adjusted to 
include both the Keetch-Byram Index and the Palmer Severity Index in order to capture more 
information. Some additional hazards were profiled for this update, including erosion, coastal 
flooding, extreme heat, and severe storms, as their likelihood of occurrence and impacts have 
been sufficiently recognized and documented, while one hazard, freeze/winter storm/severe 
winter weather, was removed due to the unlikely occurrence and limited impacts. Another 
hazard, nor’easters, was removed from the profile as its occurrence and impacts are more often 
captured as other profiled hazards. The hazard previously identified as hurricanes has now been 
changed to tropical cyclones to be more inclusive of the impacts and occurrences of tropical 
storms not reaching the hurricane definition.  Sinkholes and earthquakes were both considered 
for profiling inclusion, but ultimately determined not to be a hazard affecting Flagler County. 
Additional natural hazards included, but profiled to a lesser extent due to a current lack of 
research, records, and monitoring, include tsunamis, salt water intrusion, and sea level rise. 
Manmade hazards, to include technological hazards and human-induced incidents, have also 
been considered and profiled, to the best extent possible given the information available.  
 
Throughout Section 4 numerous places will refer to “Flagler County”, which is used to reference 
all of the area within the county boundary. The terms “unincorporated county” or 
“unincorporated Flagler County” are used when referencing only the areas under the jurisdiction 
of the county government. For the purposes of this risk assessment analysis, buildings owned by 
the School Board will be covered by their respective municipal location’s analysis; the same is 
true for other participating non-profit organizations like the Red Cross. For instance, if a school 
is located in Bunnell, it will be evaluated as a part of Bunnell’s building count and value unless a 
separate analysis was deemed necessary.   
 





4-3 
 

Storm Surge 
§4.6 

Yes Yes Impacts of storm surge can exacerbate the effects of 
flooding and erosion within Flagler, particularly in and 
around the shoreline, Intracoastal Waterway, and 
Crescent Lake. Many homes could be damaged or 
destroyed by storm surge. 

Wildfire 
§4.7 

Yes Yes Flagler County is prime territory for wildfires because of 
its thick pine forests with dense underbrush. The entire 
county was once evacuated because of the severity of 
multiple fires.  

Extreme Heat 
§4.8 

Yes Yes Florida is known for its heat. Average temperatures in 
Flagler reach 90°F or higher in the summer with even 
higher heat indices. There are some recorded cases of 
heat indices reaching 107°F+ and impacts to the 
population can be wide-ranging.  

Drought 
§4.9 

Yes  Yes Droughts occur cyclically in the area, especially during 
La Niña. Both the Floridan and Surficial Aquifers that 
run through the state are important to the drinking water 
supply. Droughts can have a high impact on the 
population, but little impact on infrastructure and 
buildings.  

Erosion 
§4.10 

Yes Yes Because of the frequency of tropical cyclones and coastal 
storms in the area, erosion has caused major problems 
and millions of dollars in damages. 

Tsunami 
§4.11.1 

Not 
Yet 

Partially While there is some tsunami hazard for the Atlantic 
Coast, they are an extremely rare hazard in Florida, and 
the probability of future tsunami events is considered 
‘low’ by the 21013 State of Florida Enhanced Hazard 
Mitigation Plan. This is an example of a low-frequency, 
high-damage event that every coastal community should 
prepare for, but will not be evaluated as extensively as 
other hazards in this plan. 

Saltwater 
Intrusion 
§4.11.2 

Yes Partially This is a newly identified hazard in Flagler County. 
Saltwater intrusion can ruin drinking water supplies and 
cause the abandonment of drinking water wells. Much is 
still not known about this hazard and how it will impact 
the county. 

Sea Level Rise 
§4.11.3 

Yes Partially Sea level rise is a slow process that is occurring along the 
Atlantic coast as a result of the changing climate. This 
newly identified hazard will require observation and 
planning for increased impacts from other hazards such 
as coastal flooding, storm surge, and erosion.  

  



4-4 
 

Infectious Disease 
Outbreak 
§4.11.4 

Not 
Yet 

Partially This county has not seen any large epidemics within the 
past century, but it should remain ready for a possible 
outbreak. 

Technological: 
Hazardous 
Materials 
§4.12.1a 

Yes Partially Although a major hazmat incident has a low probability 
of occurring, there have been a few historical occurrences 
over the past few decades and it should be considered in 
this document due to the potential population impacts. 
This analysis will include transportation, 302 facilities, 
and other hazardous material related incidences. 

Human-caused: 
Terrorism 
§4.12.2a 

Not 
Yet 

Partially Significant terrorism incidents have not historically 
occurred within the county and are not probable to occur. 
If a terrorism incident were to occur it would be very 
difficult to predict and could potentially harm a large 
portion of the community.  

Human-caused: 
Civil Disturbance 
§4.12.2b 

Yes Partially Civil disturbance incidents have occurred in Flagler 
County, though not in significant numbers or having 
significant impact. This hazard can be very difficult to 
predict, but the likelihood of future occurrence is 
probable. Depending on the type of disturbance, the 
effect could range from small and insignificant impact, to 
large and damaging.  

Earthquake No No Tremors have occurred far off-shore, but there are no 
recorded major earthquakes in the county’s history and 
no major fault lines nearby. Florida sits on the trailing 
margin, also known as a passive margin, of the North 
American tectonic plate. For this reason Florida is in a 
very stable position in terms of its location with respect 
to tectonic plates and earthquakes are extremely rare. 
According to the 2014 U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 
National Seismic Hazard Map, the peak ground 
acceleration (PGA) with a 2% probability of exceedance 
in 50 years for Flagler County is between 2-4% gravity 
(g), the second-lowest probability level mapped. As such, 
this hazard, though considered, will not be further 
evaluated in this plan. 

Nor’easters Yes No Nor’easters were profiled as a standalone hazard in the 
previous LMS. It is a cold-core, low-pressure extra-
tropical cyclonic system that moves along the east coast 
with winds that blow over coastal areas from a 
northeasterly direction. These storms however, usually 
develop north of Flagler County, and generally move 
north or northeastward, making their likelihood of 
occurrence low. Furthermore, when nor’easters do affect 
Flagler, their impacts are more often captured as other 
profiled hazards such as severe storms, tropical cyclones, 
flooding, coastal flooding, storm surge, or erosion. As 



4-5 
 

such, this hazard has been removed from further 
evaluation in this plan. 

Severe Winter 
Weather 

Yes No Flagler County is in a subtropical zone that does not 
regularly see freezing temperatures even during the 
winter. There are some cases of hard freezes that have 
impacted crop development and prompted warnings for 
residents; however, these cases are of very low frequency 
and property damage is kept to a minimum. Overall, 
severe winter weather is a low- frequency, low-impact 
hazard that has been removed from further evaluation in 
this plan.  

Sinkholes  No 
 

No Naturally occurring sinkholes have not occurred in 
Flagler County and are not likely to occur due to the soil 
makeup and high water table. As a result, this hazard 
though considered, will not be further evaluated in this 
plan.  

Technological: 
Dam Failure 

Yes No The 2013 State of Florida Enhanced Hazard Mitigation 
Plan ranks Flagler County as ‘No High or Significant 
Hazard’ for dam failure, as there are no dams in Flagler. 
There are weirs however, that slow the flow of water 
along drainage canals for easier control. A complete 
failure of a weir is not expected to cause any drastic 
flooding. If a weir failure were to occur, it could pose a 
minor threat to some infrastructure but the water behind 
each is not immense, and a failure of one weir would not 
cause a chain reaction to others. Weirs are closely 
monitored and well maintained; therefore, their potential 
failure will not be evaluated further as a hazard in this 
plan.  

 



4-6 
 

4.1 Severe	Storms	
Florida is considered the thunderstorm capital of the United States. A thunderstorm forms when 
moist, unstable air is lifted vertically into the atmosphere. The lifting of this air results in 
condensation and the release of latent heat. The process to initiate vertical lifting can be caused 
by:  

 Unequal warming of the surface of the Earth  
 Orographic lifting due to topographic obstruction of airflow  
 Dynamic lifting because of the presence of a frontal zone.  

 
Flagler County and the rest of central and north Florida are particularly susceptible to severe 
weather, especially during the summer months. This is because of a local weather phenomenon 
called the sea breeze. The sea breeze is a result of uneven heating in the daytime between the 
land and surrounding ocean. This pressure difference causes winds to flow onto the peninsula 
during the daytime since land heats faster than water.  
 
Thunderstorms affect a relatively small area when compared to a hurricane. The typical 
thunderstorm is 15 miles in diameter and lasts an average of 30 minutes. Despite their small size, 
all thunderstorms are dangerous. Of the estimated 100,000 thunderstorms that occur each year in 
the United States, about 10 percent are classified as severe. A severe storm is defined by the 
NWS as a storm that produces hail of at least 1 inch in diameter, or contains winds of at least 58 
mph. Severe storms often come with the potential for flooding, tornadoes, and frequent lightning.  
 
Thunderstorms in Florida may be best known for their prolific lightning. Lightning, an integral 
component to a thunderstorm, strikes an average of 1.2 million times each year in Florida1, the 
second most of any state, even though it is ranked 22nd in total land area. This means that there is 
an average of 21 flashes per square mile per year, the highest density of any state. It occurs when 
the positively charged area, often on the ground but can also be another part of the cloud, is met 
with negative charges in the clouds, causing a discharge of intense heat and energy. Lightning is 
a culprit in many forest fires, structure fires, and personal injuries and deaths.  
 
While storms may be best known for their lightning, they can also pack a major punch when it 
comes to winds. Storms can contain microbursts, downbursts and straight-line winds. These 
winds have the potential to reach in excess 100 mph and are their damages are often confused by 
the public to be from tornados. Damage from severe thunderstorm winds account for half of all 
severe reports in the lower 48 states and is more common than damage from tornadoes. Most 
thunderstorm winds that cause damage at the ground are a result of outflow generated by a 
thunderstorm downdraft. Storms with severe straight-line winds often also have hail and 
tornadoes. 
 
Hail forms when a strong updraft of warm air circulates into a severe thunderstorm, bringing 
moisture with it. Water droplets are lifted far into the atmosphere and freeze at great heights 
eventually falling back down when their weight exceeds the force of the updraft. If this process 
is repeated several times for the same droplet of water, then it is frozen over and over, creating a 

                                                 
1 http://www.lightningsafety noaa.gov/stats/05-14_Flash_Density_State.pdf 





4-8 
 

Baseball-sized hail fell upon crops and dented mobile homes and cars, causing $2 million in 
damage in just 15 minutes. This was in a time where the county was only sparsely populated; 
damage today would have been markedly worse. Farmers were struck the hardest; major losses 
were reported to cabbage and potato crops, while a car dealership lost nearly $800,000 in new 
vehicles inventory to the hail. The storm that struck the area pelted Flagler with hail until it 
reached the ocean where the stones shrank to around pea-sized.   
  
Most recently (2014-2015), there have been 10 entries into NCDC for 6 different hail events with 
sizes ranging from .75 inches to 1.75 inches. In all, the NCDC list contains 78 reports for 62 
different days with hail. Hail stone sizes varied from pennies to baseballs (1960-June 2015). 
 
Flagler is no stranger to lightning incidents either. The NCDC lists 32 separate significant 
incidents since 1998. In that time period, almost a quarter million dollars in damages were 
reported, along with 8 injuries. In 2009, a 12 year old boy was struck unconscious and partially 
paralyzed. In 2011, lightning sparked a house fire in Palm Coast causing $50,000 in estimated 
damage. In 2014, a young male was struck while inside an outdoor tent. He had to be 
resuscitated and was subsequently hospitalized for a week. Most recently, in September 2015 a 
radio control tower at the Emergency Operations Center was struck by lightning. The strike and 
resultant power surge damaged the electrical and technological devices on the tower including 
antennae, transfer switch controls, a solar beacon, and hvac system, estimated to total over 
$11,000 in damages. 

4.1.2 Extent	
Thunderstorms themselves are not measured in magnitude, however, the components of a 
thunderstorm are. Winds can be extreme and anything over 58 mph (50kts) is considered severe 
but winds can reach in excess of 100 mph. Tornadoes (profiled separately) spawning from severe 
storms can easily be associated with winds of over 100 mph. Based on historic events, Flagler 
County could expect to see thunderstorm winds between 80-100 mph during a severe event.  
 
Hail can also have far-reaching impacts. Magnitudes of up to nearly 3 inches have been 
previously described, which has the potential to devastate crops, cause significant injuries or 
deaths, severely damage cars and homes, and cause roadway accidents due to shattered 
windshields. The largest hail that has been recorded in the State of Florida has been 4.5 inches. 
While extremely rare, it is possible for Flagler County to see hail that large, but a more likely 
extreme scenario would be hail of up to 3 inches in diameter.  
 
The magnitude of lightning can be measured by its frequency on a scale called Lightning 
Activity Level (LAL). This scale is used by the NWS as part of fire weather forecasts. The LAL 
is the number of cloud to ground lightning strikes observed or forecasted to occur within a 30 
mile radius of an observation site.  
 
According to the NWS, a level 6 does not occur in Florida, as dry storms occur mostly in the 
western United States. However, a LAL of 5 can occur, and it only takes one lightning strike to 
the ground to spark a massive wildfire or cause extensive damage to a structure.  
 
 







4-11 
 

 
Figure 4.2: Flagler County Mobile Homes 

 
To analyze older homes within the county, data was obtained from the Census Bureau which 
detailed the year built for homes. The data contained information for homes built between 1940 
and 1998 and is currently the most updated available (even as of 2015). In 1993, Florida officials 
scrambled to correct the Building Code that failed during Hurricane Andrew. In March of 2002 
the revised Florida Building Code went into effect. The code changes made the following 
improvements:  

1. Resilience against wind pressures  
2. Protection against wind-borne debris  
3. Improved roof covering  
4. A product approval system to ensure that all construction materials are of quality and 

up to code  
5. Improvements to window ratings and labeling- this data assumes that the homes built 

before 1999 in the dataset have not been retrofitted or improved against high winds 
and the associated hazards. 













4-17 
 

4.3 Tropical	Cyclones	
A tropical cyclone is a rapidly rotating storm system characterized by a warm, low-pressure 
center, strong winds, and a spiral arrangement of thunderstorms that produce heavy rain. 
Depending on its location and strength, a tropical cyclone is referred to by names such as 
hurricane, typhoon, tropical storm, cyclonic storm, tropical depression, and cyclone.  
 
During the early stages of formation, prior to hurricane development, tropical systems are often 
designated as tropical depressions. Tropical depressions form when a low pressure area is 
accompanied by thunderstorms that produce a circular wind flow with maximum sustained winds 
below 39 miles per hour. Tropical depressions are watched closely for development but not 
tracked for historical purposes. If any impacts occurred from tropical depressions, they would be 
reported as severe storms, erosion or flooding. Tropical depressions are designated as a tropical 
storm once the maximum sustained winds reach or exceed 39 miles per hour. Once reaching 
tropical storm status, storms are given a name for historical tracking purposes. Tropical storms 
strengthen over warm waters (80+ degrees Fahrenheit) while interaction with the upper levels of 
the atmosphere, also known as wind shear, remains non-turbulent. When conditions are right, the 
center of circulation closes tightly and rain bands begin to form as wind speeds rise. At 74 miles 
per hour, the winds become severely damaging and the storm is called a hurricane.  
 
Tropical cyclones typically form over large bodies of relatively warm water. They derive their 
energy through the evaporation of water from the ocean surface, which ultimately re-condenses 
into clouds and rain when moist air rises and cools to saturation. This energy source differs from 
that of mid-latitude cyclonic storms, such as nor'easters and European windstorms, which are 
fueled primarily by horizontal temperature contrasts.  
 
Commonly, with some notable exceptions, the storms that affect Flagler County form during 
hurricane season (June 1st through November 30th) and originate at varying locations in the 
Atlantic Ocean, Caribbean Sea, and the Gulf of Mexico. The magnitude of hurricanes is 
measured in distinct categories ranging from 1 to 5, known as the Saffir-Simpson Scale, with 5 
being the most intense. Storms reaching category 3 and higher are considered major hurricanes 
because of their potential for significant loss of life and damage. 
 
Tropical cyclones are often associated with storm surge, which is the greatest threat to life and 
property from a hurricane along the coast. The size of a hurricane and how fast it is moving, the 
depth of the water along the coastline and the topography where the storm makes landfall affect 
the surge produced. In years past, a certain range of storm surge was associated with each 
category of hurricane on the Saffir-Simpson scale; however, in 2010 it was removed because of 
the number of factors that went into determining how bad storm surge could be for each storm. 
Storm surge is profiled in this plan as a separate hazard.  
  







4-20 
 

Hurricane Charley – August 13, 2004 
Charley was a small, but powerful hurricane that strengthened very rapidly in the Caribbean 
before striking Punta Gorda in southeast Florida as a category 4. The intense winds flattened 
entire pine forests and scattered debris far inland on a thin path of destruction. Charley also 
moved very quickly, lessening the flood and wind impacts over Flagler County. Despite this, the 
county still suffered power outages and some street flooding, as well as school and road closures 
in some areas. Flagler County sustained $23.3 million in damages to homes and businesses 
according to local news reports. Charley was the first of three hurricanes to affect Flagler County 
in a six week period and was a testament to the complacency that occurs after years of relative 
silence in the tropics; the sudden easterly variance in its track caught many residents off guard. 
According to a NOAA report, “media and residents seemed to have focused only on the exact 
forecasted track of the center of Charley, rather than the cone of uncertainty which NHC 
(National Hurricane Center) had included in these track forecasts.”  
 
Hurricane Frances – September 7, 2004 
Frances formed in the deep tropical Atlantic in late August and reached category 4 strength a few 
days later. The slow-moving storm meandered west-northwest until it stalled between the 
Bahamas and the eastern coast of Florida as a category 2. Frances’ disorganized eyewall meant 
that winds were kept to a bare minimum on the surface, but its extreme size and slow movement 
meant that a Texas sized area was encompassed with massive amounts of rainfall and often 
sustained tropical storm force winds for periods of 12 to 24 hours. Over 20 tornadoes touched 
down, causing sporadic damage across the state. Because of Flagler County’s position relative to 
the storm, the beaches sustained significant storm surge and severe beach erosion. Over a 72 
hour period, Flagler accumulated 4 to 8 inches of rain by radar estimate. This flooded homes and 
rivers were pushed to flood stage.  
 
Hurricane Jeanne – September 27, 2004 
After days of looping around in the Atlantic basin, Hurricane Jeanne made landfall in nearly the 
same location as Frances only weeks earlier. The system moved on a similar path as Frances, but 
at a greater speed. Flagler was again left in the periphery of the storm, sustaining tropical storm 
force winds and torrential rains. Structural damage was associated mostly with mobile homes 
and weak roofs that had already sustained a beating from the previous two storms. Wave heights 
of 20 feet were recorded along with a small surge associated with high astronomical tides. Beach 
erosion was once again extensive because of the long duration of off-shore winds as well as the 
on-shore flow of water caused by the rotational angle of the storm. Days of flooding from 
Charley and Frances were compounded by Jeanne who dumped rain on already heavily saturated 
ground for many hours. What would have been a sustainable rain event of just 3 to 5 inches of 
water turned into sheet flooding, river flooding, and washed out roads. 
 



4-21 
 

 
Figure 4.6: Hurricane Strength Wind Swaths from 2004 in the State of Florida 

 
Tropical Storm Tammy – October 5, 2005 
Tammy was a short lived relatively weak tropical storm that passed close to Flagler’s shores 
from south to north. Because of the disorganized open circulation, rainfall was kept to a 
minimum, but some minor flooding did occur. Beach erosion of up to two feet was reported in 
both Flagler and St. Johns counties as a result of storm surge. 
 
Hurricane Wilma – October 24, 2005 
Hurricane Wilma was one of the most powerful hurricanes to hit the Caribbean basin in recorded 
history. Peak sustained winds reached an incredible 175 mph and the storm was used as an 
example of the increasing hurricane strengths and frequencies that have been seen over the past 
few decades. Flagler County sustained some minor damages as winds reached over 50 mph 
sustained in Flagler Beach with some minor street flooding reported elsewhere. A fast moving 
cold front picked up the storm and sent it out to sea rapidly. 
 
Tropical Storm Alberto – June 13, 2006 
Alberto made landfall along the northeast Gulf coast and moved north-northeast across northern 
Florida. Flagler County was caught in the more powerful northeastern quadrant, which in this 
case contained the bulk of the rainfall and severe weather. Trees and power lines were downed 
across the area, and wave heights reached 6-9 ft on the beaches. Rainfall totals in northeast 
Florida ranged from 2 to 6 inches, causing some minor flooding along low lying roadways. The 
rainfall was much needed at the time since the area was recovering from a minor drought period.  
 
  



4-22 
 

Tropical Storm Andrea – May 9, 2007 
Andrea formed off the southeast coast of the United States and was the eighth earliest cyclone in 
recorded history and the first May cyclone since 1981. High surf occurred at Flagler Beach with 
6 to 8 foot breakers. Andrea caused significant beach erosion along Flagler County beaches. Due 
to high surf and storm surge, the famous Flagler Beach Pier was closed to visitors during this 
time, and the Florida Department of Transportation had to fill in areas near the seawall with sand 
to prevent instability in both the wall and on A1A.  
 
Tropical Storm Barry – June 3, 2007 
Though Barry was quickly classified as a tropical depression, high winds still impacted the coast 
of northeastern Florida as the broad area of circulation moved across the state from the Gulf of 
Mexico. Rainfall totals were estimated at 1-3 inches in Flagler County once again relieving an 
extended drought occurring in this year. The Flagler Beach Pier was also closed again due to 
high waves.  
 
Tropical Storm Fay – August 23, 2008 
Fay moved from the Gulf of Mexico across the Florida peninsula into the Atlantic Ocean. Fay 
then slowly curved to the west and made landfall near Flagler Beach. Sustained winds were 
between 40 and 50 mph with higher gusts, with minimal storm surge. Because of the slow 
movement of the system, Fay dumped nearly 15 inches of rain on Flagler over a 72 hour period, 
causing massive flooding in all areas of the county. Trees and power lines were downed across 
the county, though structural damage was minor. A major disaster was declared for the state on 
August 24, and nearly $30 million was approved for assistance statewide. 
   
Tropical Storm Beryl – May 27-28, 2012 
As a weak tropical system, Beryl produced heavy rainfall across Florida even before it became a 
tropical storm. The system slowly formed and drifted north along the Atlantic coast, dropping 
2.25 to 5.43 inches of rain on Flagler County over a period of one week. Beryl finally made 
landfall near Jacksonville with minimal wind speeds, but bringing high surf and rip currents to 
Flagler County. A surfer was killed in Daytona Beach (30 miles south of Flagler County) due to 
the large, powerful waves. Winds peaked at around 50 mph along the beach in Flagler County. 
Some trees were downed on top of power lines, but no damage estimates were presented for the 
county.  
 
Tropical Storm Debby – June 25, 2012 
An intense rain event, Tropical Storm Debby produced anywhere from 5 inches to over 2 feet of 
rain over northeastern Florida, causing historic river flooding. Spotters reported over 7 inches of 
rain in Palm Coast. Winds blew trees down onto power lines. A major disaster was declared on 
July 3rd for Florida, but Flagler County was not included in the incident zone, unlike its neighbor 
Putnam, who received public and individual assistance declarations.  No damage estimates were 
provided for Flagler County.  
 
Hurricane Sandy – October 25-27, 2012 
Though Sandy did not directly hit Florida, the powerful hurricane exemplified how these storms 
can still produce effects far from the center of circulation. As Sandy passed by the east coast, it 
blasted the beaches with strong surf and high winds. Storm surge was felt as far south as Miami 









4-26 
 

proximity to the Atlantic Ocean, the entire area of Flagler County is vulnerable to tropical 
cyclones; however, some structures are built to withstand hurricane force winds and would fare 
better than others. This section will focus mostly on the wind impacts from tropical weather. 
Flood related vulnerabilities are discussed in the flooding and storm surge sections. 

4.3.5a Methods	and	Limitations	
Using the FEMA-provided risk assessment program HAZUS (Hazards of the U.S.), an 
assessment was done to recognize the effects of a powerful fictional hurricane that makes a path 
through Flagler County at a certain speed. Named “Hurricane Maximum”, the storm makes a 
direct path through Flagler County, bisecting the area and evenly splitting the wind fields. For 
the purpose of this assessment, the hurricane is not the most powerful, but is instead an average 
of tropical cyclone intensities that typically have the potential to strike Flagler County at or near 
the county boundaries. The goal was to create a storm that could potentially strike Flagler with a 
reasonable wind speed, track, and forward speed. 
 
Limitations occur in the Comprehensive Data Management System (CDMS) database that 
accompanies HAZUS. This database contains census information for Flagler County which is 
not completely updated, especially since it has been five years since the last US census. The 
building stock has lagged behind as well, and some structures, such as Flagler’s Emergency 
Operations Center, have been inserted into the model manually. Not all buildings are accounted 
for. The model that was run and the results of it are for informational purposes only and provide 
a broad overview of the damage potential in a large hurricane.  

4.3.5b HAZUS‐MH	2.2	–	“Hurricane	Maximum”	Storm	Track	and	Derivation		
The following is the imaginary storm track that was 
produced manually using HAZUS-MH 2.2. A 
reasonable wind speed, trajectory, and track were 
selected to mirror past hurricanes that have brushed 
or struck Flagler County directly. Hurricane Floyd 
(1999) was an inspiration for this analysis, because 
of its high intensity (about 145 mph maximum wind 
speed) and its close proximity to Flagler. “Hurricane 
Maximum” is a what-if scenario that makes 
assumptions about the impact of Floyd if it had 
veered to the west and struck Flagler County instead 
of continuing its track northward into the Carolinas 
as a weaker storm.  
 

 
 

Figure 4.10: Hurricane Floyd-- 1999 
Track 









4-30 
 

Nearly all of the county’s building stock could be exposed to a major hurricane, and according to 
the HAZUS reports, over half could be destroyed as a result. The remaining buildings have the 
potential to be severely damaged, and very few would be spared from some type of damage. 
According to the HAZUS reports, nearly $10 billion of property could be damaged or destroyed 
in a powerful hurricane, and nearly $5 billion in contents are also exposed, both of which could 
lead to extreme insurance claim backups and issues.  
 
Newer buildings are slightly less vulnerable to tropical cyclone winds if they were built 
according to code and they will be even less vulnerable if they are built above code. Several of 
the Flagler County’s schools have been approved as hurricane evacuation shelters, meaning they 
have been built to high standards or they have been retrofitted. As of January 2016, buildings 
300, 400, 500, 600 and 700 of Belle Terre Elementary School, building 13 at Bunnell 
Elementary School, buildings 3 and 4 of Matanzas High School, building 400 at Wadsworth 
Elementary School, buildings 2, 7 and 8 of Palm Coast High School, and buildings 4, 6 and 7 of 
Rymfire Elementary School have been inspected and designated as safe evacuation shelters. In 
addition, building 9 at Bunnell Elementary School is in the process of being retrofitted with new 
windows and doors so that it can be better able to withstand hurricane force winds. 
 

4.4 Flooding	
Flooding is a general term that encompasses a wide variety of water inundation events. FEMA 
defines a flood as, “A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 2 or 
more acres of normally dry land area or of 2 or more properties from:  

 Overflow of inland or tidal waters; or 
 Unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source; or 
 Mudflow.” 

 
Flooding in Flagler County can occur as a result of many different weather events including 
severe thunderstorms, tropical cyclones, tsunamis, storm surge, high astronomical tides, or high 
groundwater coupled with seasonal rains. Flooding can also be caused by poor drainage resulting 
from flat topography, nonporous surfaces, clogged drainage systems, or overwhelmed or 
insufficient drainage systems. The county is dotted with numerous stormwater retention ponds, 
canals, storm drains, and weirs that hold back and retain water. However, even with these 
measures in place, the inundation of heavy rain or a period of several days or even weeks can test 
the fortitude of these flood control devices. In addition, the Floridan Aquifer lays only a few feet 
underground in some places, meaning there is little room for water to soak into the ground. 
 
Flooding that occurs along the immediate coastline, or pushes inward from that point, is referred 
to as coastal flooding. While coastal flooding can be seen as a subsection of flooding because of 
its more limited geographic description, it is further profiled as its own hazard in this plan 
because of the specific nature associated with it. Additionally, while storm surge is one 
contributing factor to coastal flooding, it also is specifically profiled as a standalone hazard. 
 
Floods can present many health-related hazards. After a flood has affected a structure, it can 
leave behind various contaminants that should be considered before re-entry. Things to consider 
include; damaged electric supplies, damaged structures, wild animals, broken glass, food 







4-33 
 

percent-annual-chance flood zone submit over 20% of NFIP claims and receive 
one-third of disaster assistance for flooding. Flood insurance isn't federally 
required in moderate-to-low areas, but it is recommended for all property owners 
and renters.  

 

 
Figure 4.12: Flagler County Flood Zones, August 2015 

 
Flagler County has several natural and manmade waters and low-lying areas that have greater 
potential to flood. In western Flagler, there is a system of lakes, including Crescent Lake, that are 
prone to flooding. In addition to the floodplains surrounding large water bodies and their 
tributaries, there are large areas within the county's interior which experience periodic flooding. 
These flood prone areas are generally the result of flat, poorly drained land where accumulated 
rainfall can overwhelm stormwater systems and result in water ponding on the surface. Flooding 
involving river flows and broad expanses of floodplains occur around Crescent Lake, Lake 
Disston, and the headwater area of Haw Creek, Dead Lake, the Matanzas River, and parts of the 



4-34 
 

Intracoastal Waterway. Flooding involving stream flow in narrow confined channels occurs 
along Bulow Creek, Pellicer Creek, parts of Haw Creek, Blackwater Branch, Sweetwater 
Branch, and the central portion of the Intracoastal Waterway. State Road A1A in Flagler Beach 
is prone to nuisance flooding/ponding during the typical summer afternoon thunderstorms. The 
flooding does not always pose a threat to structures, but it can cause rather significant puddles on 
the roadway and on the side of the roadway that can cause dangerous driving conditions. 
 
Other notable areas of flooding include the following:  

 Marineland Acres  
 Bird of Paradise in the City of Palm Coast 
 Old Kings Road North and Princess Place Area 
 Otis Stone Hunter Road and Hargrove Grade in Palm Coast 
 Daytona North and Water Oak Road 
 Old Haw Creek Road 
 Old Dixie Highway near I-95 
 Korona in Bunnell and  
 County Road 304 and Florida State Road 11.  

 
Flagler County currently does not have any dams or levees, but does contain a number of weirs. 
Weirs are a low dam built across a river or canal to raise the level of water upstream or regulate 
its flow. Many of the weirs in Flagler County are “low-headed,” meaning the amount of water 
controlled behind them is not immense. Weirs are closely monitored and well maintained. A 
complete failure of a weir is not expected to cause any drastic flooding, though it could pose a 
minor threat to some infrastructure. Furthermore, if a weir failure were to occur, it would not 
cause a chain reaction to other weirs. A complete failure of the largest weir, L-4, would cause 
water to be released into Graham Swamp, which would not affect any homes.  
 
Impervious surfaces are a major cause of flooding in Flagler County, but there are areas within 
the floodplain that provide natural mitigation functions against flood and storm hazards. These 
include the wetlands in northeastern Flagler County, the riparian buffer surrounding Crescent 
Lake (the Crescent Lake Conservation Area), the wetlands within Haw Creek Preserve, the dune 
line along the coast, Flagship Park, Gamble Rogers State Park, timberland areas, and various 
other swampy areas. Wetlands in particular, act as a sponge that trap and control flood waters. 
Contaminants and sediments that may have been collected as the flood waters traveled are 
filtered out from the various vegetation that that slows the water down.  

4.4.1a Repetitive	Loss		
Each year FEMA produces a list of Repetitive Loss (RL) properties. As defined by the NFIP, a 
RL property is a property for which two or more flood insurance claims of more than $1,000 
have been paid by the NFIP within a rolling 10-year period since 1978. If a property has had four 
or more claims of more than $5,000 or has had two or more losses that total more than the value 
of the structure, it is considered a Severe Repetitive Loss (SRL) property. All RL and SRL 
properties are subject to the Privacy Act of 1974, which means FEMA’s list is for official use 
only and communities are not allowed to publish any data or maps that may indicate specific 
addresses or locations. Communities may display RL information in the form of Repetitive Loss 
Areas (RLA), which are portions of the community that includes buildings on FEMA’s RL list 





4-36 
 

4.4.2 History		
Prior to the 1990s, much of the county was unincorporated and uninhabited. As the county 
continues to grow and more impervious surfaces are built, the climate changes, and sea level 
rises, the county will likely see increasing impacts from floods. Some of the most notable 
(recorded) flood occurrences are described below. 
 
One of the most extreme rainfall events in Flagler County was on October 11, 1989, when 
stationary thunderstorms dumped over 16 inches of rain in one day in Palm Coast. This caused 
flooding, stalled vehicles and road closures. However, due to the drought that year, once the rain 
ended the water drained off fairly quickly. 
 
Tropical Storm Gordon in November 1994 luckily only impacted Flagler County with heavy rain 
and flooding. As many as a thousand people were killed as the storm tracked through Central 
America, the Caribbean, and South Florida. 
 
In March 1998, heavy rain was recorded countywide, as well as significant flooding. 
Approximately $25,000 of damages was reported as a result, but likely there were no injuries. 
 
In October 2003, the heavy rain from a severe thunderstorm caused significant flooding of 
Florida Park Drive in Palm Coast resulting in the temporary closure of the road. 
 
Hurricane Frances in early September 2004 produced some countywide flooding as well as 
coastal flooding from storm surge. It was quickly followed by Hurricane Jeanne later that month 
which similarly resulted in countywide flooding. 
 
Tropical Storm Arlene in June 2005 had significant rainfall amounts across Flagler County, and 
had localized flooding in several areas, as well as coastal flooding. In September 2005, Tropical 
Storm Ophelia dumped upwards of 8 inches of rain across the county, flooding a few buildings 
and closing several roads. And just a month later Tropical Storm Tammy, with a rainfall average 
of only about 3 inches, several streets and neighborhoods were again flooded.  
 
In July 2006, significant flooding occurred as a result of thunderstorms, covering some Palm 
Coast streets (St. Joe Plaza near Palm Coast Parkway) in up to 2 feet of water and flooding many 
streets and driveways in Bunnell. 
 
In February 2007, a major squall line with multiple super cell thunderstorms moved across north 
and central Florida with tornadic activity in Flagler County and flooded parts of the 
unincorporated Daytona North community in western Flagler. One mile of County Road 205 
between Daytona North and State Road 100 closed due to 2+ feet of flooding. Later that year in 
October, widespread heavy rainfall from an extra-tropical storm dumped between 2 and 11 
inches of rainfall across several areas of the County. Low lying, flood prone areas were the most 
heavily impacted, as well as coastal regions. 
 
In August 2008, Tropical Storm Fay made landfall for the third time in Florida near Flagler 
Beach. Sustained winds along the coast were between 40 and 50 mph with gusts in the 60 to 65 
mph range. Storm surge ranged from 2 to 4 feet along the open coast. Areal flooding occurred 



4-37 
 

over much of northeast Florida with roads and small creeks flooded. Minor flooding of structures 
occurred across the area. Rainfall approached 15 inches for Flagler County.  
 
2009 was a year that had quite a few flooding events. Between May 16th and 22nd, an 
unseasonable cold front pushed through Flagler County while the ground was already saturated 
by previous rains. From the 17th to the 19th alone, over 11 inches of rain fell, and when the 
storms finally tapered by the 22nd, over 2-3 feet of water covered roads. In the vulnerable 
Daytona North community, several people needed to be rescued from homes. The rain turned 
agricultural fields into lakes, and nearly $45 million in crops were lost between Flagler, Putnam 
and St. Johns counties. The May floods produced 36 inches of rainfall within a week. Two 
months later in July, Palm Coast was subject to heavy rainfall amounts from a severe 
thunderstorm that camped over the city. Belle Terre Parkway, a major thoroughfare, was flooded 
in several places as a result. August brought more significant rain events with Bunnell, Palm 
Coast, and the Daytona North area of Unincorporated Flagler County all reporting street flooding 
and several road closures. Converging showers in early September finished off the significant 
flooding for 2009 when 3-5 inches of rain left sections of US1 flooded. No property damage was 
reported from that event. 
 
The May showers of 2010 brought two different flooding events in a two and a half week time 
span. Bunnell was subject to between 2 and 3 inches of rain in a very short period of time which 
resulted in some street flooding on SR 100, and then Palm Coast just 15 days later received 
between 2 and 5 inches of rain and several flood streets in the B section neighborhoods. 
 
In October of 2012, a cold front stalled over northeast Florida and dumped over 6 inches of rain 
in some places in the county. This event exposed a vulnerable road in Palm Coast, Barrington 
Drive, which had over 2 feet of water, and resulted in at least $1,000 reported property damages.  
 
In May 2013, severe local weather produced rainfall in excess of 7 inches. Several lakes 
overflowed and flooded surrounding areas and streets. No homes were reported damaged. 
However, during heavy rain events in July and August of 2013 there was flooding in the western 
portions of the county significant enough to cause roadway flooding and at least one washout, as 
well as several hundred dollars worth of property damage. 
 
2014 was another year of flooding events. Late July afternoon storms produced high rainfall 
amounts in short durations. Street and localized flooding was reported in the B section 
neighborhood. Heavy rainfall in early September flooded many of the secondary roads in the 
Daytona North area, before a series of slow moving storms moved through on September 26-27, 
producing up to 16 inches of rain in across several areas of Flagler County. Water drainage 
systems were overwhelmed as rainfall rates exceeded the flow rates. As a result, streets were 
flooded, pools overflowed, motorists stranded in flooded vehicles, and ultimately residents were 
asked to stay home and limit their water use to prevent unnecessary added strain on the system. 
In all, it was reported that 34 structures received minor damage from the floods, most of which 
did not have flood insurance. Though damages were estimated to be approximately $380,000, 
nobody was required to evacuate their homes. The flooded areas were mostly concentrated in the 
B and W sections, including the vulnerable road, Barrington Drive, with a few other reports in 
the S and L sections, and only had limited impacts to the agriculture sector. Localized flooding 







4-40 
 

4.4.5 Vulnerability		
As the history shows, Flagler County is quite vulnerable to floods. A GIS analysis conducted to 
determine more specifics of Flagler’s vulnerability by overlaying property appraisal data with 
flood zone data. Each zone in the county was considered (X, VE, AE, A, and 0.2%). Afterward, 
this information was coupled with planning data and critical facilities points to determine the 
types of buildings that reside in the flood zones. All zones are still considered somewhat 
vulnerable to flooding, even X and 0.2%. For the purposes of this vulnerability assessment, 
parcels that lie in zones A, AE, and VE will be considered “in a flood zone”, and parcels that lie 
in zone X and in .2% will be considered “not in a flood zone”.  
 
The following map identifies schools in and near the floodplain. Some schools belong to the 
school board and others are operated by other entities within the county and/or state. The school 
most at risk to flooding is Daytona State College. Many other schools, particularly those under 
the Flagler County School Board’s jurisdiction border flood zones and may be at risk during 
extreme events.  
 

 
Figure 4.16: Schools in the Vicinity of Flood Zones 











4-45 
 

property and lives, but it has strong environmental effects and can have major impacts on the 
local economy. Though coastal flooding in Flagler County is often the result of storm surge, 
there are some instances of high astronomical tides that have combined with intense pressure 
gradients to produce coastal floods.  

4.5.1 Location	
Areas subject to coastal flooding include those that are in an area called the Coastal High Hazard 
Area- also known as the area of special flood hazard- that extends from offshore to the inland 
limit of a primary frontal dune along an open coast and any other area subject to high velocity 
wave action from storms or seismic sources. The coastal high hazard area is identified as Zone V 
on FEMA’s Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs). 
 
The location of coastal flooding in Flagler County is similar to that of storm surge (see flood 
zone map in section 4.3.3). However, due to the nature of the events that cause coastal flooding, 
it is not expected to extend as far inland as storm surge, and as such is not likely to impact 
Bunnell. The areas in Flagler County most likely to be affected by coastal flooding would be 
those along the Atlantic coast and ICW, including Marineland, Beverly Beach, Flagler Beach, 
and unincorporated county, and the unincorporated low lying areas along Crescent Lake. 
Notably, along the Atlantic coast is Beverly Beach’s large neighborhood of Seaside Estates. 
Situated in a low-lying area between the ocean and the ICW, this neighborhood is fully 
developed with mobile homes and is very susceptible to coastal flooding. 

4.5.2 History	
While coastal flooding is sometimes only reported as flooding, there have been documented 
‘coastal flooding’ events in Flagler County in the past. Furthermore, there have been 2 coastal 
flood warnings and over 70 advisories, statements, and watches since 2006 in Flagler County3.  
 
The first recorded coastal flooding event found dated only as far back as September 29, 2003. It 
was noted that a high astronomical tide combined with a strong northeast flow led to minor 
coastal flooding and beach erosion.  
 
In September 2004, Hurricane Frances not only produced countywide flooding, but the storm 
surge, high tides, and heavy rain combined in Flagler Beach to produce coastal flooding along 
the ICW.  
 
In June 2005 when Tropical Storm Arlene dumped heavy rain across the county, the combination 
of that heavy rain and the storm surge from the tropical storm resulted in coastal flooding in 
Flagler Beach along A1A. Later that year in October, Tropical Storm Tammy also brought 
Flagler County some coastal flooding, this time along the ICW.  
 
In October 2007 another coastal flooding event occurred, attributed to the high tides coupled 
with the large waves produced from Tropical Storm Noel in the Bahamas. This storm caused 
seas to rise about 2 feet in neighboring St. Johns County. Flagler County did not have a recorded 
sea level rise as St. Johns County did, but coastal flooding at Princess Place Preserve along 
Pellicer Creek was noted, and water levels reportedly topped seawalls in Flagler Beach. 
                                                 
3 Iowa Environmental Mesonet – mesonet.agron.iastate.edu 



4-46 
 

 
In August 2011, Hurricane Irene formed several hundred miles southeast of Flagler County, 
sending wind and waves to the county’s shores. Luckily, there were no reports of widespread 
coastal flooding, though at least one seawall had water levels encroach upon and reach the top. 
Also in 2011, Flagler County was positioned in the tight contours between a high and a low 
pressure gradient. High winds of over 60mph were recorded along the beaches during squall 
lines presented by the low pressure situated in the Gulf of Mexico. Water crested the seawall on 
the beach and thousands of dollars of damage were recorded in Flagler County.  
 
In October 2012, Hurricane Sandy passed by offshore producing coastal flooding effects that are 
covered in section 4.03.  
 
In May 2013, the combination of heavy rain and storm surge again resulted in coastal flooding 
along A1A in Flagler Beach. 
 
In 2014, a very strong high pressure over Canada combined with a coastal trough offshore to 
funnel winds into a tight pressure gradient along the coast of North Florida. In Flagler, some 
minor overflow was reported in Hammock Beach on a road close to the beach. No damage 
estimates were reported.  

4.5.3 Extent	
One may expect the maximum extent of coastal flooding in Flagler County to be similar in scope 
to that of a Category 1 storm surge. Rain combined with coastal flooding from the Atlantic, 
ICW, or Crescent Lake may produce locally flooded areas with depths between 1 and 4 feet, 
although there is limited data available to support this conclusion. Damaged or destroyed homes 
and buildings, damaged or destroyed vehicles, damaged electrical, debris, mold, food and water 
contamination, vector-borne illness, crop loss, water and sewage system interruption/overflow, 
dangerous driving conditions, road blockages/closures, and school and business interruptions are 
all potential effects of coastal flooding in extreme circumstances. 

4.5.4 Probability	
Given the geography and that there have been 72 advisories, statements, watches, and warnings 
in the past 9 years, and 9 documented events in the last 12 years, it is quite probable to expect 
coastal flooding to occur about once per any given year. Whether it is through storm surge from 
a tropical cyclone or from a passing storm system, coastal flooding will remain a threat, 
amplified by future sea level rise. 

4.5.5 Vulnerability	
For the purposes of this plan, vulnerability from coastal flooding will be considered akin to storm 
surge since both are similar in scope. As such, the greatest vulnerability exists for homes and 
structures located within or intersecting the A, AE, and VE flood zones in coastal areas including 
those areas along the Atlantic, Intracoastal Waterway, Crescent Lake, connected waterways, and 
surrounding low-lying areas, as well as homes in and around those areas that were built below 
base flood elevation or slab on grade. 
 



4-47 
 

4.6 Storm	Surge	
A storm surge is an influx of sea or lake water pushed ashore by the strong winds in a storm. The 
vast majority of storm surges are tiny—usually a foot or two, if that—and only affect the 
immediate coastline with something locals would probably consider nuisance flooding. Stronger 
storms can create a storm surge great enough to destroy homes and businesses near the coast, and 
historic hurricanes like Katrina or Camille can generate a devastating storm surge that pushes the 
ocean miles inland, destroying thousands of structures, and potentially killing hundreds of people 
along the way. Damaged or destroyed homes and buildings, damaged or destroyed vehicles, 
damaged electrical, debris, mold, food and water contamination, vector-borne illness, crop loss, 
water and sewage system interruption/overflow, dangerous driving conditions, road 
blockages/closures, and school and business interruptions, are all potential effects of storm surge. 
 
Storm surge is very unpredictable because it is exceptionally sensitive to even the slightest 
changes in a storm, including the radius of the wind core, the trajectory, angle of approach, 
central pressure, and the shape of the coastal features. Localized features like bays, 
concave/angled coastlines and high tide can make storm surge worse. In addition, since the 
continental shelf bordering northeastern Florida is more gently tapered, storm surge effects are 
potentially greater than with a more sharply angled slope such as in South Florida.  
 
In Flagler County, storm surge events are not very frequent, and those that have occurred have 
not resulted in any recorded loss of life; however, events from both tropical systems and other 
weather features have resulted in some intense beach erosion, especially in the last few decades. 
As development continues to occur near the coastline, there is greater risk for sand dune 
depletion. Sand dunes are key to holding back the strong wave action.  

4.6.1 Location	
Storm surge can occur along any coastline within the county. Areas most susceptible to storm 
surge impacts and the resulting flood inundation include the barrier islands (specifically 
communities in the northeastern section of the unincorporated county area, the Town of 
Marineland, the Town of Beverly Beach, the City of Flagler Beach), land west of the Intracoastal 
Waterway, land in Palm Coast surrounding the canals, and areas surrounding Crescent Lake. The 
unincorporated community of Daytona North also has the potential to be affected by storm surge 
when it flows down the river from the north into Crescent Lake. 
  
Since storm surge is mostly wind driven, a hurricane approaching from the south east or south 
west has the potential to increase the magnitude of the problem, especially if Flagler County is in 
the northern quadrant of the storm, when winds from the east can blow water further inland. 
Depending on the wind direction during a storm event, the surge can affect different portions of 
surrounding water bodies. For instance, in the event that high winds are blowing to the northeast, 
more of the eastern sections of residences surrounding Crescent Lake will be affected. High 
winds sustained to the west/northwest region could cause surge to flood more western portions of 
the county past I-95 in some areas. 
 
SLOSH (Sea, Lake, and Overland Surges from Hurricanes) maps are the basis for Flagler 
County’s evacuation zones, as show on the map on the following page. Zones A through E in 
eastern Flagler County correspond to a storm surge inundation from the Atlantic Ocean. Zone F 



4-48 
 

lies along Crescent Lake to the west and corresponds to a storm surge that travels along the river 
and from the lake itself. 
 

 
Figure 4.17: Storm Surge Evacuation Zones in Flagler County (2015) 

4.6.2 History	
Since 1999, there have been 10 documented storm surge events that have occurred within the 
Flagler County region. There have been no major storm surge events recorded between 2012 and 
January 2016. 
 





4-50 
 

Parkway. The figure on the following page provides predicted storm surge depths for a worst 
case scenario.  
 

 
Figure 4.18: Predicted Storm Surge Depths for Flagler County 



4-51 
 

4.6.4 Probability	
Historic data for storm surge in Flagler County is not comprehensive. Using the historical 
documentation that is available, the probability of a storm surge event during any given year 
seems to be about a 55-60% chance, or roughly one event every 2 years. 

4.6.5 Vulnerability	
Hurricane evacuation studies were conducted throughout Florida to estimate the potential 
impacts from storm surge based upon several different hurricane scenarios. The SLOSH model 
takes into account the elevation of the land harnessed from LiDAR (Light Detection and 
Ranging) data. The variables in these equations include shoreline geology, water depths, bridges 
and roads, levees and dams. The final result was used to determine how far surge will inundate 
and at what depth. Emergency officials use these SLOSH maps to determine evacuation zones 
for hurricanes. 
 
SLOSH models are applied to several areas along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts call basins. 
Flagler County is a part of the jx3 basin in the Jacksonville area. The SLOSH models that are 
produced are an amalgam of the above mentioned variables, and a complete scenario includes a 
Maximum Envelope of Winds (MEOW) diagram juxtaposed with its own Maximum of 
Maximums (MOMs). These maximums are not a part of any single storm, but are in fact a 
composite picture of the very worst a storm can do.  
 
The following maps are the most updated SLOSH models from June, 2015. The red arrow on 
each map represents the direction the storm is moving, but not necessarily the exact path. 
  











4-56 
 

 
Figure 4.23: Schools in Flagler County in Hurricane Evacuation Zones 

 
The following table is an estimate of the losses that could be incurred if the Maximum of 
Maximums were to occur. Though this estimate seems extremely high (over half of the property 
value of the county), it is important to note some peculiarities. First, storm surge in the western 
parts of the county would come from Crescent Lake which is attached to a network of rivers that 
flow from the north and begin at the Atlantic Ocean. High winds and low pressure have the 
potential to push water down these rivers and into Flagler County. This is the reason for the “F” 
evacuation zone that lines Crescent Lake. Next, there is a network of canals in Palm Coast that 
line residential properties that, in the event of major storm surge, could easily overflow into 





4-58 
 

evapotranspration and precipitation in producing cumulative moisture deficiency in deep duff 
and upper soil layers. It is a continuous index, relating to the flammability of organic material in 
the ground.  
 

 KBDI = 0 - 200: Soil moisture and large class fuel moistures are high and do not 
contribute much to fire intensity. Typical of spring dormant season following winter 
precipitation. 

 KBDI = 200 - 400: Typical of late spring, early growing season. Lower litter and duff 
layers are drying and beginning to contribute to fire intensity. 

 KBDI = 400 - 600: Typical of late summer, early fall. Lower litter and duff layers 
actively contribute to fire intensity and will burn actively. 

 KBDI = 600 - 800: Often associated with more severe drought with increased wildfire 
occurrence. Intense, deep burning fires with significant downwind spotting can be 
expected. Live fuels can also be expected to burn actively at these levels. 

 
It is important to reiterate the majority of Flagler’s residents reside in areas surrounded by brush, 
called the ‘wildland-urban interface’. Mitigating fires is very difficult in these areas since this 
brush must be contained and pruned frequently to prevent overgrowth. Efforts to mitigate 
wildfire include fuel reduction, also known as prescribed burning, ordinances to regulate the 
growth of underbrush, and community-wide campaigns to encourage building with fire-resistant 
materials and landscaping.  

4.7.1 Location		
The entirety of Flagler County is vulnerable to wildfires in some fashion, whether it be from fire 
or smoke. The local ecology is made up of a few ecosystems: pine flatwoods, mesic scrub, 
forested wetlands, and cypress swamps near the peripheral of the county. Most of the land is 
made up of pine flatwoods due in part to its natural occurrence and because of timber farms in 
the western parts of the county. Flatwoods are characterized by tall pines (mostly slash pines) 
with heavy underbrush of saw palmettos and flammable pine needles, and other scrubs. Mesic 
scrub habitats are endangered to development and are made up of sand live oaks with sand or 
slash pines. Ground cover is usually sandy, making this ecosystem slightly less prone to fires. 
Flagler is also home to the typically wet cypress swamps, which usually do not burn except for 
once every 50 to 100 years.  

4.7.2 History	
There are many well recorded wildfire events in the county’s history and two extreme wildfire 
complexes that have escalated mitigation efforts in the past 30 years. The seven or eight fires that 
comprised the fires of 1985 occurred in three parts of Flagler County- through Palm Coast, 
Bunnell, and the small community of Korona. Fueled by 40 mph winds and a high drought 
index, these fires destroyed 202 homes and damaged an estimated 393 others. In 1998, there 
were 14 separate wildfires that burned over 82,000 acres over a period of 2 months. All but one 
fire was caused by lightning. El Niño had caused strong rainfall the preceding year, which 
increased the growth of vegetation. Hard freezes then killed crops and increased fuel for fires by 
early spring. In 1998, La Niña replaced El Niño, causing an intense drought. The average 
drought index for these fires was in the 790s out of a possible 800. The fires started in June, 
sweeping through Palm Coast burning over 1,100 acres, destroying 20 homes and damaging 17 



4-59 
 

others. Then in early July, numerous fire evacuations were ordered, culminating in an evacuation 
of the entire county beginning July 3rd and continuing through the morning of July 6th. During 
the first days of July, an additional 51 homes were destroyed and 175 damaged. In total, 71 
homes were destroyed, 192 damaged, over 82,000 acres had burned and approximately $3.7 
million had been expended by the county.  
 
The remarkable difference between these two great fires lies in the evacuation efforts. In 1985, 
there were approximately 10,000 residents affected by these fires, and only a few subdivisions 
were evacuated. By 1998, efforts to fight fires had improved considerably; however, there were 
now 40,000 residents and the fires that year converged in a way which forced the evacuation of 
the entire county, the first event of its kind in the history of the United States.   
 
There were four incidents of wildfire during 1999 affecting the entire county with at least 500 
acres burned.  In 2000 there was one wildfire recorded, and another in 2007 that burned at least 
6,575 acres. During the 2011 summer wildfires, nearly 7,000 acres of property within the county 
were burned as a result of 135 different wildfire events. While no structures or vehicles were 
damaged and there were no injuries or fatalities, a state of emergency was declared by the 
Governor as a result of the fires. In 2012, a dangerous, fast-moving wildfire burned nearly 50 
acres of land in March, which was then followed up by another wildfire in early April that while 
only burning the equivalent of two city blocks, forced the temporary evacuation of more than 10 
homes.  
 
In March 2013, what started as a small backyard brushfire in Beverly Beach grew to about an 
acre, consuming parts of a beach front home, the entirety of its palmetto-brush backyard, and 
parts of neighboring backyards. It also jumped State Road A1A, demolishing a segment of a 
beach access set of stairs. Complicating the firefighting efforts were strong winds, which carried 
embers into new locations and reignited areas that had since calmed down. Every local fire 
department – Flagler Beach, Palm Coast, and Flagler County, had units at the scene, as did the 
Florida Forest Service, then referred to as the Division of Forestry. Additionally, FireFlight, the 
county’s helicopter, was on the scene, working in concert with bulldozers from Florida Forest 
Service to combat and contain the flames. It was the first time in many years that an area beach-
side had experienced a fire danger of that magnitude. Just a few days later, a wildfire started 
southwest of Bunnell in a pine and cypress forest that burned over 200 acres. 
 
Though there have been many wildfires since then, the severity of the 1998 fires has not since 
been surmounted. These fires spawned a number of preventative efforts including a mitigation 
plan, several ordinances, a county emergency website, and an annual underbrush burning 
program run by the Florida Forest Service. Palm Coast and Flagler Beach each have wildfire 
mitigation ordinances to regulate the growth and maintenance of underbrush and hazardous 
vegetation within a prescribed distance of a structure. The county also utilizes prescribed burns 
to reduce hazardous fuel buildups.  
 
The following map displays the points of origin of brush fires and wildfires from 1991 to 2012 
from the Florida Forest Service. Not all of these reported points of origin resulted in large fires, 
but each ultimately had the potential to, given the presence of appropriate fire weather. 



4-60 
 

	
Figure 4.24: Fire Ignition Points from 1991 to 2012  

Source: Florida Forest Service 

4.7.3 Extent	
The magnitude of wildfires depends upon the above mentioned weather conditions. When certain 
conditions are met, such as high temperature, high winds, and significant drought, fires are far 
more intense and can spread faster. While it is unlikely a wildfire of 1998’s magnitude will occur 
again in Flagler due to the changes in mitigation, prevention, and equipment available to the 
county, something similar to the 2011 fires is more likely. In other words, 80,000 acres is not 
expected to burn at one time again, but it is reasonable to estimate a fire where 10,000 acres 
burns, per the Flagler County Fire Chief. 

4.7.4 Probability		
Droughts are important indicators for predicting the probability for wildfire to occur. Less 
moisture content creates conditions that are favorable for the occurrence and spread of wildfires. 
If prolonged drought occurs, more fuel becomes available for combustion. High values of the 
KBDI are an indication that conditions are favorable for the occurrence and spread of wildfires, 
but drought is not by itself a prerequisite for wildfires. Other weather factors, such as wind, 
temperature, relative humidity, and atmospheric stability play a major role in determining the 
actual fire danger present. 
 



4-61 
 

Fire weather occurs frequently in Flagler County, particularly during the months with minimal 
rainfall. Florida’s natural ecosystems are adapted to fire, but vegetative suppression efforts have 
a spotty history. Controlled burns in Flagler County are not as frequent as they once were, and 
the potential for a fire that starts from lightning is extremely high, especially in the dry periods 
after winter rains and June thunderstorms.  
 
Wildfire ignition density is the probability of a wildfire igniting in an area. The Southern Group 
of State Foresters created a Wildfire Risk Assessment Portal that modeled historic wildfire 
ignition figures from 1981 through 2007. Level 1 is considered “very low” probability, while 
Level 7 is “very high.” Of interest is the fact that the level 7 areas are mostly around heavily 
populated neighborhoods and inhabited agricultural fields where debris burning is common. The 
Level 1 areas are lightly populated or are conservation zones; while these areas are thickly 
forested, the lack of human interaction has kept fires to a relative minimum. Areas in white are 
considered non burnable.  
 

 
Figure 4.25: Wildfire Ignition Probability 

 
Wildfire events, such as large brush fires, in Flagler County will continue to occur annually. 
However, one could expect significant wildfires to occur less frequently or approximately every 
10-15 years. 

4.7.5 Vulnerability	
All of Flagler County is vulnerable to the impacts of wildfires. The western timberlands are 
exposed to intense heat during the summer, and unfavorable weather events may cause drought, 
rendering dense forests as dangerous tinder. Wetlands that dot the landscape of the county often 
contain tall, overgrown vegetation which, if dried out, has the potential to burn more fiercely 



4-62 
 

than other areas. The vast majority of structures in Flagler County are within the moderate to 
extreme wildfire risk area. Furthermore, in the Eastern portion of the county, there is a lot of 
connectivity between high wildfire risk areas where wildfire can easily spread throughout the 
whole area.  
 
When wildfires do occur, they bring with them a host of potential impacts. Besides the fire 
damage itself to structures, agriculture, wildlife, infrastructure, and people, wildfires can have 
tremendous secondary impacts. While smoke can create visibility and health problems, when 
smoke combines with high humidity in the evenings and early morning hours, dense fog can 
occur. This further impedes visibility and can cause large traffic accidents. Roads may need to be 
closed, restricting travel and commerce, schools and businesses may need be closed, and homes 
may need to be evacuated. 
 
The Wildland Urban Interface Index (WUI) measures the vulnerability of homes that border 
burnable vegetation. The information herein will rely on GIS and reports from the Southern 
Wildfire Risk Assessment Portal (SWRAP) tool from the Southern Group of State Foresters, a 
non-profit organization that is made up of representatives from the 13 Southern states, as well as 
Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands4.  
 
The goal of SWRAP is to gather information quickly and efficiently about wildfire risk 
assessment in the southern 13 states. The data from SWRAP is gathered from a number of 
different wildfire plans; Florida incorporated its 2010 risk assessment. The result is a number of 
map layers that can be used to identify areas that are the most vulnerable to wildfire, which in 
turn can be used in a number of different plans in order to justify budgeting and emergency 
response priorities. SWRAP can also be used for more specific needs, such as prioritizing areas 
for reducing potential wildfire fuel, or teaching communities about their explicit wildfire 
vulnerabilities; all of this can ultimately lead up to a change or strengthening of mitigation 
priorities and community policy.  
 
In order to conduct vulnerability analysis, GIS was used to match property appraiser and 
population data with data from the SWRAP Professional Viewer. SWRAP also has the ability to 
generate an automatic report with a detailed risk assessment for a chosen area. A comprehensive 
report for Flagler County has been included as Appendix C. According to SWRAP, WUI is a 
“rating of the potential impact of a wildfire on people and their homes.” This layer combines 
urban density and fire susceptibility with a “response function” that assigns a net worth change 
of a structure based upon how vulnerable it is to wildfire. The ratings range from -1 to -9, with -9 
representing the most “negative” impact. The most negative ratings are achieved in areas where 
urban density and flame lengths are high; vice versa for -1 ratings. For example, homes next to 
high fuel areas (dense underbrush, tightly grouped vegetation, or tall grasses) will reside in a -9 
area, while buildings that are not surrounded by any fuels will receive a -1 or 0 rating if an area 
is not burnable (lakes, parking lots, etc.). SWRAP’s WUI Risk Index is computed by building 
density; therefore, the data cannot be broken down in separate land uses (commercial, industrial, 
etc.).  

                                                 
4 http://www.southernwildfirerisk.com/ 



4-63 
 

 
Figure 4.26: Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) in Flagler County 

Source: Southern Wildfire Risk Assessment Portal 
  

























4-75 
 

4.10.3 	Extent	
Erosion alone is estimated to cause billions of dollars in damage yearly along the coasts of the 
United States. Flagler County has an overall long term shoreline change rate of -1 ft/year. 
Coastal erosion in Flagler County threatens oceanfront infrastructure, including the National 
Scenic Highway along SR A1A, and over 1,476 structures, with a combined structural and 
content value of approximately $340 million. According to the Feasibility Study, 300 feet is the 
approximate extent of shoreline recession Flagler County can expect from a 100-year storm, and 
that an estimated 1,320,000 cubic yards of sand would be required to replenish just the 9.7 miles 
of coastline studied.   
 
4.10.4 	Probability	
While there have been 7 documented erosion events in Flagler County over the past 16 years, the 
probability that coastal erosion will occur in the future is 100%. A Florida DEP shoreline change 
rate study conducted in 1999 concluded that Flagler County beaches are subject to cyclic erosion 
and accretion. Since erosion is a natural process, coastal communities will constantly struggle 
with its consequences, especially as sea levels rise and storm intensity increases. Furthermore, as 
coastal development continues to increase, Flagler County may experience accelerated erosion-
related consequences. 
 
4.10.5 	Vulnerability	
The coastal areas, including those areas along the Intracoastal Waterway, are most vulnerable to 
erosion. While Flagler County has significantly armored sections of its shoreline to provide some 
level of erosion control and protection, it remains one of the least armored shores along Florida’s 
east coast. When erosion is intensified by armoring structures, it depletes the sand deposits on 
the beach and creates a wash out affect. This can lead to depletion of sand dunes and exposure 
and instability of vegetation.  
 

 
Figure 4.32: Flagler County Armoring and Erosion Impacts 

 
Erosion puts thousands of residential, commercial, and public structures at risk of collapse. 
Erosion can reduce the embedment and damage the foundations of residential, commercial, and 
public structures if left unchecked, which may significantly compromise the structural integrity 
of the buildings. Structures located in and along the VE flood zone are some of the most 
vulnerable to this hazard. The impacts from erosion can also affect the habitat of endangered 
species such as the loggerhead sea turtle, the green sea turtle, the hawksbill sea turtle, the 
leatherback sea turtle, and shorebirds like the piping plover. Flagler Beach is dependent on the 
tourism economy which would be negatively impacted by major erosion incidents. Exposure of 



4-76 
 

buried infrastructure and the eroding of roadways can result in logistical and public safety issues 
for residents and tourists alike as access to homes, businesses, and transportation routes are 
impacted. Furthermore, SR A1A is the only north-south evacuation route for communities along 
the coastline, and as such, is an essential transportation corridor.  
 

4.11 Natural	Hazards	to	be	Researched	and	Monitored	Further	
This section incorporates all other hazards that can occur within Flagler County, but not enough 
information is known at this time to do a complete analysis. Flagler County Emergency 
Management and its participating jurisdictions will continue to monitor these hazards and add 
information when possible. 

4.11.1 	Tsunami	
Tsunami is a Japanese word meaning “harbor wave”, and it is a series of long waves generated 
by a disturbance that rapidly displaces a large amount of water. These disturbances are primarily 
associated with large, shallow earthquakes in coastal or deep ocean regions. Other triggers 
include landslides, volcanic eruptions, nuclear device detonation, and objects from outer space 
landing in the water. Although occurrences in Florida are rare, the impacts from tsunamis could 
be devastating. There is often no advance warning of an approaching tsunami, though an 
earthquake felt near a body of water may be considered an indication that a tsunami will shortly 
follow. They are sometimes called the “forgotten danger” because of their infrequent threat; 
however, tsunamis have the potential to cause damage far removed from the initial trigger as the 
energies for these waves can travel along fault lines and become concentrated, traveling vast 
distances across the open ocean as a tele-tsunami. 
 
There are no recorded cases of tsunamis on the shores of Flagler County after it became a county 
in 1917, but there are a few that occurred on the shores of north Florida that are worth noting. 
In 1755, before substantial colonies were established along the east coast, it is possible that a 
tele-tsunami struck that was generated from a massive earthquake in Portugal. The wave was 
recorded all around Europe and as far west as Cuba, Hispaniola, and the West Indies. Modeling 
indicates that the wave may have been as high as 10 feet off of Florida’s east coast. There are no 
historical reports of this wave striking Flagler County specifically though. In 1886, in what is 
now Jacksonville (specifically the Mayport Naval Station), the Florida Times Union newspaper 
reported a  “tidal wave” that came up the river a short ways, “the earth and houses shook like the 
leaves on the trees,” a local reported. This wave was most likely caused by a large earthquake 
that occurred on the fault system that lies along the South Carolina coastline. The quake is 
estimated to have been between magnitudes of 7.3 to 7.6 in today’s scale, which could generate a 
substantial tsunami if it occurred again.  
 
Since incidence rates of tsunamis are so low, and their effects on the area have not been recorded 
well, a vulnerability analysis would be vague at best. Flagler County coast is vulnerable to 
tsunamis, but since there are no recorded incidents to draw from, there is no way to tell of the 
effects it might have on the county, other than the inundation the subsequent wave could result in 
as it funnels water down the St. Johns River into Crescent Lake. (See the SLOSH model in the 
storm surge section for the general possible locations.) There is not enough historical data to 
properly predict an extent, but it’s possible that a wave could extend 200 or 300 feet inland, 



4-77 
 

depending upon the strength of the generating phenomena. However, it is possible that the extent 
of a tsunami could be magnified by the gentle sloping of the continental shelf that skirts the 
eastern Atlantic seaboard. When a wave emits from its source, the size when it strikes could be 
exaggerated because of a lower angle of approach.  
 
Not much is truly known about where and how tsunamis would impact the coastal regions of 
Florida, or Flagler County itself. There are no established risk percentages or return probabilities 
for this hazard type, but the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and the 2013 State 
of Florida Enhanced Hazard Mitigation Plan both state that the probability of a tsunami striking 
Florida is low.5  

4.11.2 	Saltwater	Intrusion	
According to the United States Geological Survey (USGS) saltwater intrusion is a generic term 
referring to an influx of saltwater through various pathways into an aquifer and is a major threat 
to freshwater resources. Under natural conditions, the seaward movement of freshwater prevents 
seawater from encroaching coastal aquifers, and the interface between freshwater and seawater is 
maintained near the coast or far below land surface. Movement can occur both laterally or 
vertically. Lateral intrusion is the most common and occurs when fresh groundwater is removed 
from the aquifer at a rate faster than can be replaced; heavier saltwater then moves laterally to fill 
this void.  Due to high demand of water and withdrawal by public supply wells and irrigation 
wells for agriculture, intrusion of saltwater inland has resulted. Saltwater intrusion can also be 
worsened by extreme events like hurricane storm surges. 
 

 
Figure 4.33: Depiction of Lateral and Vertical Saltwater Intrusion Processes  

Source:  ESSEA, 2015 
 
Aquifers that have potential for saltwater intrusion include the surficial aquifer system, the 
underlying intermediate confining unit, and the Floridan aquifer. All exist at different depths 
underneath Flagler County. The map below shows the locations of the aquifer system throughout 
the state. The construction of canals and drainage networks can lead to saltwater intrusion. 

                                                 
5 http://www.dep.state.fl.us/geology/geologictopics/hazards/tsunamis htm 



4-78 
 

Canals provide conduits for saltwater to be carried inland, as does the deepening of existing 
channels for navigation purposes. 
 

 
Figure 4.34: Florida’s Aquifer Systems (USGS, 2011) 

 
More than 90% of people living in northeast and east central Florida use groundwater that comes 
from an aquifer. Saltwater intrusion decreases freshwater storage in the aquifers, reduces the 
water available for human consumption and agricultural use, and in extreme cases can result in 
the abandonment of supply wells.  
 
There is a large contrast in chloride concentrations between freshwater and seawater. When 
water has a total dissolved-solids concentration less than 1,000 mg/L, it is classified as 
‘freshwater’, and when that concentration reaches 1,000 mg/L it is deemed ‘saltwater’. Seawater 
has a total dissolved-solids concentration of about 35,000 mg/L, of which dissolved chloride is 
the largest component (about 19,000 mg/L). As a comparison, the USGS says concentrations of 
chloride in fresh ground water along the Atlantic coast are typically less than about 20 mg/L. 
 
The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) sets the secondary maximum contaminant levels 
(SMCLs) for total dissolved solids and chloride in drinking water. Unlike maximum contaminant 
levels (MCLs) that have been established to protect the public against drinking-water 
contaminants that present a risk to human health, the secondary contaminant levels have been 
established as guidelines to assist operators of public-water systems in managing the aesthetic 
qualities of the water such as taste, color, and odor. The SMCL set by the USEPA for total 
dissolved solids and chloride are 500 mg/L and 250 mg/L respectively.  
 
There have been cases of saltwater intrusion within the state and within nearby counties which 
could indicate vulnerability on the east coast, particularly the shallow surficial aquifer. This 





4-80 
 

“replacement”) in late 2016 at a cost of $250,000, with $150,000 budgeted this fiscal year, and 
another $100,000 the next fiscal year.   
 
The City’s Consumptive Use Permit (CUP), issued by St. Johns River Water Management 
District in 2006, includes Special Condition 24, which required the drilling of three shallow 
piezometer wells near the production wells, and quarterly monitoring to track water levels in the 
surrounding wetlands.  The current CUP expires in August 2016.  It remains to be seen what, if 
any, Special Conditions, will be imposed by the District at that time.    
 
The City of Palm has reported salt water intrusion in 3 of the city’s 59 active wells. In 
accordance with Palm Coast’s Consumptive Use Permit authorized by the St. Johns River Water 
Management District, those affected wells, LW-14, LW-30, and LW-32 are currently 
‘production limited’ to specified millions of gallons per day (mgd) withdrawals by condition 
#40. Another 36 wells are monitored for water level, total dissolved solids, specific conductance, 
sulfates, and chlorides on a quarterly basis each year in accordance with the Palm Coast Salt 
Water Monitoring Plan. The city is currently in the process of building 5 new wells. These 
additional wells will not add to the total amount of water pumped out, thus reducing the 
production pumping rate (demand) at each individual well in an effort to reduce the vertical 
intrusion of saltwater at each well.  
 
Although no direct studies have been conducted on the rate at which saltwater intrusion has 
affected Flagler County, the figure below depicts chloride concentration ranges, in milligrams 
per liter (mg/L), as tested in 2013. Of note, portions of Flagler County show concentrations in 
the range of 250 to 1000 mg/L, and small pockets of the county may have exceeded 1000 mg/L. 
Continued monitoring may then allow for comparisons to historical values to determine 
historical trends, potential future extents, and the rate at which salt water intrusion is affecting 
Flagler County. 
 







4-83 
 

exacerbated by both global temperature increase and melting land ice. This accelerated rate may 
cause damage to many coastal features. 
 
The closest tidal gage to Flagler County exists in Mayport, Florida. The historical sea level rise 
calculated between 1928 and 2006 is recorded at an average of 2.29 mm/year. Seasonally, these 
levels change. March holds the lowest average mean sea level from 1928 to 2006, recorded at     
-0.083 meters below the average; October holds the highest at 0.211 meters above. 
 
The Hurricane and Storm Damage Reduction Project Report conducted by the USACE 
Jacksonville District in 2014 for Flagler County studied the current sea level rise situation and 
predicted future levels. The USASCE estimated future sea level using the historic trend and two 
curves from the National Research Council–Intermediate and High. The table below is based on 
the current sea level rise trends from historic data received from the study conducted by the U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers in 2014.  
 
Table 4.46: Relative Seal Level vs. Year for Flagler County 

 
 
The figure below provides a depiction of what each of the curve lines studied look like in 
comparison to each other. 
 





4-85 
 

 
Figure 4.37: Areas Potentially Impacted by Sea Level Rise 

Data Source: NOAA Coastal Services Center 
 

Looking at the data for the highest projection, the areas that would be inundated include parts of 
Marineland, Flagler Beach and Beverly Beach along the Intracoastal Waterway. At the highest 
possible sea level rise (2.29ft) over the next 50 years, several conditions may be present: 

 Property and infrastructure damage 
 Increase in storm surge effects 
 Species and habitat loss 
 Movement/destruction of dune systems 
 Population displacement 
 Job loss 





4-87 
 

Sea	Level	Rise	and	its	Effects	on	Storm	Surge	
A recent study examined the effects of one 
meter of sea level rise on storm surge in Flagler 
County using HAZUS. Using Hurricane Floyd 
(1999) as an example, two storm surge 
scenarios were created—one with base sea level 
and one with 1 meter of sea level rise— to 
examine how storm surge impacts would 
change given different levels of the sea. While 
Floyd was projected to brush the Florida east 
coast and eventually make landfall at or near 
Flagler County, it eventually curved northward 
leaving a wake of severe beach erosion and 
some wind damage along the beaches. 
 

Method	
HAZUS allows the user to select a scenario for creating a storm based upon several input 
methods. For this particular study, the option to <create your own scenario> was used to select a 
number of geographic points, wind speeds, and trajectory information based upon one of 
Hurricane Floyd’s early projected paths. This new storm was named “Floyd Prime”. The 
following map is a HAZUS generated prediction of wind speeds based on the proposed “Floyd 
Prime” track. 
 

Figure 4.39: Hurricane Floyd east of 
Savannah, GA (NOAA, 1999) 





4-89 
 

 
Figure 4.41: Projected Storm Surge for “Floyd Prime” Scenario without Sea Level Rise 

Source: Taylor Phillips Capstone Project/HAZUS, 2015 
 
 



4-90 
 

 
Figure 4.42: Storm Surge Projections for Hurricane "Floyd Prime" Given a 1meter Sea 

Level Rise 
Source: Taylor Phillips Capstone Project/HAZUS, 2015 

Results	and	Analysis	
One meter of sea level rise can increase storm surge by over four feet in some cases, up to a total 
of 22 feet. While this case is extreme, the inundation distance is also considerably farther inland. 
Palm Coast has several canals that are lined with expensive housing that could be under water in 
high storm surge events. 
 
The following tables are HAZUS outputs for the first model with no sea level rise for Hurricane 
“Floyd Prime”. Notable results include: 

 3,307 buildings are at least moderately damaged (30% of total in the scenario) 
 397 (10%) completely destroyed 
 Almost all buildings that could be affected are residential (76%) 
 100% of manufactured housing would be substantially damaged (180 units) 











4-95 
 

4.11.4 	Infectious	Disease	Outbreak	
An infectious disease outbreak includes any cluster of disease cases caused by a single bacteria, 
virus, fungi, or parasite that will cause side-effects and possible mortality to the individual. This 
hazard, as profiled, is not inclusive of intentional infectious disease outbreaks, which is profiled 
separately under the Human-Caused hazard, terrorism. 
 
An outbreak can be quite difficult to predict. Some disease outbreaks may be able to be handled 
under routine operating conditions, and are not expected to require even the partial activation of 
emergency management. Within this section are the infectious diseases that Flagler County has 
at least a moderate probability of both incidence and of prompting some level of EOC activation. 
Potential consequences of an infectious disease outbreak include both economic and social 
implications: significant casualty counts, overwhelmed providers, limited/no mutual aid 
assistance, degraded critical services, increased worker absenteeism, and closure of public and/or 
private facilities for long periods. 

Novel	or	Pandemic	Influenza	
A novel influenza (flu) virus is an influenza virus that has caused human infection and is 
different from current seasonal influenza viruses spreading among people. Novel influenza 
viruses can be viruses that originate in animals that gain the ability to infect and spread among 
humans or human viruses that change significantly so as to be different from current human 
seasonal influenza viruses. Most novel influenza viruses do not spread easily from one person to 
another. A pandemic influenza occurs when a novel influenza virus does spread from person to 
person and affects a very large number of people around the world. This may happen if the novel 
virus can spread efficiently from person to person, especially if most people do not have 
immunity to the new virus. People can have some immunity to novel or pandemic flu viruses that 
are similar to flu viruses they’ve been infected by it in the past.8  
 
During the 2009-2010 flu season, a new and very different novel virus emerged. Previously 
called Novel H1N1, the 2009 H1N1 influenza, began circulating in the population much earlier 
in the year than the typical ‘season’, peaking first in June and then again, and with greater 
incidence, in  late October. This virus caused the first influenza pandemic in more than 40 years, 
and has now replaced the H1N1 virus that was previously circulating in humans.9 Flagler County 
saw one confirmed case and several other ‘probable cases’ that were not confirmed.  
 
Historically, influenza pandemics have occurred every 11-39 years. The last three influenza 
pandemics (1957-58, 1968-69, and 2009-2010) were comparatively mild, but the pandemic of 
1918 killed 20 to 50 million people worldwide, including more than 500,000 in the United 
States. Many experts consider influenza pandemic to be inevitable, yet no one knows when the 
next one will actually occur. It is expected that effective preventive and therapeutic measures - 
including vaccines and antiviral agents - will be in short supply, as may some antibiotics used for 
treatment of secondary infections. Existing medical facilities may be quickly overwhelmed, 
requiring the use of non-traditional medical settings. Healthcare workers and other first 

                                                 
8 http://www.cdc.gov/flu/glossary/index.htm 
9 http://www.cdc.gov/flu/pastseasons/0910season htm 



4-96 
 

responders will likely be at even higher risk of exposure and illness than the general population, 
further impeding the care of victims.10 
 
Florida State Surgeon General and Secretary of Health Dr. John H. Armstrong recommends 
getting the flu vaccine each year, and early in the season, as it is “the single best way to protect 
yourself and your family against influenza”.11 
 
Meningococcal	Disease	
Meningococcal disease can refer to any illness that is caused by the type of bacteria called 
Neisseria meningitidis, also known as meningococcus. These illnesses are often severe and 
include infections of the lining of the brain and spinal cord (meningitis) and bloodstream 
infections (bacteremia or septicemia). 
 
Meningococcus bacteria are spread through the exchange of respiratory and throat secretions. 
Keeping up to date with recommended vaccines is the best defense against meningococcal 
disease, as four of the five most common types of these bacteria are preventable by vaccines. The 
disease is most common in infants and people with certain medical conditions, such as people 
without a spleen or with blood disorders. People at risk also include adolescents, in particular 
youth aged 16-23 years old and those living in close quarters, as well as the elderly and travelers 
to countries where meningococcal disease is common. 12 
 
Rates of meningococcal disease have been declining in the United States since the late 1990s. In 
2013, there were about 550 total cases of meningococcal disease reported nationally. 
Meningococcal disease is also seasonal– the number of cases generally peaks each year in 
January and February.13 In 2015, there were 50 meningococcal disease cases in Florida reported 
to the CDC.14  
  
Outbreaks of meningococcal disease, when there are multiple cases of the same bacterial 
serogroup in a specific population over a short period of time, are rare in the United States. 
However, the onset of an outbreak is unpredictable and the outcomes can be emotionally 
devastating to affected communities and organizations.15  
 
Measles	
Measles, also called rubeola, is a respiratory disease caused by a virus. It is highly contagious, so 
much so that if one person has the virus, 90 percent of the people close to that person who are 
not vaccinated will also become infected with the measles virus. Measles is a disease of humans 
and is not spread by any other animal species. It is transmitted by direct contact with infectious 
droplets and by airborne spread when an infected person breathes, coughs, or sneezes. 16 
 

                                                 
10 http://www floridahealth.gov/diseases-and-conditions/influenza/pandemic-influenza.html 
11 http://newsroom.doh.state.fl.us/wp-content/uploads/newsroom/2014/05/092614-Flu-Vaccine.pdf 
12http://www.floridahealth.gov/diseases-and-conditions/vaccine-preventable-disease/meningococcal-
disease/index html 
13 http://www.cdc.gov/meningococcal/surveillance/index html 
14 https://data.cdc.gov/NNDSS/NNDSS-Table-II-Lyme-disease-to-Meningococcal/7pb7-w9us 
15 http://www.cdc.gov/meningococcal/outbreaks/ 
16 http://www.floridahealth.gov/diseases-and-conditions/vaccine-preventable-disease/measles/index html 



4-97 
 

People at high risk for severe illness and complications from measles include infants and 
children under 5 years of age, adults over 20 years of age, pregnant women, and people with 
compromised immune systems. About 30 percent of measles cases develop one or more 
complications, including pneumonia, encephalitis, and ear infections. Even in previously healthy 
children, measles can be a serious illness requiring hospitalization. As many as 1 out of every 20 
children who contract measles will develop pneumonia, and 1 to 2 children in every 1,000 who 
get measles will die as a result of complications. Measles also can make a pregnant woman have 
a miscarriage, give birth prematurely, or have a low-birth-weight baby.17 
 
Measles is very rare in the United States as a result of vaccination efforts. Measles can be 
prevented with the MMR (measles, mumps, and rubella) vaccine. One dose of MMR vaccine is 
about 93% effective at preventing measles if exposed to the virus, and two doses are about 97% 
effective. In the United States, widespread use of measles vaccine has led to a greater than 99% 
reduction in measles cases compared with the pre-vaccine era. It was declared ‘eliminated’ from 
the United States in 2000, however there are still sporadic cases reported as visitors from other 
countries or U.S. citizens traveling abroad can become infected before or during travel and 
spread the infection to unvaccinated or unprotected persons18. 
 
Outbreaks in countries to which Americans often travel can directly contribute to an increase in 
measles cases in the U.S. Recent outbreaks in the U.S., as reported by the Centers for Disease 
Control, include19: 
 

 2013: The U.S. experienced 11 outbreaks in 2013, three of which had more than 20 cases, 
including an outbreak with 58 cases. One such outbreak was in Florida, where 9 cases were 
reported.20  

 2014: The U.S. experienced 23 measles outbreaks in 2014, including one large outbreak of 
383 cases, occurring primarily among unvaccinated Amish communities in Ohio. Many of 
the cases in the U.S. in 2014 were associated with cases brought in from the Philippines.  

 2015: The United States experienced a large, multi-state measles outbreak linked to a 
traveler who became infected overseas with measles, then visited the amusement park 
while infectious. No source was officially identified; however analysis by CDC scientists 
showed that the measles virus type in this outbreak (B3) was identical to the virus type that 
caused the large measles outbreak in the Philippines in 2014. 

 

4.12 Man‐Made	Hazards	
Man-made hazards are difficult to predict and rarely have warnings before the incident occurs. 
Past experiences do not generally indicate the probability or severity of future occurrences as 
there is rarely a scientific warning beforehand; events vary in kind and magnitude. There have 
been minimal past incidences within the county which would also make any chance of future 
occurrences unpredictable at best.  

                                                 
17 http://www.cdc.gov/measles/about/complications html 
18 http://www.cdc.gov/measles/vaccination html 
19 http://www.cdc.gov/measles/cases-outbreaks.html 
20 http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6236a2.htm#fig2 





4-99 
 

Figure 4.47: 302 Hazmat Facilities in Flagler County 
 
Finding the exact descriptions of all the historical occurrences within the past ten years was 
unable to be accomplished by the planning team. By utilizing information from various sources 
including Fire Rescue, Emergency Management, and the LMS Strategy Subgroup, a list was 
compiled based on the quantity and type of hazardous materials events that have occurred within 
the last ten years. A total of 575 hazardous condition incidents have occurred since 2005, making 
up 0.6% of the responses for Fire Rescue. Most incidents do not have any associated details or 
dates but the verifiable incidents will be listed in further detail following this table.  
 





4-101 
 

4.12.2a Terrorism	
There is no single, universally accepted definition of terrorism, and it can be interpreted in many 
ways. Terrorism, as defined by FEMA, is the use of force or violence against persons or property 
in violation of the criminal laws of the United States for purposes of intimidation, coercion, 
or ransom21. This definition is further expounded on to include threats of terrorism; 
assassinations; kidnappings; hijackings; bomb scares and bombings; cyber attacks (computer-
based); and the use of chemical, biological, nuclear and radiological weapons. The effects of 
terrorism can vary as much as the methods themselves—from loss of life and injuries, to 
property and infrastructure damage and disruption, and whether actual or threatened attack, can 
elicit fear and panic.  
 
Statistically, most terrorism incidents are carried out by a single perpetrator in a single location, 
and enclosed public spaces such as schools are frequent targets of such attacks.  Of note, between 
2008 and February 2016, among the Flagler County schools locations there was one bomb threat, 
one hazardous materials incident, one shooting incident, and one shots-fired incident. There were 
also 101 ‘threats’ that weren’t otherwise described, 187 suspicious incidents, and 64 weapons 
complaints. The Flagler County Sheriff’s Office (FCSO) was able to provide county-wide 
information on call types received between 2009 and February 2016. Of the 20,575 ‘Calls for 
Service’ FCSO received, 9 were for bomb threats, 98 for suspicious packages, 4 for cyber 
crimes, 26 for hazardous materials incidents, 85 for shootings and shots-fired, 1,646 for threats, 
15,758 for suspicious incidents, and 2,907 for weapons complaints. An important note on this 
data: These numbers are aggregate data on call types, and do not mean that each incident was 
correctly labeled or that any above incident was an actual or threatened terrorism incident. The 
data does however reflect the need for continued monitoring and further evaluation of this hazard 
in the future. 
 
Because there are no ‘high-risk targets’ for acts of terrorism in Flagler County, such as military 
facilities, international airports, or high-profile landmarks or tourist attractions, there is little 
likelihood that the religious, political, or ideologically motivated terrorism events most 
associated with domestic and international terrorism attacks would occur in Flagler County (as 
compared to the Oklahoma City Murrah Federal Building bombing or 9/11 attacks in New 
York). This condition makes the probability of terrorism related events less likely in Flagler 
County than elsewhere in the surrounding region, such as Daytona Beach, St. Augustine, 
Orlando, or Jacksonville areas. 
 
Although the probability of terrorism incidents is extremely low, any event would be the most 
harmful within areas of the greatest population density. Palm Coast would have the most highly 
susceptible residential area, as well as the majority of critical facilities. Numerous 302 facilities 
(facilities that have reported an amount equal to or greater than the Threshold Planning Quantity 
(TPQ) of any "Extremely Hazardous Substance" covered by EPCRA, also known as Title III of 
the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986) are spread out within the county, 
with government, hospital, law enforcement, school, and shelter buildings located quite near. 
While not the ‘high-risk targets’ of state or national significance, these critical facilities would be 
considered Flagler County’s higher risk targets. If a terrorism incident were to occur it would be 

                                                 
21 http://www fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1549-20490-0802/terrorism.pdf 



4-102 
 

very difficult to predict when or where it would happen, and depending on the method of attack, 
could potentially harm a large portion of the community. 

4.12.2b 	Civil	Disturbance	
Civil disturbance is a broad term used to describe any action by a person or group of people that 
disrupts a community and requires intervention to maintain public safety, such as riots, sabotage, 
sit-ins, illegal demonstrations, and other forms of public or governmental obstruction, excluding 
those acts classified as terrorism. Civil disturbances can cause extensive social disruption, lead to 
fatalities and injuries, and result in property damage. The loss and damages may result from 
those involved in the action or initiated by authorities in response to the perception of a potential 
threat. It can similarly damage the county’s or city’s reputation, which in turn may dampen 
future economic growth and result in negative psychological effects for residents and visitors. 
Furthermore, the response to large disturbances often require an enormous expenditure of 
money, resources and time to reestablish control and recover from property damage, business 
losses and revenue collections.  
 
While Flagler County is home to many ethnic populations originating from countries with 
divergent political, religious, and social systems, there have not been significant civil disturbance 
incidents arising from such thus far. Calls for service about civil disturbance incidents are 
difficult to track, as the calls are coded differently, depending on the situation. For instance, the 
incident may be coded using one of the disturbance headings (Verbal, Physical, or with Weapon) 
or as a description of the action, such as trespassing, depending on how the complaint is made. 
Because of the considerable variability in coding theses calls and the inherent inclusion of events 
other than civil disturbance events, ‘Call for Service’ aggregate data is not a valid indicator of 
civil disturbances in Flagler County. However, the possibility of local civil disturbance is not 
unnoticed, and will continue to be monitored and evaluated for future hazard profiling.  
 



5-1 
 

5.0 ‐	Mitigation	Strategy	
The mitigation strategy section is the piece of the plan that lays the groundwork for the 
foreseeable future. The goals and objectives, prioritization process and the plan maintenance sub-
sections make up the primary components of the mitigation strategy section and were the main 
responsibility of the Strategy Sub-group. Additionally, the strategy section contains information 
on common mitigation funding programs and the plan integration process. 

5.1 	Goals	and	Objectives	
Developing goals is important to the mitigation planning process. Goals and objectives help 
focus the efforts that the LMS Working Group would like to see take place. The LMS goals are 
broad statements of action while the objectives provide more specific guidance, and when 
undertaken and supported by mitigation initiatives, protect Flagler County’s assets. LMS goals, 
objectives, and guiding principles are used to provide direction in developing and prioritizing the 
list of hazard mitigation initiatives. Goals are tied to the proposed mitigation projects in the plan 
in an effort to ensure projects are consistent with the strategic direction the Working Group 
agrees upon. By matching up the goals and objectives with projects, LMS Working Group 
members can also identify if there are any gaps that need to be addressed.  
 
After evaluating the 2011 goals and objectives, it was determined that they were in need of a 
complete overhaul. It was unanimously agreed upon by the LMS Working Group, Planning Sub-
group and Strategy Sub-group that the goals should be re-written and to be more directly geared 
toward mitigation. Several state, county and municipal plans were reviewed to ensure proposed 
goals were consistent with existing planning mechanisms. Some examples of plans reviewed are 
the State Hazard Mitigation Plan, county Strategic Plan, State Continuity of Operations Plan, 
Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan, and Comprehensive Plan and other Florida 
county LMS plans. 
 
The hazard mitigation goals and objectives were created through a series of Strategy Sub-group 
meetings and LMS Working Group meetings. After proposing some goals to the LMS Working 
Group, the Planning Sub-group finalized the list and then developed draft objectives. The 
objectives were flushed out with input from the Strategy Sub-group and the LMS Working 
Group. The final draft of the goals and objectives was reviewed for one final edit by the Strategy 
Sub-group before being included within this document. Both the goals and objectives were 
established and approved by consensus from the Strategy Sub-group. 
 
The final list represents an overall mitigation mission of promoting and preserving the quality of 
life within Flagler County. The individual goals identified by the LMS Working Group are 
directed by the desire to protect the people and property of Flagler County from the effects of 
hazardous events. Goals will be reviewed annually and can be modified based on a consensus 
vote of the LMS Working Group. The goals are as follows: 
 
Goal 1: Minimize impacts from hazards to infrastructure, critical facilities, and property. 

 Objective 1.1- Reassess and identify all critical and mission critical facilities. 



5-2 
 

 Objective 1.2- Identify actionable mitigation projects that minimize vulnerabilities. 
 Objective 1.3- Reduce repetitive loss properties. 
 Objective 1.4- Promote Firewise techniques and principles in all current and future 

developments. 
 Objective 1.5- Improve the resiliency of transportation infrastructure. 
 Objective 1.6- Improve the resiliency of water and sewer facilities within the community. 
 Objective 1.7- Retrofit structures to withstand maximum physical impact from disasters. 
 Objective 1.8- Reduce or eliminate development in hazard prone areas. 
 Objective 1.9- Promote resilient structures for all future developments. 

 
Goal 2: Minimize the impact to natural resources (including water resources, wetlands, and 
coastal habitats). 

 Objective 2.1- Preserve open space. 
 Objective 2.2- Promote land acquisition in high hazard areas. 
 Objective 2.3- Promote environmentally sustainable prescribed burning. 
 Objective 2.4- Enhance coastal ecosystems that act as natural mitigation tools (including 

but not limited to dunes, wetlands, mangroves, and upland forests). 
 Objective 2.5- Identify efficient long-term solutions for erosion control. 

 
Goal 3: Promote community awareness of vulnerability and mitigation options. 

 Objective 3.1- Provide opportunities for public education about areas of high risk and 
personal susceptibility. 

 Objective 3.2- Inform the public of available residential and commercial mitigation 
grants. 

 Objective 3.3- Create user friendly mitigation tools. 
 Objective 3.4- Create outreach opportunities targeted to local contractors and 

homeowners for education on residential mitigation options. 
 
Goal 4: Reduce potential hazard related economic losses to businesses. 

 Objective 4.1- Create programs between businesses and local government for pre and 
post-disaster mitigation. 

 Objective 4.2- Raise awareness about local hazards, their vulnerability, and technical 
assistance available. 

 Objective 4.3- Encourage hazard mitigation retrofitting of local business buildings. 
 
Goal 5: Strengthen regional relationships in regards to mitigation among municipalities, 
agencies, and other organizations. 

 Objective 5.1- Identify areas where day-to-day programmatic activities have an effect on 
mitigation efforts. 

 Objective 5.2- Promote information sharing among groups through easily accessible 
sources. 

 Objective 5.3- Facilitate conversations to promote mitigation projects with regional 
impacts. 

 Objective 5.4- Maximize the use of available resources to further the implementation of 
CRS in the county and surrounding areas. 



5-3 
 

Goal 6: Promote methods of funding mitigation projects, including innovative methods.  
 Objective 6.1- Promote public/private partnerships for mutually beneficial mitigation 

funding.  
 Objective 6.2- Utilize existing and upcoming grants from state and/or federal agencies. 
 Objective 6.3- Encourage local governments to explore all opportunities to maximize 

project match funding.  
 
Goals and objectives are matched to prioritized projects in order to ensure projects are in line 
with the direction the LMS Working Group has set for the next five years. However, goals and 
objectives can be revised or added by the request of someone in the Working Group with 
approval from the Strategy Sub-group and consent from the overall Working Group to 
accommodate for the ongoing and evolving mitigation efforts. Goals and objectives will be 
evaluated annually as a part of the plan monitoring process.  

5.2 Project	Prioritization	
Prioritizing projects in a consistent manner is important to determining which projects should 
receive funding first, as they will have major impacts in the community. Prioritizing projects 
identified during the risk assessment process and frontloading grant applications will help the 
county be able to more quickly obtain post-disaster funding for projects that are “shelf-ready”. 
The evaluation of a project using the prioritization process provides each project a score. Projects 
that receive higher scores will be the first to receive funding during a presidential declaration or 
when other funding methods become available.  
 
The previous project ranking procedure was reviewed by the county’s mitigation planner and it 
was recommended to the Strategy Sub-group that some fields be added to the project information 
sheet and that the ranking process be revised to better evaluate projects. The Strategy Sub-group 
concurred and a new process was thoroughly discussed. The outline of the previous LMS project 
sheet was used as a foundation for the current project scoring sheet. All elements of the project 
description page are required to be completed by the project sponsor/point of contact to ensure 
the prioritization process can be completed without needing any further information. It was 
important to the sub-group to make the prioritization process as easy and objective as possible.  
 
As an initial step of the project development process, project sponsors are asked to identify 
alternative projects and consider only ones that they believe will receive a Benefit Cost Analysis 
(BCA) score of 1.0 or higher. Project sponsors can work with technical specialists at the Florida 
Division of Emergency Management’s Bureau of Mitigation to run initial BCAs using the 
FEMA BCA toolkit if they are unsure as to whether or not a project would have a high return on 
investment. All information collected on the project information sheet plays a role in the overall 
benefit cost review of a given project. 
 
The process for creating the prioritization method included loosely following FEMA’s 
‘STAPLEE’ method to encompass all aspects of reviewing mitigation actions. In filling out the 
project evaluation sheets, the following questions are answered: 

 Is the project consistent with the LMS goals? 
 Does the project address mission essential or mission critical facilities? 



5-4 
 

 Are the financial benefits expected to be greater than the 
project costs? 

 Does the project benefit or harm the environment? 
 Is the project “shelf-ready”? 
 Is there legal opposition? 
 Is the project socially equitable? 
 Are funding sources available?  
 Would there be acceptance from the community?  

 
Each of the 9 criterion were then weighted based on what the 
Strategy Sub-group deemed as the ‘most important to consider’ or 
the ‘least important to consider’. Criteria were given a weight of 1-
4, with 4 being the most important.  
 
Each criterion was then split into three or five levels to which a score 
of 0-4 could be assigned. A score of 4 translates to positive 
characteristics of the project and a score of 0 means the project may have significant room for 
improvement. In order to avoid bias when scoring, the Strategy Sub-group assigned descriptions 
for each score under the criterion. All scores (0-4) are then multiplied by the ‘weight’ (1-4) and 
totaled to give the project a final priority score. The highest score a project can receive is 80 
points.  
 
After the prioritization process was finalized, the Planning Sub-group presented the Strategy 
Sub-group with a project information sheet and project scoring matrix. To test the objectivity and 
usefulness of the prioritization method, the Planning Sub-group selected a project scored by the 
previous method, and then used the new prioritization project matrix to have determine its new 
score. All group members were able to agree on the final project score based on the defined 
category descriptions, thereby validating the new scoring criteria and process. 
 
Individuals or organizations sponsoring projects are encouraged to score their own projects 
before turning in the sheets. Projects will be presented to the LMS Strategy Sub-group for 
evaluation and discussion by the sponsoring person/organization. It will be the Strategy Sub-
group’s responsibility to determine whether or not they feel the project is scored appropriately. 
For instance, projects may be eligible for more points than the sponsoring organization realizes 
or they may be too generous with the scoring process in order to get more points and rise in the 
priority list. Project sponsors will be allowed to justify the scoring of their projects but will not 
be allowed to partake in the overall consensus voting of their project. Once consensus is 
achieved, the project will move on for final approval from the overall LMS Working Group. As 
of 2016, this is a trial process and if warranted, a new process may be proposed for support by 
the greater Working Group.  
 
The Strategy Sub-group is open to all individuals who participate in the LMS Working Group. 
When possible, the Strategy Sub-group will meet directly before the quarterly LMS meeting. All 
meetings will be publicly advertised. Items discussed in the Strategy Sub-group meetings will be 
summarized in the LMS Working Group meetings and may be discussed at the regular working 
group meetings, if desired.  

Figure 5.1: Categories to 
Evaluate using FEMA's 

STAPLEE Method



5-5 
 

 
A copy of the project information sheet and scoring sheet along with instructions can be found in 
Appendix E. Individuals or organizations looking to submit projects can have a one-stop-shop 
for everything needed to fill in and submit a project information sheet. A copy of the project 
information sheet can also be found below along with an example scoring sheet. 
 





5-7 
 

	
Figure 5.3: Sample Project Scoring Sheet



5-8 
 

5.3 Funding	
Funding for mitigation projects is essential to success. Not all mitigation projects require large 
amounts of money to implement. Some projects can be relatively inexpensive to those that 
implement them, such as ordinances, outreach, and planning. Using creativity when looking for 
funding may also be advantageous. Other municipalities throughout the U.S. have had success 
partnering with private sector, using revenue from fees or taxes, getting homeowners to pay 
portions of projects, and pairing up multiple grants to minimize cost-share. Other cost share or 
funding options commonly used in Florida include:  

 Half-cent sales tax 
 Ad valorem tax 
 Stormwater tax assessment 
 Housing and rehabilitation fund 
 In-kind services 
 Impact fees/ Development exaction 
 Tourist tax local option 
 Revenue bonds 
 Permit fees 
 State revenue sharing 

 
Funding programs are constantly changing; therefore, it is important to remain attentive to all 
funding resources and review best practices for new ideas on funding projects. A few of the 
common mitigation project funding sources have been described below and on the following 
pages. 

5.3.1 Federal	Funding	
Many of the federal grants described below are administered by the Florida Division of 
Emergency Management (FDEM) on behalf of FEMA. More information can be found online 
and by contacting FDEM or the county emergency management office.   

5.3.1a Hazard	Mitigation	Grant	Program	(HMGP)	
The HMGP becomes available following a Presidential major disaster declaration in Florida. 
Counties that are declared as part of the disaster receive a set amount of money proportional to 
the amount of the funds expended under the disaster under the Individual Assistance (IA), Public 
Assistance (PA) and Small Business Administration (SBA) programs. Counties not declared as a 
part of the disaster may apply for any leftover funds on a first-come-first-serve basis. HMGP 
projects commonly include, but are not limited to, structure elevations, generators at critical 
facilities, drainage projects, structural retrofits (shutters, impact resistant windows and doors, 
etc.), acquisitions, and safe rooms. Projects are funded 75% by FEMA and 25% by a local cost 
share.  

5.3.1b Flood	Mitigation	Assistance	Program	(FMA)	
Typically funded yearly in the spring/summer, the FMA program helps states, local, and tribal 
governments reduce or eliminate long-term risks of flood damage to repetitively flooded 
structures insured under the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). This nationally 
competitive program prioritizes projects based on the greatest savings to the NFIP fund.  



5-9 
 

Common projects include acquisition, relocation, demolition reconstruction, elevation, drainage 
projects and floodplain planning. Projects are funded 75% by FEMA and 25% by a local cost 
share. Planning projects have a federal cost share cap of $25,000. If projects address Severe 
Repetitive Loss (SRL) properties the project may be eligible for 100% federal funding. If a 
project addresses Repetitive Loss (RL) properties, it may be eligible for a 90% federal share with 
a 10% local cost share.  

5.3.1c Pre‐Disaster	Mitigation	Grant	Program	(PDM)	
This nationally competitive program is designed to assist states, tribal governments and local 
communities in implementing a sustained pre-disaster natural hazard mitigation program. The 
program aims to reduce overall risk to the population and structures from future hazard events, 
while also reducing reliance on federal funding for future disasters. It is typically made available 
annually in the spring/summer. Projects commonly funded include, but are not limited to, 
structure elevations, generators at critical facilities, drainage projects, structural retrofits 
(shutters, impact resistant windows and doors, etc.), acquisitions, safe rooms, and local 
mitigation planning efforts. Projects are funded 75% by FEMA and 25% by a local cost share. 
 

5.3.2 State	Funding	
The State of Florida offers a variety of funding options to assist communities, organizations and 
homeowners with mitigation efforts. Some of the most common mitigation-centric funding 
sources have been described below.  

5.3.2a Hurricane	Shelter	Retrofit	Program		
In Florida a small fee is collected on each homeowner’s insurance policy to fund the Florida 
Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (FHCF). The purpose of the FHCF is to protect and advance the 
state's interest in maintaining insurance capacity in Florida by providing reimbursements to 
insurers for a portion of their catastrophic hurricane losses. Each fiscal year, $10 million of the 
FHCF must go toward hurricane mitigation purposes through FDEM for the Hurricane Loss 
Mitigation Program which includes the Residential Construction Mitigation Program (RCMP) 
and the Hurricane Shelter Retrofit Program.  
 
The Shelter Retrofit Program makes grants available to retrofit schools to serve as hurricane 
evacuation shelters. Eligible applicants include local governments and school boards. Money is 
made available each year and must be spent in the following two years. Projects must be 
included in the county’s annual shelter report and are prioritized for funding by the state based 
upon the regional shelter space deficit. Grants are for a maximum of $300,000 and can be used to 
replace windows and doors, install shutters, retrofit roofs, and more. There is no cost share to 
applicants who are awarded grant funds.  

5.3.2b Residential	Construction	Mitigation	Program	(RCMP)	
The RCMP is a state-funded program administered by FDEM and available annually to local 
governments, non-profits and for-profit businesses to retrofit residential structures to better 
withstand hurricane-force winds. Once applicants are awarded, structures are then selected by the 
sub-grantee to be retrofitted. Under this program homes that are eligible to be retrofitted must be 
single family, site-built homes built before 2002 with no unpermitted work, no outstanding liens 
or judgments, and must be the owner’s primary residence. Preference is given to homeowners 



5-10 
 

who qualify as low to moderate income under the federal Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) limits. Projects are completely funded by the RCMP; there is no cost share 
to homeowners.  

5.3.2c Florida	Communities	Trust	(FCT)	Fund	
This program works through the Florida Forever Grant Program to assist communities in 
protecting important natural resources, providing recreational opportunities, and preserving 
Florida’s traditional working waterfronts. These local land acquisition grant programs provide 
funding to local governments and eligible non-profit organizations to acquire land for parks, 
open space, greenways and projects supporting Florida's seafood harvesting and aquaculture 
industries. 

5.3.2d Coastal	Partnership	Initiative	Grant	Program	
This program works to make federal funds available to Florida’s coastal counties to promote the 
protection and effective management of Florida’s coastal resources. This is aimed specifically at 
four priority areas including; creating resilient communities and helping mitigate against the 
effects of climate change and natural disasters, coastal resource stewardship, access to coastal 
resources, and working waterfronts. Local governments can apply and partner with Florida’s 
public colleges, universities, regional planning councils, national estuary programs, and 
nonprofit groups. 

5.3.2e Small	Cities	Community	Development	Block	Grant	Program	(CDBG)	
This program provides funding for housing and community development activities including 
mitigation measures such as water and sewer improvements, rehabilitation of substandard 
housing, drainage and stormwater improvements, and community centers. Each activity must 
meet one of the following national objectives for the program: benefit low- and moderate-income 
persons, prevention or elimination of slums or blight, or address community development needs 
having a particular urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to 
the health or welfare of the community for which other funding is not available. Local 
governments are eligible to apply for the Small Cities CDBG if they have fewer than 50,000 
residents, counties with fewer than 200,000 residents, or cities that have opted out of the urban 
entitlement program. 

5.3.2f Community	Development	Block	Grant‐Disaster	Recovery	(CDBG‐DR)		
In response to presidentially declared disasters, Congress may appropriate additional funding for 
the CDBG program as Disaster Recovery grants to rebuild the affected areas and provide crucial 
seed money to start the recovery process. Since CDBG-DR assistance may fund a broad range of 
recovery activities, HUD can help communities and neighborhoods that otherwise might not 
recover due to limited resources. Disaster Recovery grants often supplement disaster programs of 
FEMA, the Small Business Administration, and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  
 
CDBG-DR funds have similar requirements to the CDBG Small Cities program in that they must 
also meet the national objectives of the program. CDBG-DR funds can assist with mitigation 
projects such as buying damaged homes in the floodplain and relocating residents to a safer area, 
rehabilitation of homes and buildings damaged by the disaster, or buying, constructing, or 
rehabilitating public facilities such as streets, neighborhood centers, and water, sewer and 
drainage systems. 



5-11 
 

5.3.2g Weatherization	Assistance	Program	(WAP)	
The WAP annually provides grant funds to community action agencies, local governments, 
Indian tribes and non-profit agencies to provide specific program services for low-income 
families of Florida. The U.S. Department of Energy Weatherization Assistance Program provides 
grants to states, territories, and Indian tribes to improve the energy efficiency of the homes of 
low-income families. Funding goes towards home energy upgrades that create a safe, efficient, 
and durable home. The program is funded each year by the United States Department of Energy 
and receives supplemental funding from the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services. The extent of services to be provided depends on available funding. The Northeast 
Florida Community Action Agency is responsible for administering funds in Flagler County. 

5.3.2h St.	Johns	River	Water	Management	District	Cost‐Share	Funding	Program	
The St. Johns River Water Management District Cost-share Funding program allows local 
governments and other entities to share costs for projects that assist in creating sustainable water 
resources, provide flood protection and enhance conservation efforts. The District will select 
projects that it determines provide the most beneficial water resource results. 

5.3.2i Recreation	Development	Assistance	Program	(FRDAP)	
The Florida Recreation Development Assistance Program is a grant program administered by the 
Florida Department of Environmental Protection that provides financial assistance to local 
governments for development or acquisition of land for public outdoor recreational purposes. 
FRDAP could be a potential source of funding used to acquire lands in the floodplain and turn 
them into a recreational area; thus, preventing future loss to structures. All county governments 
and municipalities in Florida and other legally constituted local governmental entities with the 
legal responsibility for the provision of outdoor recreational sites and facilities for the use and 
benefit of the public are eligible to apply.  
 
Applicants must submit a completed FRDAP Grant Application during an announced submission 
period. Applicants may submit up to two applications during the submission period. Applications 
must involve only one project site except for acquisition or development of sandy beach access. 
The maximum grant amount is $200,000 and the amount of matching funds required is 
dependent upon the total project cost, but ranges from 0% cost share up to 50% cost share. 
 

5.3.3 Other	Funding	
Many other funding programs exist that can be applicable to mitigation efforts. Though most 
usually sought after, grants, taxes and government-collect fees are not the only way to fund 
projects.  
 
5.3.3a Florida	Property‐Assessed	Clean	Energy	(PACE)	
The Florida PACE Funding Agency is a way for qualified property owners in subscribed 
communities to finance energy efficiency, renewable energy and wind-hardening improvements 
through a long-term property assessment. In other words, a PACE loan is paid back through the 
property tax bill. PACE differs from a grant in that it is a resource to help fund projects with a 
low interest rate over an agreed upon timeframe, which can be many years long. There is no 
penalty for paying off the loan early. Previous applicants have saved more money each month on 
their energy costs than their monthly loan re-payment amount.  Applicants can be non-profits, 



5-12 

for-profit businesses and individual homeowners. Applications are made to E-Vest Florida at 
https://evestflorida.com/apply-now. More information on PACE can be found at 
https://www.floridapace.gov.   Flagler County is one of Florida’s 14 counties participating in the 
program.  

5.4 Plan	Integration	
Mitigation has the potential to easily integrate into many day-to-day functions and existing plans 
throughout the county, such as the Comprehensive Plan and the Comprehensive Emergency 
Management Plan (CEMP). Other ‘planning mechanisms’ that the mitigation plan can be 
integrated into include policies and procedures. For instance, mitigation can be incorporated 
during the recovery process of Presidentially declared disasters by simply including it when 
filling out a Public Assistance Project Worksheet to repair public facilities or infrastructure. 
Another process for incorporating mitigation would be to provide a policy or procedure for 
homeowner’s associations to incorporate wildfire mitigation activities into their bi-laws.   

One of the strongest ties that exists between two mitigation-related planning mechanisms is the 
one between the LMS and the CEMP. The CEMP must be updated every four years and relies 
heavily on the LMS—the county’s all-hazards risk assessment. As the LMS’s risk assessment is 
updated, it is integrated into the CEMP. On years when the CEMP must be updated prior to the 
5-year update of the LMS, the risk assessment section will be reviewed and updated as necessary 
to meet the needs of the CEMP. The CEMP is adopted by resolution at the county while the 
other participating municipalities adopt it by promulgation; therefore, all municipalities provide 
their consent on this integration. 

Communities participating in the CRS may use the LMS as their official Floodplain 
Management Plan and/or as part of their Flood Warning and Response Plan. Communities that 
utilize the LMS for CRS purposes will have to ensure that the LMS is turned into their ISO CRS 
representative for review and scoring once it is adopted. If requirements change under the CRS, 
the LMS may need to be updated. As such, the LMS will be evaluated each time a new CRS 
manual is released in order to ensure participating jurisdictions are integrating the LMS 
appropriately to maximize points. Flagler County, Palm Coast and Flagler Beach use the LMS to 
support their CRS activities. 

When it is time for plans to be updated, each municipality will take the lead in ensuring the LMS 
gets integrated appropriately into the revised plan. At a minimum, the plans being updated will 
be reviewed to ensure they are consistent with the LMS and places will be identified where 
mitigation can play a bigger role. That information will be relayed back to the LMS Coordinator 
so that it can be tracked in the LMS. As a part of the 2016 update, a review was conducted of 
each municipality’s Comprehensive Plan (Comp Plan). Policies related to mitigation 
were extracted and placed in a table in Appendix H- Policy Evaluation. It was discovered 
that there is ample room for in each of the Comp Plans to integrate mitigation concepts in 
the future. Between Comp Plan updates, mitigation will continue to be promoted at the local 
level through other policies, goals and objectives, both new and existing. 



5-13 

Potential plans and planning mechanisms that the LMS can be integrated with include: 
 Municipal Comprehensive Plans
 Floodplain Management Plans
 Flood Warning and Response Plans (CRS Section 610)
 Community Wildfire Protection Plans
 CEMPs
 Post-Disaster Redevelopment Plans (PDRPs)
 Municipal ordinances
 Land development regulations
 Floodplain ordinances
 Strategic Plans
 Capital Improvement Plans
 Hazard Specific Plans

Previously, the LMS was integrated with the CEMP via the risk assessment section. A summary 
table from the LMS was included into the CEMP and it was stated in the CEMP that the county’s 
complete risk assessment can be found in the LMS. Also, the cities of Palm Coast and Flagler 
Beach used the LMS to gain points under section 510 of the CRS program. Flagler County and 
the City of Flagler Beach used the LMS to help get points with section 610 of the CRS program. 
Palm Coast will be using the 2016 LMS to assist them with obtaining points in section 610 at 
their next ISO review. 

5.5 Plan	Implementation	and	Maintenance		
The implementation and monitoring process was discussed at length and agreed upon by the 
Strategy Sub-group. All decisions were agreed upon in consensus and documented for 
implementation into the LMS. The plan will be formally evaluated annually by the LMS 
Working Group in order to assess goals and objectives, if the magnitude of any risks has 
changed, if there are any updates on current resources appropriate for implementing the plan and 
projects, and it will be checked to see if any technical, political, or legal issues may have arisen 
that could affect implementation. If anything major occurs throughout the year, the Flagler 
County Mitigation Planner will be responsible for updating the plan, as necessary, and informing 
the LMS Working Group.  

Quarterly meetings will take place to continually share information regarding projects status, 
plan implementation and new or revised relevant mitigation information. These meetings will 
include updates from each jurisdiction and will allow for the LMS to continue as a living 
document. All information will continue to be posted on the Flagler County mitigation website 
and meetings will be publicly noticed on the county website and posted in the lobby of the 
Government Services Building. Any member of the LMS Working Group can request to have a 
meeting outside of the regularly scheduled quarterly meetings if he or she desires.  

Each participating jurisdiction is responsible for implementing the mitigation actions within this 
plan. The Flagler County Emergency Management Division will continue to seek out funding 
opportunities to implement identified mitigation projects. In an event that there is a presidential 
disaster declaration, a LMS meeting will be scheduled shortly thereafter to discuss which 



5-14 
 

project(s) should be submitted to the state for funding. The project(s) will be chosen based on the 
priority rank score but will be dependent upon the amount of money available.  
 
In order to maximize the potential of the LMS it is important for the plan to remain fluid. As 
such, the plan must be reviewed periodically and updated to reflect changing needs and 
conditions within the county. According to F.A.C 27P-22, each county must submit annually, by 
the last working day in January, an updated project list, proof that the LMS Working Group met 
at least once during the year, a copy of the LMS Working Group roster along with contact 
information for the Chair/Coordinator and Vice Chair, as well as any major revisions to the list 
of critical facilities, risk assessment, or repetitive loss list.  
 
For the purposes of the Community Rating System (CRS), an annual progress report will be 
prepared each September by each of the participating communities. The report must include a 
review of each action item, an explanation of what was implemented or not, recommended 
changes to the action plan, copies of committee meeting minutes and a description of how the 
report was submitted to the governing body, released to the media and made available to the 
public. The progress report must also be sent to the state National Flood Insurance Plan (NFIP) 
office and the CRS ISO point of contact by October 1st. Each community’s CRS Coordinator is 
responsible for coordinating the annual progress report which will be shared with the LMS 
Working Group before finalized.  
 
The plan will be comprehensively updated every five years, as directed by FEMA and the state 
of Florida. The five-year update will consist of a full review of the current document and will 
involve all participating jurisdictions, interested parties and members of the public. This review 
will involve a comprehensive assessment of all portions of the plan and the success of addressing 
all current problems. The Planning Sub-group will conduct an initial assessment before gaining 
input and approval by the Strategy Sub-group and the entire Working Group. During the update 
process, the LMS Working Group shall meet as often as necessary to ensure all entities and 
interested parties have an opportunity to provide input.  
 
The update will begin approximately 18-months prior to expiration. All meetings will continue to 
be publicly posted on the web and on the county bulletin board. LMS Working Group members 
will receive email notifications and will be asked to contribute to portions of the plan that 
directly affect their jurisdiction. In addition, they will be asked to review and contribute to 
portions of the plan that affect all participating jurisdictions. The plan will be submitted to the 
state mitigation planning unit approximately six months prior to expiration so that the review and 
adoption processes can be conducted before the plan is set to expire. The plan will be posted 
online for public comment at all times. The Flagler County Emergency Management’s 
Mitigation Planner will be responsible for ensuring the five-year update is completed in a timely 
fashion. 
 
 
 



Bike MS Cycle to the Shore  March 30,2021 
Bike ride fundraiser for Multiple Sclerosis  $500 fee pd CC# 
National MS Society 
Oct 23-24, 2021    5AM-5PM 

Preston Steblein     Promoter Line, Inc 
Colleyville Texas 

817.909.0549 

preston@promoterline.com 

amplified music/PA system 

route/event signs to direct attendants 

several tents 

light towers and tent lights 

portolets/handicap accessible 

parking attendants/FCSO/EMS/trained 1st responders 
no vendors, but food & merchandise/alcohol served – possible beer garden? 
Site plan attached  safety plan attached     no property letter needed 
Does this affect the Salt Air Farmers Market on Sunday 10/24/21? Located in the southwest 
corner of the property/ SA FM is in the northeast corner 

All food and drink will be free to participants, staff, and volunteers. Due to covid these meals and drinks 
will likely be pre packaged to limit any concerns for staff or participants. 

The beer will be free to participants as well and will be managed by my team along with the brewery 
that donates the beer. Their licensed staff will manage the two beers per person policy and the ID 
checking. 

mailto:preston@promoterline.com


Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

1 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

2 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

3 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

4 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

5 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

6 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

7 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

8 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

9 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

10 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

11 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

12 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

13 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

14 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



Town of Marineland Special Event Permit Application https://docs.google.com/forms/u/0/d/1xHGZogF-j8hO2FtrlAm5IOKn2G...

15 of 15 4/12/2021, 8:59 PM



LAST EDITED 11-6-19

DAY 1 - REST STOP 3 - 36 & 59 MILE START LINE
DAY 2 - REST STOP 3 - 36 MILE FINISH LINE - LUNCH

MARINELAND
9601 N. OCEANSHORE BLVD, MARINELAND , FL 32137

RIDE DIRECTION (DAY 1)

RIDE DIRECTION (DAY 2)

1. START/FINISH TRUSS
2. FOOD PREP TENT (10x20)
3. MEDICAL (10x10)
4. BIKE TECH (OWN POP UP)
5. MASSAGE TENT (10x10)
6. GENERATOR
7. PORTALETS 10/2
8. DUMPSTER
9. SHUTTLE BUS
10. LUGGAGE TRUCK
11. REST STOP TRUCK
12. BIKE RACK AREA
13. SOUND TENT (OWN POP UP)
14. LIGHT TOWER
15. HAM OPERATOR (OWN POP UP)
16. SELFIE STATION (5x5)
17. LUNCH & REST STOP TENT (20x40)
18. BOOTY COOLER (10x10 MS TENT)

6

10

11

CLUB K PARKING

14

17

18

13

14

15

STAFF

PARKING

7

RIDE DIRECTION (DAY 1) RIDE DIRECTION (DAY 2)

DAY 1 ENTRY

DAY 2 EXIT

DAY 2 ENTRY

DAY 1 EXIT

SAG & SUPPORT VEHICLE ENTRY

EVENT

AREA

OVERVIEW

POLICE

16

4

3

12

5

14



 

 

2021 Marineland Safety Plan 
Day 1: Rest Stop 4, 36 and 59 Mile Start Line 

Day 2: Rest Stop 3, 36 Mile Finish Line 

 

Parking Safety: To get our participants parked and placed in a controlled and safe manner the National 
MS Society plans to hire professional parking staff. We will have personnel at the entrance to Whitney 
Dr and Marina Dr as well as throughout the grass area where they are parking. 

 

Route Safety: All along the route, the National MS Society is dedicated to safety. We have local city 
police as well as county and state officers placed at important areas to ensure the safety of our 
participants. These officers are also instructed to help with vehicle traffic to minimize the traffic impact 
from our event. We will have an officer on site at Marineland to make sure they get started safely (on 
day 1), can enter/exit throughout both day(s), and are able to finish safely (day 2). 

 

Medical Safety: We will have an ambulance on site and on the route for the duration of each day for 
emergencies and transport as well as a medical tent staffed with trained personnel to assist participants 
with any medical concerns. 

 

See attached site map for reference. 

 

Preston Steblein – Promoter Line, Inc. 

Event Manager / on-site contact 

817-909-0549 / preston@promoterline.com 



Michelle Arnold           Sun & Sea Beach Weddings     

35 Durbin Station Ct Unit 101 St. Johns FL 32259   904-201-9193 

michelle@sunandseabeachweddings.com 

 

Marineland Wedding Request March 16, 2021 

Perret/Lund   River to Sea East/South Beach 
7/14/21     5-7PM     21-99 ppl                   $100 pd CC# on 3.25.21 
acoustic music/violinist 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol/tent 
normal parking 
site plan attached                                                             Approved  
 
 
Edwards/Randolph        River to Sea East/North Beach                March 23, 2021 revised 
5/1/21     5:01-6:01PM     21-99 ppl  $100  pd approved 2/18/21 notified  
amplified music/PA system - speaker near seating                       total $252.12 paid 
10x15 tent (not indicated on site plan)*contacted 2/1/21  
called 2/9/21 within the circle on the beach tent is the cake cutting. 
 plan b is table with cake on boardwalk 
no: restrooms/traffic/ alcohol 
1 hand wash station 
site plan attached 
100 ppl/shuttle-traffic/portolet? 
$150 additional fee  ($100 ck applied/$52.12 pd cc# 3.31) 
Flagler Co. spec event permit/additionally insured                                    approved 
 

 

Vernotzy/Denney    River to Sea East                   March 22, 2021 
7/17/21          5-7PM           21-99 ppl  $100  *should be $50 for small wedding   
pd $100 ck#3296 on 3/30/21 
Only 15 guests, will use normal parking lot 
Small arbor/15 chairs 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol/tent 
normal parking 
site plan attached                                                                 approved           
 
 
 
 

mailto:michelle@sunandseabeachweddings.com


Turner-Cop       River to Sea East                                             March 30, 2021 
9/10/21      4-6:30PM                1-20 ppl  $50 not pd  *should be $50 for small wedding   
Only 8 guests, will use normal parking lot 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol/tent 
normal parking 
site plan attached                                                                 approved          
 
 
 Bronson – Weaver      River to Sea East                                             March 31, 2021 
12/18/21      4-6PM                21-99 ppl $100   not pd 
 Small arbor/50 chairs 
Acoustic music/guitarist 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol/tent 
normal parking 
site plan attached                                                                 approved      
  
 
 Winders – Hunter              River to Sea East                              April 5, 2021 
 8/12/21     4:30-7PM         1-20 ppl     $50 not pd   
 will use normal parking lot 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol? /tent 
no site plan attached                                                   approved   
 
 
 
Chavies – Smith                  River to Sea East                              April 6, 2021 
 4/20/21     3:30-5PM         1-20 ppl     $50 not pd   
 will use normal parking lot 
no: signs/restrooms/traffic/ alcohol? /tent 
no site plan attached                                                   approved   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Phone: (386) 232-8060 
mayor.marineland@gmail.com 

9507 N. Oceanshore Blvd., 
St. Augustine, FL 32080 

2020-2021  
Town Meeting Schedule 

Thursday October 15, 2020 
Thursday November 19, 2020 
Thursday December 17, 2020 

Thursday January 21, 2021 
Thursday February 18, 2021 
Thursday March 18, 2021

Special Meeting 5:30pm Wednesday March 24, 2021 
Thursday April 15, 2021 
Thursday May 20, 2021 
Thursday June 17, 2021 
Thursday July 15, 2021 

Thursday August 19, 2021 
Thursday September 16, 2021 

All meetings take place at 6pm in the main conference room at the  Town of Marineland 
Coastal Policy Center located at 9601 N Ocean Shore Blvd, Marineland, Fl 32080 


	April 2021 Town Meeting Agenda
	6.a.i - March 18 2021 ToM Minutes
	6.a.ii - March 2021 Town Special Meeting Minutes
	6.b.i - FPL 2459 3.30.2021
	6.b.ii - FPL 6138 3.30.2021
	6.b.iii - FPL 6527 3.30.2021
	6.c.i - Inv 2387
	6.c.ii - Inv 2388
	6.c.iii - Invoice_7021_from_Storehouse_Treasures_LLC
	6.c.iv - Suzanne Wedding Invoice 3.2021
	6.c.v - SD Reimburse 2
	6.c.vi. - SD Reimburse 3
	6.d - 2021_05_01 ICB Qtrly Loan Pmt
	6.e - Inv #454 Details 2.28.2021
	7.a.i - 2021_03 March Receipts
	7.a.ii - 2021_03_31 AP Aging
	7.a.iii - 2021_03_31 AR Aging
	7.a.iv - 2021_03_31 Balance Sheet
	7.a.v - 2021_03_31 P&L YTD Act vs Bud
	7.a.vi - 2021_03_31 P&L YTD by Month
	7.a.vii - LBTRs 03 & 04 2021
	7.a.viii - Permits Receipts 03 & 04 2021
	8. - LMS Resolution
	LMS Agenda Item 2
	LMS Agenda Item 3

	8..d - LMS Plan Review
	LMS Agenda Item 6
	LMS Agenda Item 7
	LMS Agenda Item 8
	LMS Agenda Item 9
	LMS Agenda Item 10
	LMS Agenda Item 11
	LMS Agenda Item 12
	LMS Agenda Item 13

	8.a - LMS Staff Report
	8.b - FL DEM Letter 1
	LMS Agenda Item 4
	LMS Agenda Item 5

	8.c - FL DEM Letter 2
	8.e. - LMS 2016
	10.a - Bike MS Staff Report
	10.b - Bike MS Application
	10.c - Day 1 - Rest Stop 3 - 36 & 59 Mile MS Site Map
	10.d - 2021 Bike MS Marineland Safety Plan
	11.a.i - Weddings Staff Report April 2021
	14 - 2020-2021 Town Meeting Schedule



